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This is a non-certified translation of the original Arabic version of the Prospectus. This English 
version is provided for convenience only and does not constitute a legal document. Subscribers 
should only rely on the Arabic version of the Prospectus. In the case of any discrepancies or 
omissions, the Arabic version of the Prospectus shall prevail. 
 

OFFER TO SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES IN A FREE ZONE COMPANY IN A PUBLIC 
SUBSCRIPTION IN THE UAE ONLY 

 
Prospectus for the Public Offering of Shares in 

 
PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

 
(An Abu Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) Free Zone Public Company Limited by Shares) 

(the “Company”) 
 
 

 
 
 

Dated: 8 March 2023 
 
This is the prospectus (“Prospectus”) for the issuance and offer by the Company of 1,359,680,000 
Offer Shares with a nominal value of USD 0.027 (being equivalent to AED 0.1) each, which will 
represent 24.24% of the total issued shares of the Company as of the Listing date in a public 
subscription in the United Arab Emirates (the “UAE”) only. The Company reserves the right to 
amend the size of the Offering at any time prior to the end of the subscription period at their sole 
discretion, taking into account the percentages specified for each tranche in this Prospectus, subject 
to the applicable laws and the approval of the UAE Securities and Commodities Authority (“SCA” 
or “Authority”). The offer price per share will be AED 1.34 (the “Offer Price”) and the total value of 
the Offer Shares will be AED1,821,971,200.00. The Offer Shares will be duly and validly issued as 
at the date of listing of the Offer Shares (the “Listing”) on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (the 
“ADX”). 
 
Except in the UAE only, no action has been taken or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit 
a public subscription of the Offer Shares pursuant to this Prospectus or the possession, circulation 
or distribution of this Prospectus. Accordingly, the Offer Shares may not be offered or sold, directly 
or indirectly, nor may this Prospectus or any other offering material or advertisement or other 
document or information in connection with the Offer Shares be distributed or published, in or from 
any jurisdiction except in compliance with any applicable rules and regulations of any such 
jurisdiction. 
 
The Company is not subject to UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 concerning Commercial 
Companies. The SCA is not responsible for the content of this Prospectus or the information 
contained herein. The Company is subject to the ADGM Companies Regulations 2020 (as 
amended) (“Companies Regulations”) and other applicable law and regulation in the ADGM. The 
ADGM Registration Authority is responsible for the supervision and regulation of all public 
companies incorporated in the ADGM, including the Company, in relation to compliance with the 
Companies Regulations. 
 
Investment in the Offer Shares involves a high degree of risk. Prospective Subscribers 
should carefully read the “Investment Risks” and the “Important Notice” sections of this 
Prospectus to inform themselves about factors that should be considered before investing 
in the Offer Shares.  
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Offer Period 
 

The Offer Period starts on 13 March 2023 and will close on 17 March 2023. 
 
If all of the Offer Shares are subscribed for and allocated and the Offer size is not increased, the 
Offer Shares will represent 24.24% of the total issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
(the “Shares”) as of the Listing date. The Company, subject to obtaining the requisite corporate 
approvals, reserves the right to amend the size of the Offering at any time prior to the end of the 
subscription period at their sole discretion, subject to applicable laws and the approval of the SCA. 
Prior to this Offering, the Shares have not been listed on any financial market and there has been 
no public market for the Shares. Following the closing of the Offer Period and accepting the 
subscription for Shares, the Company will apply to list its Shares on the ADX. 
 
Date of SCA’s approval of publishing this Prospectus: 03 March 2023. 
 
This Prospectus contains data that has been submitted in accordance with the rules for issuance 
and disclosure issued by the SCA in the UAE and this Prospectus has been approved by the SCA. 
However, the SCA’s approval of the prospectus does not constitute an endorsement of the 
feasibility of investment nor a recommendation to subscribe for the Offer Shares; the approval only 
means that this Prospectus contains the minimum information required in accordance with the 
applicable rules issued by the SCA with respect to the Prospectus. The SCA is not responsible for 
the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the information contained in this Prospectus and the 
SCA does not bear any responsibility for any damages or losses incurred by any person as a result 
of relying on this Prospectus or any part of it. The members of the Company’s Board of Directors, 
jointly and severally, bear full responsibility regarding the validity of the information and data 
contained in this Prospectus, and they confirm, to the extent of their knowledge and belief, and 
subject to due diligence and after conducting reasonable studies, that there are no other facts or 
material information, which were not included in this Prospectus that render any statement 
contained herein misleading to the Subscribers or influencing their decision to invest. 
 
 

Method of sale of the Offer Shares in a public subscription: 
 
The Offer Shares are 1,359,680,000 (one billion three hundred fifty-nine million six hundred eighty 
thousand) Shares, which will be offered by the Company in a public offering by way of capital 
increase. The Company, subject to obtaining the requisite corporate approvals, reserves the right 
to amend the size of the Offering at any time prior to the end of the subscription period at its sole 
discretion, subject to applicable laws and the SCA’s approval. 
 
The Lead Receiving Bank commits to refund the oversubscription amounts received from 
Subscribers for the Offering and any accrued profit arising therefrom (calculated for the period 
starting one day following the Closing Date until one day prior to the refund to Subscribers), provided 
that the refund is made within five working days from the date on which all allocations of Offer 
Shares to successful Subscribers is determined. 
 
The founders of the Company, whether directly or indirectly or through their Subsidiaries, may not 
subscribe for any Offer Shares. 
 
Listing Advisor 
 
BHM Capital Financial Services PSC has been appointed to be the Listing Advisor of the 
Company (in accordance with the requirements for that role as described in Article 33(2)(14) of the 
Offering Regulations) for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of Listing. 
 
A list of further definitions and abbreviations is provided in the “Definitions and Abbreviations” 
Section of this Prospectus. 
  



 

 3/73  
 

Offer 
 
A. Retail Subscribers 
 
Retail Offer Shares.  The Company allocated 98,151,900 (ninety-eight million one hundred and 
fifty-one thousand nine hundred) Shares, representing 7.219% of the Offer Shares, to Retail 
Subscribers (as defined below).  
 
Minors are permitted to apply for Offer Shares in accordance with the procedures applied by the 
Lead Receiving Bank and the laws in force in this regard.  
 
All Retail Subscribers must hold a NIN with the ADX. 
 
If all Retail Offer Shares are not fully subscribed, the unsubscribed Retail Offer Shares will be made 
available to Professional Subscribers, or alternatively (in consultation with the SCA) the Company, 
subject to obtaining the requisite corporate approvals, may accept the Offering at the level of 
applications received. 
 
The Minimum Application Size for Retail Subscribers is AED 5,000 with any additional application 
in increments of AED 1,000. 
 
There is no Maximum Application Size for Retail Subscribers. 
 
 
B. Professional Subscribers 
 
Professional Offer Shares.  The Company allocated 1,261,528,100 (one billion two hundred and 
sixty-one million five hundred and twenty-eight thousand and one hundred) Shares, representing 
92.781% of the Offer Shares, to Professional Subscribers. All Professional Subscribers must hold 
a NIN with the ADX. 
 
If all of the Professional Offer Shares are not fully subscribed, the Offer will be withdrawn. 
 
The Minimum Application Size for the Professional Subscribers is AED 1,000,000. 
 
There is no Maximum Application Size for Professional Subscribers. 
 
Every Subscriber must hold a NIN with ADX and a bank account number in order to be eligible to 
apply for Offer Shares.  
 
 

 
 

This Prospectus is available on the website of the Company at: www.presight.ai/ipo 
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Name and Contact Details of the Offer Participants 
 

Lead Receiving Bank 
First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC 

FAB Building  
Khalifa Business Park, Al Qurm District 

PO Box 6316 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 

The list of the Lead Receiving Bank’s branches attached in Annex 3 of this Prospectus 

 
 

Lead Manager 
Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC 
DIB Head Office Building 

Al Maktoum Street 

Deira 

PO Box 1080 

Dubai, United Arab Emirates 

 

 
Lead Placement Agent 

International Securities LLC  
Al Bateen Towers, C2, 13th Floor 

PO Box 107077 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
 
 

IPO Legal Counsel 
Hadef & Partners LLC 

12th Floor, The Blue Towers, Khalifa Street, 

P.O. Box 3727  

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 

 
 

Listing Advisor 
BHM Capital Financial Services PSC 
49 Floor, Vision Tower, Business Bay 

PO Box 26730 

Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
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Reporting Accountants 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) LLP 
 

11th Floor, Al Sila Tower 

P.O. Box 990 
Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Mariyah Island 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 

 

 

Legal Adviser to the Lead Manager 
Al Tamimi & Company 

Al Sila Tower, 26th Floor, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island 
P.O. Box 44046 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
 

 

IPO Subscription Auditors 
Ernst & Young Middle East (Abu Dhabi Branch) 

26th Floor, Nation Tower 2, Corniche 

P.O. Box 136 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 

 
 

Investor Relations Officer 
Mr. Gordon Liu 

T : +971 2 491 1339 

Email : investors@presight.ai 

Company website : www.presight.ai 

 

 
This Prospectus is dated 8 March 2023. 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 
 

(To be carefully read by all Subscribers) 
 
• This Prospectus is intended to provide the potential Subscribers with information to assist in 

deciding whether or not to subscribe for Offer Shares. Potential Subscribers should read this 
document in its entirety, and carefully review, examine and consider all data and information 
contained in it (and, in particular Sub-section 9 of the Second Section, (“Investment 
Risks”)), the Third Section – (“Financial Disclosures”) and the Articles of Association of 
the Company), when considering making an investment in the Company and before 
deciding whether or not to subscribe for Offer Shares. 

 
• In making an investment decision, potential Subscribers must rely on their own 

examination, analysis and enquiry of the Company and the terms of the Offer, including the 
merits and risks involved and obtain any necessary advice from their legal and financial 
advisors regarding the investment. An investment in the Offer Shares entails considerable 
risks. Potential Subscribers should not subscribe for the Offer Shares unless they are able 
to bear the loss of some or all of that investment. 

 
• Recipients of this Prospectus are authorized solely to use this Prospectus for the purpose 

of considering the subscription for the Offer Shares, and may not reproduce or distribute 
this Prospectus, in whole or in part, and may not use any information herein for any purpose 
other than considering whether or not to subscribe for Offer Shares. Recipients of this 
Prospectus agree to the foregoing by accepting delivery of this Prospectus. 

 
• The contents of this Prospectus should not be construed as legal, financial or tax advice. 
 
• The information contained in this Prospectus shall not be subject to revision or addition 

without securing the approval of the Authority and informing the public of such revision or 
addition by publication in two daily newspapers in accordance with the rules issued by the 
Authority. The Company, subject to obtaining the requisite corporate approvals, reserves 
the right to cancel the Offering at any time and at its sole discretion with the prior written 
approval of the SCA. 

 
• The Offer Shares are being offered under this Prospectus for the purpose of subscription 

in the UAE only. This Prospectus does not constitute or form part of any offer or invitation 
to sell or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase or subscribe for, any securities 
other than the Offer Shares or any offer or invitation to sell or issue, or any solicitation of 
any offer to purchase or subscribe for, Offer Shares by any person in any jurisdiction outside 
of the UAE (including the ADGM and the DIFC). 

 
• This Prospectus is not being published or distributed, and must not be forwarded or 

transmitted, in or into or to any jurisdiction outside the UAE (including the ADGM and the 
DIFC). The Offer Shares have not been registered with any regulatory authority in any 
jurisdiction other than the UAE. 

 
• If the Offer Shares are offered in another jurisdiction, the Company shall offer the Offer 

Shares in a manner that is compliant with the applicable laws and rules and acceptable to 
the relevant authorities in the relevant jurisdiction. 

 
• This Prospectus is not intended to constitute a financial promotion, offer, sale or delivery of 

shares or other securities under the FSRA Markets Rules or the DIFC Markets Law or under 
the DIFC Markets Rules. 

 
• The Offer has not been approved or licensed by the FSRA or DFSA and does not constitute 

an offer of securities in the ADGM in accordance with the FSRA Markets Rules or in the 
DIFC in accordance with the DIFC Markets Law or the DIFC Markets Rules. 

 
• The publication of this Prospectus has been approved by the SCA. The SCA’s approval of 
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the publication of this Prospectus shall neither be deemed as an endorsement or approval 
of the subscription feasibility nor a recommendation of investment, but it means only that 
the minimum requirements according to the issuance rules and information disclosure 
applicable to the prospectus and issued by the SCA have been met. The SCA and the ADX 
shall not be held liable for the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the information 
contained in this Prospectus, nor shall they be held liable for any damage or loss suffered 
by any person due to reliance upon this Prospectus or any part thereof. 

 
• The approval of the Authority has been obtained for publication of the prospectus for the 

sale of the Offer Shares in a public subscription in the UAE (outside the ADGM and the 
DIFC). Other than in the ADGM, the Shares have not been registered with any other 
regulatory authority in any other jurisdiction. 
 

 
The publication of this Prospectus was approved by the SCA on 03 March 2023 
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Historical financial information 
 
The Company’s consolidated audited financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 
2022 and 31 December 2021 (“Audited Financial Statements”) have been included in this 
Prospectus. The Audited Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and applicable provisions of the Companies Regulations.  
 
 
Currency presentation 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this document to: 
 
• “UAE dirham” or “AED” are to the lawful currency of the United Arab Emirates; and 
 
• “US dollar” or “USD” are to the lawful currency of the United States of America. 
 
The value of UAE dirhams has been pegged to US dollar at a rate of AED 3.6725 per USD 1 since 
1997. All AED/ USD conversions in this Prospectus have been calculated at this rate.  
 
 
Rounding 
 
Certain data in this document, including financial, statistical, and operating information, has been 
rounded. As a result of the rounding, the totals of data presented in this document may vary slightly 
from the actual arithmetic totals of such data. Percentages in tables have been rounded and 
accordingly may not add up to 100%. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in 
this Prospectus speak only as of the date of this document. These forward-looking statements 
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the control of the 
Company and all of which are based on current beliefs and expectations about future events. 
Forward-looking statements are sometimes identified by the use of forward-looking terminology 
such as “believe”, “expects”, “may”, “will”, “could”, “should”, “shall”, “risk”, “intends”, “estimates”, 
“aims”, “plans”, “predicts”, “continues”, “assumes”, “positioned” or “anticipates” or the negative 
thereof, other variations thereon or comparable terminology. These forward- looking statements 
include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this 
Prospectus and include statements regarding intentions, beliefs and current expectations 
concerning, among other things, results of operations, financial standing, liquidity, prospects, 
growth, strategies, and dividend policy and the industry in which the Company operates. 
 
These forward-looking statements and other statements contained in this Prospectus regarding 
matters that are not historical facts as of the date of this Prospectus involve predictions. No 
assurance can be given that such future results will be achieved. There is no obligation or 
undertaking to update these forward-looking statements contained in this document to reflect any 
change in the expectations or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on which such 
statements are based unless required to do so: (i) as a result of an important change with respect to 
a material point in this Prospectus; or (ii) by applicable laws of the UAE.  
 
Actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks and uncertainties that the Company 
faces. Such risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to vary materially from the future 
results indicated, expressed, or implied in such forward-looking statements. Please refer to Section 
9 (“Investment Risks”) for further information. 
 
The Company, the Lead Manager and other advisors expressly disclaim any obligation or 
undertaking to update these forward-looking statements contained in the Prospectus to reflect any 
change in their expectations or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which such 
statements are based unless required to do so by applicable law.  
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
 
Scope.  This Prospectus does not constitute or form part of any offer or invitation to sell or issue, or 
any solicitation of any offer to purchase or subscribe for, any securities other than the securities to 
which it relates or any offer or invitation to sell or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase 
or subscribe for, such securities by any person in any circumstances in which such offer or 
solicitation is unlawful. 
 
Prior to making any decision as to whether to invest in the Offer Shares, prospective Subscribers 
should read this Prospectus in its entirety (and, in particular, the section headed “Investment Risks”) 
as well as the Articles of Association of the Company. In making an investment decision, each 
Subscriber must rely on its own examination, analysis and enquiry of the Company and the terms 
of the Offering, including the merits and risks involved. 
 
Exclusive Reliance on Prospectus.  No person is authorized to give any information or to make 
any representation or warranty in connection with the Offer or Offer Shares which is not contained 
in this Prospectus and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied on 
as having been so authorized by the Company, the Lead Manager or the Offer Participants. By 
subscribing for Offer Shares, a Subscriber acknowledges that (i) it has relied only on the information 
in this Prospectus and (ii) no other information has been authorized by the Company, any Offer 
Participant, the Lead Manager or any of the Company’s advisors (the “Advisors”). 
 
No Reliance on Websites. Neither the content of the Company’s website or any other website 
referred to in the Prospectus, nor the content of any website accessible from hyperlinks on any of 
such websites, forms part of, or is incorporated into, this Prospectus, and neither the Company, any 
Offer Participant, nor the Advisors bear or accept any responsibility for the contents of such websites. 
 
No Liability for Media Reports.  None of the Company, the Offer Participants, the Lead Manager 
or the Advisors accept any liability for the accuracy or completeness of any information reported by 
the press or other media, nor the fairness or appropriateness of any forecasts, views or opinions 
expressed by the press or other media regarding the Company, the Offer or the Offer Shares. None 
of the Company, the Offer Participants, the Lead Manager, or the Advisors make any representation 
as to the appropriateness, accuracy, completeness or reliability of any such information or 
publication. 
 
No Guaranteed Returns.  None of the Company, any of the Offer Participants, the Lead Manager, 
or the Advisors warrant or guarantee the future performance of the Company, or any return on any 
investment made pursuant to this Prospectus. 
 
Changed Conditions.  Statements contained in this Prospectus are made as at the date of this 
Prospectus unless some prior time is specified in relation to them and the publication of this 
Prospectus (or any action taken pursuant to it) must not be interpreted as giving rise to any 
implication that there has been no change in the condition, facts or affairs of the Company since 
such date. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any subscription made under it may, under 
any circumstances, be taken to imply that there has been no change in the affairs of the Company 
since the date of this Prospectus or that the information in it is correct as of any subsequent time. 
 
Revision, Withdrawal and Cancellation.  This Prospectus will not be subject to revision, unless 
the prior written approval of the SCA is received. Any revision will become effective only after it 
has been announced in two daily newspapers circulating in the UAE. The Company, subject to 
obtaining the requisite corporate approvals, reserves the right, with the prior approval of the SCA, 
to withdraw the Prospectus and cancel the Offer at any time and in its sole discretion.  
 
Refund.  If the Offer is withdrawn, the subscription amounts will be fully refunded to the Subscribers, 
along with any accrued profits.  
 
Listing Advisor.  BHM Capital Financial Services PSC, has been appointed as listing advisor 
(“Listing Advisor”).  
 



 

 11/73  
 

Lead Manager.  Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC has been appointed as the lead manager (the “Lead 
Manager”) and will manage the issuance, marketing and promotion of the Offer Shares in the UAE 
and coordinate with the Company, the SCA and the other Offer Participants with regard to the 
offering of the Offer Shares in the UAE.  
 
Lead Receiving Bank.  First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC has been appointed as the lead receiving bank 
(the “Lead Receiving Bank”) and, in its capacity as such, is responsible for receiving the 
subscription amounts set out in this Prospectus from Retail Investors in accordance with the rules 
and laws applicable in and within the UAE.  
 
Lead Placement Agent. International Securities LLC has been appointed as the lead placement 
agent (“Lead Placement Agent”) to receive subscriptions from Professional Investors. 
 
Liability of Offer Participants.  Each of the Offer Participants shall be liable for its participation in 
the Offering process with regard to the validity of the information contained in this Prospectus within 
the limits of the scope of work and expertise of each Offer Participant. The Offer Participants may 
have engaged (directly or through their respective affiliates) in transactions with, and provided 
various investment banking, financial advisory and other services to the Company, for which they 
would have received customary fees. Any previous transactions between the Offer Participants and 
the Company do not constitute any conflict of interest between them. 
 
Liability of the Lead Manager.  The Lead Manager is acting exclusively for the Company and no 
one else in connection with the Offer and will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient 
of this Prospectus) as a client to any of the Offer Participants in relation to the Offer. 
 
Liability of the Company’s Directors.  The members of the Board of Directors of the Company 
whose names are set out in this Prospectus assume joint and several responsibilities for the 
completeness, accuracy and verification of the contents of this Prospectus. They declare that they 
have carried out appropriate due diligence investigations, that the information contained in this 
Prospectus is, at the date hereof, factually accurate, complete and correct and that there is no 
omission of any information that would make any statement in this Prospectus materially 
misleading. 
 
SCA Rules.  This Prospectus contains data submitted according to the issuance and disclosure 
rules issued by the SCA. 
 
Foreign Jurisdictions.  No action has been taken or will be taken in any jurisdiction other than the 
UAE that would permit a public subscription or sale of the Offer Shares or the possession, circulation 
or distribution of this Prospectus or any other material relating to the Company or the Offer Shares, 
in any country or jurisdiction where any action for that purpose is required. Offer Shares may not 
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this Prospectus or any other offer material or 
advertisement or other document or information in connection with the Offer Shares be distributed 
or published, in or from any country or jurisdiction except in compliance with any applicable rules 
and regulations of any such country or jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus 
comes must inform themselves of and observe all such restrictions. None of the Company, any of 
the Offer Participants, the Lead Manager, or the Advisors accepts any liability for any violation of 
any such restrictions on the sale, offer to sell or solicitation to purchase Offer Shares by any person, 
whether or not a prospective purchaser of Offer Shares in any jurisdiction outside the UAE (including 
the ADGM and the DIFC), and whether such offer or solicitation was made orally or in writing, 
including electronic mail. None of the Company, the other Offer Participants, the Lead Manager or 
the Advisors (or their respective representatives) makes any representation to any potential 
Subscriber regarding the legality of subscribing for Offer Shares by such potential Subscriber under 
the laws applicable to such potential Subscriber. 
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Definitions and Abbreviations 
 

ADGM Abu Dhabi Global Market. 

Financial Statements The Company’s audited financial statements for the years 
ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 which are 
listed in Annex 1.  

ADX Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange.  

AED or UAE Dirham The lawful currency of the United Arab Emirates. 

AI Means artificial intelligence. 

Articles of Association or the Articles The Articles of Association of the Company. 

Authority or SCA The Securities and Commodities Authority of the United 
Arab Emirates. 

Board or Board of Directors The board of directors of the Company. 

Closing Date 17 March 2023 

Companies Regulations ADGM Companies Regulations 2020 (as amended). 

Company Presight AI Holding PLC, a public company limited by shares 
incorporated in the ADGM pursuant to the Companies 
Regulations, having Registered Number 000008980. 

COVID-19 SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19, and any evolutions or variants 
thereof. 

DFSA Dubai Financial Services Authority. 

DIFC Dubai International Financial Centre. 

Directors The Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors of 
the Company. 

Electronic Applications Applications made by the Subscribers via online banking / 
mobile banking / FTS and ATMS.  

Executive Directors The executive Directors of the Company. 

Financial Year The financial year of the Company starts on 1 January and 
ends on 31 December of each year. 

FSMR Regulations Financial Services and Markets Regulations of the ADGM. 

FSRA ADGM Financial Services Regulatory Authority. 

FTS Fund Transfer Mode UAE Central Bank Fund Transfer (“FTS”) mode. 

G42 Group 42 Holding LTD, a private company limited by shares, 
incorporated in ADGM, with registered number 000001430. 

GCC Gulf Cooperation Council countries comprising the United 
Arab Emirates, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Sultanate of Oman, 
State of Qatar, State of Kuwait and Kingdom of Bahrain. 

Group, our, us or we The Company and the Subsidiaries. 
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IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Lead Manager Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC. 

Listing The admission of the Shares to trading on the ADX.  

Listing Advisor BHM Capital Financial Services PSC. 

Lead Placement Agent International Securities LLC, a company authorized to receive 
subscriptions from Professional Investors. 

Lead Receiving Bank First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC. 

Manager’s Cheque Certified bank cheque drawn on a bank licensed and 
operating in the United Arab Emirates. 

Maximum Application Size Maximum investment amount allowed to be considered in the 
subscription process. 

Minimum Application Size Minimum investment amount required to be considered in the 
subscription process. 
 

NIN A national investor number which is a unified investor number 
that a Subscriber must obtain from ADX for the purposes of 
subscription. 

Non-Executive Directors The non-executive Directors of the Company. 

Offer Participants The entities listed on pages 4 and 5 of this Prospectus. 

Offer Period The period starting on the Opening Date and ending on the 
Closing Date, during which Offer Shares are being offered in 
a public subscription. 

Offer Price  Means AED 1.34 (One Dirham and Thirty-Four Fils).  

Offer Shares 1,359,680,000 new shares issued by the Company in a public 
subscription. The Company reserves the right to amend the 
number of Offer Shares at any time prior to the end of the Offer 
Period at its sole discretion, subject to applicable laws and the 
SCA’s approval. 

Offering or Offer The offer and sale of the Offer Shares by the Company to the 
public. The Company reserves the right to amend the size of 
the Offering at any time prior to the end of the subscription 
period at its sole discretion, subject to applicable laws and the 
SCA’s approval. 

Offering Regulations SCA Board of Directors’ Chairman Resolution No. (11/R.M) of 
2016 on the Regulations for Issuing and Offering Shares of 
Public Joint Stock Companies, (as amended). 

Opening Date 13 March 2023 

Professional Investor The definition set out in the SCA Board of Directors’ Chairman 
Decision No. 13/R.M of 2021 (as amended), shall apply. This 
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specifically includes investors which can be categorized in the 
following manner: 

 
• “Deemed Professional Investors” which include: 

 
a. international corporations and organizations whose 

members are state, central banks or national 
monetary authorities; 
 

b. governments, government institutions, their 
investment and non-investment bodies and 
companies wholly owned by them; 
 

c. central banks or national monetary authorities in any 
country, state or legal authority; 

 
d. capital market institutions licensed by the SCA or 

regulated by a regulatory authority equivalent to the 
SCA; 

 
e. financial institutions; 

 
f. regulated financial institutions, local or foreign mutual 

investment funds, regulated pension fund 
management companies and regulated pension 
funds; 

 
g. any entity whose main activity represents investment 

in financial instruments, asset securitization or 
financial transactions; 

 
h. any company whose shares are listed or admitted to 

trading in any market of an IOSCO member country; 
 

i. a trustee of a trust which has, during the past 12 
months, assets of AED 35,000,000 or more; 

 
j. licensed family offices with assets of AED 15,000,000 

or more; 
 

k. joint ventures and associations which have or had, at 
any time during the past two years, net assets of AED 
25,000,000 or more (excluding partner and 
shareholder loans); 

 
l. a body corporate who fulfils (on the date of its last 

financial statements) a “large undertaking” test, 
whereby it fulfils at least two of the following 
requirements: 
 

(i) holds total assets of AED 75,000,000 or more 
(excluding short-term liabilities and long-term 
liabilities); 

 
(ii) has a net annual revenue of AED 150,000,000 or 

more; or 
 
(iii) an aggregate total of cash and investments on its 

balance sheet; or its total equity (after deducting paid 
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up share capital), is not less than AED 7,000,000. 
 

• “Assessed Professional Investors” which include: 
 

a. a natural person who owns net assets, excluding the 
value of his/her main residence, of not less than AED 
4,000,000 (a “HNWI”); 
 

b. a natural person who is: 
 

(i) approved by the SCA or a similar regulatory authority; 
 
(ii) an employee of a licensed entity or a regulated 

financial institution who has been employed for the 
past two years; 

 
(iii) assessed to have sufficient knowledge and 

experience in respect of the relevant investments and 
their risks (following a suitability assessment); or 

 
(iv) represented by an entity licensed by the SCA; 

 
c. a natural person (the “account participant”) with a 

joint account for investment management with a 
HNWI (the “main account holder”), provided that 
each of the following conditions are satisfied: 
 

(i) the account participant must be an immediate or 
second degree relative of the main account holder; 
 

(ii) the account is used to manage the investments of the 
main account holder and their subscribers; and 

 
(iii) written confirmation is obtained from the subscriber 

(i.e. the account participant) confirming that 
investment decisions relating to the joint investment 
account are made on their behalf by the main account 
holder; 
 

d. special purpose vehicles and trusts established 
for the purpose of managing an investment 
portfolio of assets for a HNWI; and 
 

e. an undertaking which satisfies the following 
requirements: 
 

(i) an aggregate total of cash and investments on its 
balance sheet; or its total equity (after deducting paid 
up share capital), is not less than AED 4,000,000; 
 

(ii) is assessed to have sufficient knowledge and 
experience in respect of the relevant investments and 
their risks (following a suitability assessment); or 

 
(iii) it has a controller (e.g. a person controlling the 

majority of the shares or voting rights in the relevant 
undertaking or possesses the ability to appoint or 
remove the majority of the relevant undertaking’s 
board of directors); or 
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(iv) a holding or subsidiary company; or 

 
(v) a joint venture partner that meets the definition of a 

Deemed Professional Investor or an Assessed 
Professional Investor. 

 
Professional Offer Shares The part of the Offer Shares that will be offered to Professional 

Subscribers. 
 

Professional Subscribers Professional Investors who subscribe to the Professional Offer 
Shares. 
 

Retail Offer Shares The part of the Offer Shares that will be offered to Retail 
Subscribers. 
 

Retail Subscribers  Natural persons (including natural persons constituting 
Assessed Professional Investors who do not participate in the 
Professional Subscribers Tranche) who have a bank account 
(except for any person who is resident in the United States 
within the meaning of the US Securities Act 1933, as amended 
(the “US Securities Act”)). There is no citizenship or residence 
requirement in order to qualify as an Individual Subscriber. 
 

Shareholder Holder of Shares in the capital of the Company. 

Shares The ordinary shares of the Company with a nominal value 
of USD 0.027 each (equivalent to AED 0.10 each). 

SMS Short Message Service. 

Subscriber A natural or juridical applicant, who applies for subscription in 
the Offer Shares. 

Subsidiaries  Means the following entities which are owned directly or 
indirectly by the Company: 
 
§ Presight AI Ltd. 
§ Analytics AI LLP 
§ G42 Analytics Technology Projects LLC 
§ G42 Sky14 Technology Projects RSC Ltd. 
§ G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC 
§ G42 Smart Nation AI Holding RSC Ltd. 
§ G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects LLC  
§ G42 AS SPV RSC Ltd. 
§ G42 Smart City AI SPV RSC Ltd. 
§ JTO Holding SPV Ltd. 
§ Intellibrain Technological Projects LLC 
§ Assetik Tech Ltd 

 
TAQ Transformative Analytics Quotient, the Company’s data 

analytics and AI platform. 
 

UAE United Arab Emirates. 

UAE Central Bank The central bank of the United Arab Emirates. 
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United States or US The United States of America, its territories and possessions, 
any State of the United States of America, and the District of 
Columbia. 

USD or US dollars The lawful currency of the United States of America. 

VAT Value added tax. 
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First Section: Subscription terms and conditions 
 
Key details of the Offer Shares offered for subscription to the public 
 
• Name of the Company: Presight AI Holding PLC 
 
• Share capital: The share capital of the Company as at the date of this Prospectus has 

been set at USD 115,697,753.57 (being equivalent to 424,900,000 UAE dirhams) divided 
into 4,249,000,000 Shares paid-in-full, with the nominal value of each Share being USD 
0.027 (being equivalent to 0.10 UAE dirhams). Please refer to the “Statement of Capital 
Development” in this Prospectus for further details. 

 
• Percentage, number and type of the Offer Shares: 1,359,680,000 Shares, all of which 

are ordinary shares, all Shares are of the same class and carry equal voting rights and shall 
rank pari passu in all other rights and obligations and which constitute 32% of the share 
capital of the Company before the IPO and which will constitute 24.24% of the Company ’s 
issued share capital based on the total number of Shares in the capital as at the Listing date. 

 
• Offer Price: AED 1.34 AED 
 
• Offer Price Calculation Method:  
 

The Offer price has been set on the basis of various inputs including but not limited to a 
valuation range determined by an independent licensed valuer in the UAE, who is 
accredited by SCA, using the income and market approaches. 

 
• Eligibility of the qualified categories of Subscriber to subscribe for the acquisition 

of the Offer Shares: 
 
- Retail Offer Shares: A portion of the Offer Shares will be offered to Retail 

Subscribers as described on the cover page of this Prospectus and the 
“Definitions and Abbreviations” section of this Prospectus. All Retail Subscribers 
must hold a NIN with ADX and a bank account number. 7.219% of the Offer Shares, 
representing 98,151,900 Shares are allocated to the Retail Subscribers. The 
Company, subject to obtaining the requisite corporate approvals, reserves the right 
to amend the size of the Retail Offer Shares at any time prior to the end of the 
subscription period at its sole discretion, subject to the approval of the SCA. Any 
increase in the size of the Retail Offer Shares will result in a corresponding 
reduction in the size of the Professional Offer Shares, provided that the 
subscription percentage of the Professional Subscribers does not fall below 60% of 
the Offer Shares and the subscription percentage of the Retail Subscribers does not 
exceed 40% of the Offer Shares. 

 
- Professional Offer Shares: The Professional Offer Shares will be offered to 

Professional Subscribers as described in the “Definitions and Abbreviations” 
section of this Prospectus. All Professional Subscribers must hold a NIN with ADX. 
92.781% of the Offer Shares, representing 1,261,528,100 Shares are allocated to 
the Professional Subscribers. 

 
• Public subscription in the Offer Shares is prohibited as follows: Public subscription is 

prohibited to any Subscriber whose investment is restricted by the laws of the jurisdiction 
where the Subscriber resides or by the laws of the jurisdiction to which the Subscriber 
belongs. It is the Subscriber’s responsibility to determine whether the Subscriber’s 
subscription for, and investment in, the Offer Shares conforms to the laws of the applicable 
jurisdiction(s). 

 
• Minimum investment: The minimum subscription for the Retail Offer Shares has been set 

at AED 5,000 with any additional investment to be made in AED 1,000 increments. The 
minimum subscription for the Professional Offer Shares has been set at AED 1,000,000. 
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• Maximum Application Size: No Maximum Application Size. 
 
 
Reasons for the Offering and Use of Offer Proceeds 
 
The Company is seeking to raise capital to enable the successful implementation of its short-term 
and long-term growth strategy and reinforce the Company’s position as a global leader of artificial 
intelligence (“AI”) -powered, Cloud-first, big data analytics. The Company plans to deploy capital 
judiciously and prudently, to drive the following key areas: 
 
Research and Development (R&D) 
As an AI and Big data analytics leader, the Company believes strongly in innovation and new 
product creation. The Company plans to expand existing development activities out of Abu Dhabi, 
UAE and internationally, as well as continue to co-develop new technologies and intellectual 
properties through ongoing analytics platform deployments at various locations.  The Company 
expects to focus its R&D efforts on creating AI big data applications and AI models in the field 
financial services, including inter-alia, auditing platform, anti-money laundering and financial 
investigation tools. Other key focus areas include sports analytics, climate, education and game 
engine technology. Apart from AI applications, emerging open AI areas such as Chat GPT and 
‘deep fake’ detection will also be focus of research given their ever-expanding applications. 

  
Inorganic Growth 
The Company expects to make significant investments in its core focus area of AI and big-data 
analytics with the objective of enhancing its product portfolio and technological capabilities. The 
investment targets are expected to be established technologies that are complimentary to the 
Company’s portfolio and/or proven disruptors. The Company will also continue to evaluate for 
investments opportunities in areas that are adjacent to the core focus areas, and which in its view 
could emerge as key technologies in the long-term.  
 
International Expansion Plans 
The Company expects increasing share of revenue from its international operations, with more than 
half of its revenue from year 2026 onwards is expected to be derived from international contracts. 
The Company expects to make investments to expand our foot print in our target markets across 4 
continents, by setting up efficient ‘go- to-market’ channels, marketing programs, increasing local 
presence and infrastructure. The Company will follow prudent capital deployment for international 
expansion activities with a view to maximize returns on investments. 
 
The Board of Directors will have the discretion to allocate the IPO proceeds across the domains 
listed above in accordance with the operational and business requirements of the Company. 
 
 
Subscription Costs / Offering Expenses 
 
All expenses of the Offering will be borne by the Company. 
 
 
Further Information on the Retail Offer Shares 
 
1. Subscription Applications 
 
Each Subscriber may submit one subscription application only (i) in the case of a subscription 
application by a natural person, in his or her personal name (unless he or she is acting as a 
representative for another Subscriber, in which case the subscription application will be submitted 
in the name of such Subscriber) or (ii) in the case of a subscription application by a corporate entity, 
in its corporate name. In case a Subscriber submits more than one application in his or her personal 
name or its corporate name, the Lead Receiving Bank reserves the right to disqualify all or some of 
the subscription applications submitted by such Subscriber and not to allocate any Offer Shares to 
such Subscriber. 
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Subscribers must ensure to have an updated NIN on the ADX and must complete all of the relevant 
fields in the subscription application along with all required documents and submit it to the Lead 
Receiving Bank together with the subscription amount during the Offer Period. 
 
The completed subscription application should be clear and fully legible. If it is not, the Lead 
Receiving Bank shall refuse to accept the subscription application from the Subscriber until the 
latter satisfies all the required information or documentation before the close of the subscription. 
 
Subscription for Offer Shares would deem the Subscriber to have accepted the Articles of 
Association of the Company and complied with all the resolutions issued by the Company’s general 
meeting. Any conditions added to the subscription application shall be deemed null and void. No 
photocopies of the subscription application shall be accepted. The subscription application should 
only be fully completed after reviewing the Prospectus and the Company’s Articles of Association. 
The subscription application then needs to be submitted to any of the Lead Receiving Bank’s 
branches mentioned herein or through electronic channels (see “Electronic subscription”). 
 
The Subscribers or their representatives shall affirm the accuracy of the information contained in 
the application in the presence of the bank representative in which the subscription was made. Each 
subscription application shall be clearly signed or certified by the Subscriber or his or her 
representative. 
 
The Lead Receiving Bank may reject subscription applications submitted by any Subscriber for any 
of the following reasons: 
 
• the subscription application form is not complete or is not correct with regard to the amount 

paid or submitted documents (and no Offer Participant takes responsibility for non-receipt 
of an allocation of Offer Shares if the address of the subscribers is not filled in correctly); 

 
• the subscription application amount is paid using a method that is not a permitted method 

of payment; 
 
• the subscription application amount presented with the subscription application does not 

match the minimum required investment or the increments set for the Retail Offer Shares; 
 
• the completed subscription application form is not clear and fully legible. 
 
• the Manager’s Cheque is returned for any reason; 
 
• if the amount in the bank account mentioned in the subscription application form is 

insufficient to pay for the application amount mentioned in the subscription application form 
or the Lead Receiving Bank is unable to apply the amount towards the application whether 
due to signature mismatch or any other reasons; 

 
• if the NIN is not made available to ADX or if the NIN is incorrect; 
 
• if the subscription application is found to be duplicated (any acceptance of such duplicate 

application is solely at the discretion of the Company); 
 
• if the subscription application is otherwise found not to be in accordance with the terms of 

the Offering; 
 
• if the Subscriber is a natural person and is found to have submitted the subscription 

application other than in his or her personal name (unless he or she is acting as a 
representative for another Subscriber); 

 
• a Subscriber has not adhered to the rules applicable to the Retail Offer Shares or the 

Professional Offer Shares; 
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• if it is otherwise necessary to reject the subscription application to ensure compliance with 
the provisions of the Companies Regulations, the Articles of Association, this Prospectus 
or the requirements of the SCA or the ADX; or 

 
• if for any reason FTS/SWIFT/online/mobile/ATM subscription channels transfer fails or the 

required information in the special fields is not enough to process the application.  
 

The Lead Receiving Bank may reject the application for any of the reasons listed above at any time 
until allocation of the Offer Shares and have no obligation to inform the subscribers before the 
notification of the allocation of Shares to such rejected Subscribers. 
 
 
2. Documents Accompanying Subscription Applications 
 
Subscribers shall submit the following documents along with their subscription application forms: 
 
For individuals who are UAE or GCC nationals or nationals of any other country: 
 
• NIN details; 

 
• The original and a copy of a valid passport or Emirates identity card; and 
 
• In case the signatory is different from the Subscriber: 
 

• the duly notarized power of attorney held by that signatory or a certified copy by UAE-
regulated persons/bodies, such as a notary public, or as otherwise duly regulated in 
the country; 

 
• the original passport/Emirates ID of the signatory for verification of signature and a 

copy of the original passport/Emirates ID; and 
 

• a copy of the passport/Emirates ID of the Subscriber for verification of signature; or 
 
• In case the signatory is a guardian of a minor, the following will be submitted: 
 

• Original and copy of the guardian’s passport/Emirates ID for verification of signature; 
 

• Original and copy of the minor’s passport; and 
 

• If the guardian is appointed by the court, original and copy of the guardianship deed 
attested by the court and other competent authorities (e.g. notary public). 

 
For corporate bodies including banks, financial institutions, investment funds and other companies 
and establishments: 
 
• UAE registered corporate bodies: 
 

• The original and a copy of a trade license or commercial registration for verification 
or a certified copy by one of the following UAE-regulated persons/bodies; a notary 
public or as otherwise duly regulated in the country; 

 
• The original and a copy of the document that authorizes the signatory to sign on 

behalf of the Subscriber and to represent the Subscriber, to submit the application, 
and to accept the terms and conditions stipulated in the Prospectus and in the 
subscription form;  

 
• The original and a copy of the passport/Emirates ID of the signatory; and 
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• NIN details. 
 
• Foreign corporate bodies: the documents will differ according to the nature of the corporate 

body and its domicile. Accordingly, please consult with the Lead Receiving Bank to obtain 
the list of required documents. 

 
 
3. Method of Subscription and Payment for the Retail Offer Shares 
 
The subscription application must be submitted by a Subscriber to the Lead Receiving Bank’s 
participating branches listed in this Prospectus and the NIN with ADX and the Subscriber’s bank 
account number must be provided, together with payment in full for the amount it wishes to use to 
subscribe for the Offer Shares, which is to be paid in one of the following ways: 
 
• Manager’s Cheque drawn on a bank licensed and operating in the UAE, in favor of 

“Presight AI Holding PLC – IPO”; 
 
• Debiting a Subscriber’s account with the Lead Receiving Bank; or 
 
• Electronic subscriptions (please refer to the section on Electronic subscription below). 
 
Details of the Subscriber’s bank account must be completed on the subscription application form 
even if the application amount will be paid by Manager’s Cheque. 
 
The subscription amount may not be paid or accepted by the Lead Receiving Bank using any of the 
following methods: 
 
• In cash; 
 
• Cheques (not certified); or 
 
• Any other mode of payment other than mentioned above. 
 
Please refer to the Annex 3 for the Lead Receiving Bank’s participating branches.  
 
 
Electronic subscription (E-subscription) and the ADX ePortal Subscription 
 
The Lead Receiving Bank may also have its own electronic channels (ATMs, on-line internet 
banking applications, mobile banking applications, etc.) interfaced with the ADX eKtetab IPO 
system. By submitting the electronic subscription application, the customer submitting the 
application is accepting the Offering terms and conditions on behalf of the Subscriber and is 
authorising the Lead Receiving Bank to pay the total subscription amount by debiting the amount 
from the respective bank account of the customer and transferring the same to the Offer account in 
favor of “Presight AI Holding PLC IPO” held at the Lead Receiving Bank, as detailed in the 
subscription application. The submission of an electronic application will be deemed to be sufficient 
for the purposes of fulfilling the identification requirements. Accordingly, the supporting 
documentation in relation to applications set out elsewhere in this Prospectus will not apply to 
Electronic Applications under this section. Notification of the final allocation of Offer Shares and the 
refund of proceeds for unallocated Offer Shares (if any) and any profit thereon following the closing 
of the Offer Period and prior to the Listing of the Shares shall be performed solely by, and processed 
through, the Lead Receiving Bank in which the electronic subscription application was submitted. 
 
Subscription applications may also be received through UAE Central Bank Fund Transfer (“FTS”) 
mode. The investor choosing the FTS method will be required to provide their valid NIN with ADX 
along with the value of Offer Shares subscribed for in the special instructions field. 
 
First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC – E-subscription 
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FAB EIPO-Subscription 
 
1. Access https://www.bankfab.com/en-ae/cib/iposubscription. 

 
Refer to the “How to subscribe page” and follow the instructions and submit subscriptions for 
the Retail Offer Shares. 

 
2. FAB Mobile Banking Application (for FAB client). 

 
In case of any issues or support required, please contact FAB call center at +971-261-61800. 

 
 
ADX ePortal Subscription:  
 
For applying through ADX ePortal Subscriptions: 
 
Please access -  
 
For Arabic – https://www.adx.ae/Arabic/Pages/ProductsandServices/ipo.aspx 
 
For English - https://www.adx.ae/English/Pages/ProductsandServices/ipo.aspx 
 
Please refer to the “ADX IPO ePortal Subscription Instructions” page and follow the instructions.  
 
Click on the IPO Subscription link provided to subscribe for the Retail Offer Shares. 
 
Please contact them on 800-ADX(239) or via email on info@adx.ae for any queries on the above. 
 
 
Important dates relevant to the methods of payment of the subscription amounts 
 
• Subscription amounts paid by way of cheque must be submitted by 12pm (mid-day) on 15 

March 2023. 
 
• Subscription applications received through Internet Banking and website / UAEPGS / 

FTS must be made before 12pm (mid-day) on 16 March 2023. 
 
 
Subscription amounts 
 
Retail Subscribers must submit applications to purchase the Offer Shares in the amount of AED 
5,000 or more, with any subscription over AED 5,000 to be made in increments of AED 1,000. 
 
 
Subscription process 
 
Subscribers must complete the application form, providing all required details. Subscribers who do 
not provide the NIN with ADX and bank account will not be eligible for subscription and will not be 
allocated any Offer Shares. 
 
Subscribers may only apply for Retail Offer Shares or Professional Offer Shares. In the event a 
person applies in more than one type of Offer Shares, then the Lead Receiving Bank, the Lead 
Manager or the Lead Placement Agent (as applicable) may disregard one or both of such 
applications. 
 
The Lead Receiving Bank through which the subscription is made will issue to the Subscriber an 
acknowledgement of receipt which the Subscriber has to keep until the Subscriber receives the 
allocation notice. One copy of the subscription application after being submitted, signed and 
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stamped by the Lead Receiving Bank shall be considered an acknowledgement for receipt of the 
subscription application. This receipt shall include the data of the Subscriber, address, amount paid, 
details of the payment method, and date of the investment. The acknowledgement in the case of 
Electronic Applications via online internet banking and ATM would provide basic information of the 
application such as NIN number, Amount, Date and Customer bank account details. 
 
If the address of the Subscriber is not filled in correctly, the Company, and the Lead Receiving Bank 
take no liability for non-receipt of the allocation notice. 
 
 
4. Further Information on the Professional Offer Shares   
 
Eligibility criteria and minimum order amount, please refer to the relevant Section 
 
 
Method of placement of subscription orders and payment 
 
Placing orders through the Lead Placement Agent and payment of funds: 

 
• Professional Subscribers can place orders with the Lead Placement Agent using the 

subscription form or the link sent by the Lead Placement Agent. 
 

• The Lead Placement Agent will collect the order forms and accompanying documents, NIN, 
and funds from Professional Subscribers and share the orders details with the Lead 
Receiving Bank during the Offer Period. 

 
• Allocation will be decided by the Company in accordance with the allocation policy set out 

in this Prospectus and communicated to the Lead Placement Agent. 
 
• The Lead Placement Agent, will collect the funds, as required, from each Professional 

Subscriber who has placed an order during the Offer Period.  
 

• Once the allocation of the Offer Shares has been finalized, the Lead Placement Agent will 
transfer the allocated capital funds to the Lead Receiving Bank as a single payment. 

 
 
The Lead Receiving Bank will confirm the receipt of proceeds and allocate and issue the relevant 
Offer Shares to the Professional Subscribers, as applicable. 
 
 
5. Further information on various matters  

 
Offer Period 
 
Commences on 13 March 2023 and closes on 17 March 2023. 
 
Lead Receiving Bank 
 
First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC  
 
A list of the Lead Receiving Bank’s branches is attached in Annex 3 of this Prospectus.  
 
Offering Proceeds and Issuance Costs 
 
The Offering proceeds will amount to AED 1,821,971,200.00 (USD 496,111,967.32) and they will 
be transferred to the reserve account of the Company. The Company shall bear all costs and 
expenses related to the issuance of the Offer Shares.  
 
Method of allocation of Offer Shares to different categories of Subscribers (Under the 
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Offering Regulations) 
 
Should the total size of subscriptions received exceed the number of Offer Shares, then the 
Company will allocate the Offer Shares according to the allocation policy specified below and will 
refund to Subscribers the excess subscription amounts and any accrued profit resulting thereon. 
 
Notice of Allocation 
 
A notice to successful Retail Subscribers will be sent by way of SMS initially confirming the 
acceptance of subscription and number of offered shares allocated to them. This will be followed 
by a notice setting out each Subscriber’s Share allocation, which will be sent by registered mail to 
each Subscriber. 
 
Method of refunding surplus amounts to Subscribers 
 
By no later than 25 March 2023 (being within five (5) working days of the Closing Date of the 
Offering), the Offer Shares shall be allocated to Subscribers and, within five (5) working days of such 
allocation, the surplus subscription amounts, and any profit resulting thereon, shall be refunded to 
Subscribers who did not receive Offer Shares, and the subscription amounts and any accrued profit 
resulting thereon shall be refunded to the Subscribers whose applications have been rejected for 
any of the above reasons. The surplus amount and any accrued profit thereon are returned to the 
same Subscriber’s account through which the payment of the original application amount was made. 
In the event payment of the subscription amount is made by Manager’s Cheque, these amounts 
shall be returned by sending a cheque with the value of such amounts to the Subscriber at the 
address mentioned in the subscription application. 
 
The difference between the subscription amount accepted by the Company if any, and the 
application amount paid by that Subscriber will be refunded to such Subscriber pursuant to the 
terms of this Prospectus. 
 
Inquiries and complaints 
 
Subscribers who wish to submit an inquiry or complaint with respect to any rejected applications, 
allocation or refunding of the surplus funds, must contact the Lead Receiving Bank through which 
the subscription was made, and if a solution cannot be reached, then the Lead Receiving Bank must 
refer the matter to the Investor Relations Manager. The Subscriber must remain updated on the 
status. The Subscriber’s relationship remains only with the party receiving the subscription 
application. 
 
Listing and trading of Shares 
 
Subsequent to the allocation of the Offer Shares, the Company will list all of its Shares on the ADX 
in accordance with the applicable listing and trading rules as at the Listing date – 27 March 2023. 
Trading in the Shares will be effected on an electronic basis, through the ADX’s share registry, with 
the commencement of such trading estimated to take place after completion of the registration. 
 
Voting rights 
 
All Shares are of the same class and shall carry equal voting rights and shall rank pari passu in all 
other rights and obligations. Each Share confers on its holder the right to cast one vote on all 
Shareholders’ resolutions. 
 
Risks 
 
There are certain risks that are specific to investing in this Offering. Those risks have been discussed 
in a section headed “Investment Risks” of this Prospectus and must be taken into account before 
deciding to subscribe for Offer Shares. 
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6. Timetable for subscription and listing 
 
The dates set out below outline the expected timetable for the Offering. However, the Company 
reserves the right to change any of the dates/times, or to shorten or extend the specified time 
periods, upon obtaining the approval of the SCA and publishing such change during the Offering 
period in daily newspapers. 
 
 
Event Date 
Opening Date of Offering 
 

13 March 2023 

Closing Date of Offering 17 March 2023 

Allocation of Offer Shares 
 

18 - 24 March 2023 

Allocation notification 
 

24 March 2023  

Refund of surplus subscriptions 25 March 2023 

Expected date of Listing the Shares on ADX 27 March 2023 

 
 
7. Retail Offer Shares and Professional Offer Shares 
 
The Offering of the Offer Shares is divided as follows: 
 
 
Retail Offer Shares: 
 
98,151,900Shares representing 7.219% of the Offer Shares. 
 
The Company, subject to obtaining requisite corporate approvals, reserves the right to amend the 
size of the Retail Offer Shares at any time prior to the end of the subscription period at its sole 
discretion, subject of the approval of the SCA, provided that the subscription percentage of 
subscribers in the Professional Offer Shares does not fall below 60 % of the Offer Shares and the 
subscription percentage of the subscribers in the Retail Offer Shares does not exceed 40 % of the 
Offer Shares in aggregate. 
 

Eligibility: Retail Subscribers, are described in the “Definitions and Abbreviations” section of this 
Prospectus. 
 
Minimum Application Size: AED 5,000, with any additional application in increments of 

AED 1,000. 
 
Maximum Application Size: There is no Maximum Application Size. 
 
Allocation policy: Retail Offer Shares will be allocated to Retail Subscribers pro-

rata to each Subscriber’s subscription application. 
Applications will be scaled back on the same basis if the Retail 
Offer Shares are over-subscribed. Any fractional entitlements 
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resulting from the pro rata distribution of Offer Shares will be 
rounded down to the nearest whole number. It is therefore 
possible that Subscribers who have submitted applications to 
subscribe for Retail Offer Shares may be allocated a number of 
Shares lower than the number of Shares mentioned in their 
subscription application. 

 
Unsubscribed Offer Shares:  If all of the Retail Offer Shares are not fully subscribed, the 

unsubscribed Retail Offer Shares shall be available to 
Professional Subscribers, or alternatively (in consultation with 
the SCA) the Company may extend the Closing Date and/or 
close the Offering at the level of applications received. 

 
 
Professional Offer Shares: 
1,261,528,100Shares representing 92.781% of the Offer Shares. 
 
Professional Subscribers, are described in the “Definitions and Abbreviations” section of this 
Prospectus. 
 
Minimum Application Size: The Minimum Application Size is AED 1,000,000.  
 
Maximum Application Size: There is no Maximum Application Size. 
 
Allocation policy: Allocations of the Professional Offer Shares will be determined 

by the Company. It is therefore possible that Subscribers who 
have submitted applications to subscribe for Professional 
Offer Shares may not be allocated any Shares or that they are 
allocated a number of Shares lower than the number of Shares 
mentioned in their subscription application. 

 
Discretionary allocation: The Company reserves the right to allocate Professional Offer 

Shares in any way as they deem necessary. 
 
Unsubscribed Offer Shares: If all the Professional Offer Shares are not fully subscribed, 

then the Offer will be withdrawn. If the Offer is withdrawn, the 
subscription amounts will be fully refunded to the Subscribers, 
along with any accrued profits. 

 
 
Multiple applications 
 
A Subscriber should only submit an application for Retail Offer Shares or Professional Offer Shares. 
In the event a Subscriber applies for subscription in more than one type of Offer Shares, the Lead 
Receiving Bank and the Lead Manager may deem one or both applications invalid. 
 
 
Important notes 
 
Retail Subscribers will be notified of whether they have been successful in their application for Offer 
Shares by means of an SMS. 
 
Upon Listing of the Shares on the ADX, the Shares will be registered on an electronic system as 
applicable by the ADX. The information contained in this electronic system will be binding and 
irrevocable, unless otherwise specified in the applicable rules and procedures governing the ADX. 
 
Subject to the approval of the SCA, the Company, subject to obtaining requisite corporate 
approvals, reserves the right to alter the percentage of the Offer Shares, which are to be made 
available to either the Retail Subscribers or the Professional Subscribers. 
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Second Section: Key details of the Company 
 
1. Overview of the company 
 

Name of the Company: Presight AI Holding PLC 
 
A free zone public company limited by shares 
incorporated in the ADGM pursuant to the 
Companies Regulations. 
 

Primary objects of the Company: The primary object of the Company is to act as 
the holding company for its operating 
subsidiaries.  
 

Head office: 33rd floor, Al Khatem Tower, ADGM, Al Maryah 
Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE. 
 

Branches: None 

Subsidiaries:  The following are subsidiaries owned directly or 
indirectly by the Company (each a “Subsidiary” 
and collectively the “Subsidiaries”): 
 
1. Presight AI Ltd. 
2. G42 Sky14 Technology Projects RSC Ltd. 
3. G42 Smart Nation AI Holding RSC Ltd. 
4. Analytics AI LLP 
5. G42 Analytics Technology Projects LLC 
6. G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC 
7. G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects LLC  
8. G42 AS SPV RSC Ltd. 
9. G42 Smart City AI SPV RSC Ltd. 
10. JTO Holding SPV Ltd. 
11. Intellibrain Technological Projects LLC 
12. Assetik Tech Ltd 
 

Details of trade register and date of 
engaging in the activity: 
 

Registered Number 000008980; License Issue 
Date: 12 December 2022 
 

Term of the Company: Not applicable. 

Financial year: 1 January to 31 December. 

Major banks dealing with the Company: • First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC 

 
 Details of current Board Members: 
 

Name Nationality Capacity 

H.E. Mansoor Al Mansoori United Arab Emirates Chairman 

Prof. Eric Xing United States of America Vice - Chairman 

Kiril Evtimov United States of America Director 
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Mr. Abdulla Rashed Alrashdi 
 

United Arab Emirates Director 
 

Ms. Hamda Eid Almheiri United Arab Emirates Director 
 

 
  
 No bankruptcy ruling or a bankruptcy arrangement was issued against any member of the 

board of directors or members of the senior management of the Company. 
 
 
 Summary of the remuneration of the board of directors and senior management team 
 
  Due to the recent incorporation of the Company, the remuneration of the board of directors 

and the senior management team of the Company will be decided at a later stage, in 
accordance with the governance rules and internal policies and procedures of the 
Company. 

 
 
  Details of Company’s subsidiaries 
 

 As of the date of this Prospectus the Company has twelve (12) Subsidiaries, which are 
owned directly or indirectly by the Company as follows:  

 
Subsidiary Shareholders Share 

Capital 
(USD) 

Ownership 

Presight AI Ltd. Presight AI Holding PLC 1,000 100% 
G42 Sky14 Technology 
Projects RSC Ltd. 

Presight AI Holding PLC 1,000 100% 

G42 Smart Nation AI 
Holding RSC Ltd. 

Presight AI Holding PLC 1,000 
 

100% 

Analytics AI LLP Presight AI Ltd. 657 100% 
G42 Analytics Technology 
Projects LLC 

Presight AI Ltd. 27,226 99.99% 

G42 Sky1 Technology 
Projects LLC 

G42 Sky14 Technology 
Projects RSC Ltd. 

27,226 99.99% 

G42 Smart Nation 
Technology Projects LLC  

G42 Smart Nation AI 
Holding RSC Ltd. 

27,226 99.99% 

G42 AS SPV RSC Ltd. G42 Smart Nation AI 
Holding RSC Ltd 

1,000 100% 

G42 Smart City AI SPV RSC 
Ltd. 

G42 Smart Nation AI 
Holding RSC Ltd 

1,000 100% 

JTO Holding SPV Ltd. G42 Smart City AI SPV 
RSC Ltd. 

1,000 60% 

Intellibrain Technological 
Projects LLC 

JTO Holding SPV Ltd. 27,226 99% 

Assetik Tech Ltd Presight AI Holding PLC 100 100% 
 
 
2. Business Description: 

Investors should read this section in conjunction with the more detailed information 
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus including the financial and other information. Where 
stated, financial information in this section has been extracted from the Financial 
Statements. 
 
 



 

 31/73  
 

Overview 
 
The Group was founded in 2020 with three elements of successful start-ups: a bold vision, 
creative people, and an unmatched desire to create meaningful change, focusing on the 
region’s digital transformation through big data analytics powered by AI. 
 
As the COVID-19 became a global crisis, the Group used its solutions to support the United 
Arab Emirates’ government with analytics driven pandemic management to keep its borders 
open. It also supported the UAE as it hosted the Expo 2020, which used the Group’s world-
class video analytics and AI-enabled platform to provide a smart and sustainable 
technological system to welcome 23 million visitors in a safe environment with seamless 
operations.  
 
The Group has grown its operations internationally since then, signing its first international 
MoU for the National Transformation program of Digital Angola 2024. The Group is now the 
region’s leading big data analytics company powered by AI, with over 10 flagship 
technology solutions, more than 100 AI models, and clients in 3 continents around the 
world.  
 
The Group delivers for clients across multiple sectors, with a focus on three core pillars that 
have significant potential for innovative market growth through digital transformation using 
big data analytics powered by AI: 

 
1. Public Services: Embedding big data and AI into government and citizen 

services. 
The Group is consolidating data across public service entities to support 
integrated policymaking and decision making. 
 

2. Financial Services: Accelerating financial services with big data analytics 
powered by AI. 
The Group is standardizing and integrating data from financial institutions and 
government and private entities to be able to identify patterns that support risk 
management policymaking and financial crime prevention efforts. 
 

3. Sport: Leveraging AI to enhance sports performance and experience. 
The Group is disrupting the sports industry through big data analysis that can 
be used to enhance athlete performance and improve fan experiences. 

 
The Group’s solutions continue to expand into new verticals, channeling the use of advanced 
data analytics to help organizations answer climate and environmental challenges, support 
greater efficiency in the use of public infrastructure, optimize city resources, and improve 
student learning successes and optimizing education programs. 
 
The Group’s proprietary big data omni-analytics platform, the Transformative Analytics 
Quotient (“TAQ”), is the foundation of their solutions. It gathers and rapidly analyzes multi-
source data to enable forecasting of likely outcomes to support insight-driven decision-
making across every sector at scale resulting in tangible business and societal value. 
 
The Group is well positioned to capitalize on the significant market growth as demand for big 
data analytics and digital transformation continues rapidly in multiple sectors. As such, the 
Group’s strong successes have set a solid platform for international growth. 
 
 
Licensed Activities 
 
The Company acts as a holding company for its Subsidiaries. The Company is licensed by 
the ADGM to conduct activities of Holding Companies and activities of Head Offices.  
 
The licensed activities of the Subsidiaries are provided below as follows:  
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Subsidiary Licensed Activities 

Presight AI Ltd. Business Incubator; Other 
information technology and computer 
service activities; Other professional, 
scientific and technical activities 
n.e.c; Computer consultancy and 
computer facilities management 
activities; Computer programming 
activities; Activities of holding 
companies; Other information 
service activities n.e.c; Data 
processing, hosting and related 
activities; Activities of head offices 

Analytics AI LLP Implementing state of the art 
analytical and artificial intelligence 
software systems; installation works; 
general management; providing 
customer support; expand 
partnership networks; commercial 
activity; foreign economic and foreign 
trade activity including export and 
import operations; and doing all such 
other activities that may appear to the 
Partnership as incidental or 
conducive to the activities described 
above, as well as engaging in any 
other activity not prohibited by the 
Law 

G42 Analytics Technology Projects LLC Information technology network 
services, technological projects 
management, Innovation and 
Artificial Intelligence research & 
consultancies 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects LLC  Information technology network 
services, technological projects 
management, innovation & artificial 
intelligence research and 
consultancies 

Intellibrain Technological Projects LLC Technological projects management, 
innovation and artificial intelligence 
research and consultancies, 
computer systems and software 
designing 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC Information technology network 
services, technological projects 
management 

G42 Sky14 Technology Projects RSC Ltd. Serves as a holding company 
G42 Smart Nation AI Holding RSC Ltd. Serves as a holding company 
G42 AS SPV RSC Ltd. Serves as a holding company 
G42 Smart City AI SPV RSC Ltd. Serves as a holding company 
JTO Holding SPV Ltd. Serves as a holding company 
Assetik Tech Ltd Proprietary investment company; 

Other information technology and 
computer service activities; Computer 
consultancy and computer facilities 
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management activities; Computer 
programming activities; Other 
information service activities n.e.c; 
Treasury Financial Systems and 
Applications Development; Web 
portals” 
 

 
 
Operations 
 
The Group combines analytics, big data, and AI expertise to serve every sector, of every 
scale, to create business and societal value. The Group’s world-class omni-analytics 
platform, TAQ, leverages big data and analytics to deliver cutting-edge Al technology, 
enabling forecasting and the anticipation of outcomes to support insight-driven, decision-
making that shapes policy and delivers societal impact. 
 
With TAQ as its foundation, the Group provides services to clients across three core and 
three priority verticals: 
 
 

 
 
 
TAQ – The omni-analytics platform 
 
1. About the platform 
 
TAQ is the foundation of the Group, it is the omni-analytics platform that powers all verticals. 
It excels at all-source data collection, big data analytics powered by AI, and is adaptive to any 
tech foundation. It hosts 100+ AI algorithms that power the verticals’ solutions and range from 
behavioral analysis to emotion detection. Across each vertical, capabilities are built into the 
platform (e.g., case management, risk scoring, simulations, and more). 
 
TAQ has three core components: 
 
• All-source Data Collection & Analytics 

 
o TAQ’s strong competitive advantage is in mass data collection across all types 

of data. It is able to process 30-50 terabytes of data a day 
 

o All data formats are supported – multi-lingual, video, image, sound, number, 
geospatial and others 
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o AI-assisted data annotation is leveraged when tackling new-to-the-world data 

types 
 

• Artificial Intelligence and Big Data 
 

o The Group’s AI is created by leveraging the best of two worlds – experienced 
data scientists and industrial experts. The Group has a wide variety of off-the-
shelf big data tools and AI models, including: facial identification; voice 
identification; link analysis; customizable optical character recognition; advanced 
geo-analysis; data search; and others. 
 

• Enabling Tech Foundation 
 

o The Group is accustomed to working with clients in a variety of foundational tech 
maturity levels. Accordingly, the Group ‘fills-in the gaps’ as needed across: 

 
§ Internet of things: to capture sensorial data 

 
§ Data centres: to physically host data 

 
§ Supercomputers: for unique cases of real-time mass data analysis 

 
§ Cloud: to enable seamless integration between applications, accessible 

from any location, any time of the day 
 
 
2. TAQ strategy 
 
A. Enter new verticals: 
 
• The Group will continue scaling into new verticals, with a focus on adjacent and 

complementary verticals 
 

• The components of TAQ are industry agnostic. It originated in ‘Public Services’ and was 
quickly scaled to ‘Financial Services’ and ‘Sports’. 

 
B. Localize AI models: 
 
• The Group is building the largest repository of AI competencies that are purpose-built for 

Middle East, North Africa, and Central Asia (incl. languages, and local cultural nuances) 
 

• A notable example is the voice identification AI model that has been built to differentiate 
between Arabic dialects. This is being scaled to other regional languages as well. 

 
C. Integrate emerging technologies: 
 
• The Group’s tech research team ensures that emerging technologies (e.g., Block-chain, 

new IoT devices) are continuously tested and integrated into TAQ. 
 

• A recent example includes large language models (i.e., advanced chat bots). The tech 
team is actively researching how to best develop and integrate recent advancements in 
this technology into TAQ. 

 
 
Public Services 
 
1. About the vertical 
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The Group enhances public services and optimizes government efficiencies through big data 
analytics powered by AI. They enable public agencies to improve citizen service offerings, 
define data-driven policies, enhance public safety, and enable digital identity management. 
 
GovTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 

 
• Public safety 

 
o Equip law enforcement and security agencies with multi-source data analytics 

and investigative platforms. 
 

o Large scale security operations enabled by real-time and mission-critical AI 
algorithms (e.g. live AI-identified threats are identified, flagged and summarized 
for operational teams to immediately act on). 
 

o Digital forensics AI solutions that drastically reduce investigation time (e.g. AI 
bulk-analysis of audio, image, and text data). 

 
• Digital ID 

 
o Provide end-to-end Digital ID services based on biometrics (face, finger, and 

iris). 
 

o Enable agencies to verify users on-the-go based on AI matching of biodata 
(multiple methods if needed). This enables secure processes and is also 
foundational for more advanced AI use cases (e.g. police identifying pedestrians 
live through various biometrics inputs). 

 
• Smart city analytics 

 
o Empower governments with big data analytics capabilities to improve their 

service delivery to citizens. 
 

o Successes include: tourist journey and spend analytics; healthcare digitization 
and optimization; city-wide traffic optimization; and a retail insights platform.  

 
 

2. Public Services strategy 
 
A. Drive rapid growth internationally by replicating and building on UAE successes: 
 
• Successes in implementing our GovTAQ solution stack in the UAE have set a solid 

platform for rapid international growth. 
 

• For example, the Video Brain AI platform was very successful at securing Expo 2020 in 
Dubai. The Group is actively pursuing similar projects to deploy it internationally. 

 
 
B. Productize and scale smart city analytics success cases: 
 
• Public Services successes serve as a solid platform for growth into new verticals. 

 
• A few examples that can scale very well as products are the city-wide traffic optimization 

platform and the tourist journey and spend analytics platform. 
 
 
C. Continue to strengthen the Group’s AI algorithms: 
 
• The Group’s AI algorithms provide an advantage over their competition and peers. Their 
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data science team continuously improves these algorithms to ensure they maintain their 
edge. 
 

• A notable example is the Group’s facial recognition platform that won the 1st place 
category in NIST’s (National Institute of Standards & Technology) global AI competition. 

 
 

Finance 
 
1. About the vertical 
 
The Group identifies financial anomalies, fraud, and risks using big data analytics powered 
by AI. They equip regulators and companies with tools to detect and address financial 
anomalies, analyze trends, and run audits. 
 
FinTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 
 
• Audit & governance 

 
o Extensive AI audits done digitally, ensuring unbiased rapid results (10x faster). 

 
o 100+ AI audit & governance use cases (e.g. HR & payroll, delegation of 

authority). 
 

o An anti-corruption tool to identify conflicts of interest, lifestyle anomalies, and HR 
related-party conflicts. 

 
• Anti-money laundering 

 
o Automated anti-money laundering (AML), tax evasion, and crime financing 

detection tool. 
 

o Leverage deep-link analyses and risk scoring (AI credit risk management) to 
identify threats. 
 

o Utilize large-scale multi-platform financial data analysis to link financing from 
start to end. 

 
• Financial Analysis 

 
o A complementary set of AI algorithms that enable in-depth financial 

investigations, consisting of: 
 

§ Identity theft protection (e.g. fingerprint mismatch). 
 

§ Fake account identification (e.g. IP address analysis). 
 

§ Suite of forensic tools (e.g. image, video, audio analyses). 
 
 

2. Finance strategy 
 
A. Disrupt the audit market through AI: 
 
• Transform the auditing industry by providing platforms that use big data analytics 

powered by AI that fundamentally change the speed, accuracy, depth, and breadth of 
audits; to companies, government organizations and auditing firms. 
 

• Expand audit coverage beyond currently covered functions (e.g. legal). 
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B. Localize algorithms based on regional compliance: 
 
• Enable rapid expansion to priority countries by tailoring our AI algorithms to local 

compliance expectations. 
 

• Localized AI models that use big data analytics powered by AI ensure high accuracy in 
risk flags, regardless of geography. 

 
 
C. Serve a wider market through self-service tools: 
 
• Self-service enables access to a much wider market. As a simpler lower investment 

product, it makes our tools more relevant to all major industry players. 
 

• For example, the self-service use big data analytics powered by AI to enable smaller 
organizations to self-audit prior to approaching regulatory authorities. 

 
 
Sports 
 
1. About the vertical 
 
The Group augments sports performance and fans’ experiences using big data analytics 
powered by AI. They provide athletes, teams and fans across performance sports with the 
ability to optimize individual and team performance, predict match outcomes, identify unique 
talent, enhance fan experience and more. 
 
SportTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 

 
• Athlete performance 

 
o Boost athlete performance, prevent injuries, and improve decision making. 

 
o Leveraging wearables, computer vision, bioinformatics and more to forecast 

match outcomes, recommend nutrition, and boost all aspects of athlete 
performance (e.g. AI insights on team composition can identify the optimal 
starters). 

 
• Talent acquisition 

 
o Automating talent scouting using AI pattern-recognition allows clients to scout 

talent that others cannot see (e.g. AI-driven look-alike searches can be 
conducted based on video analytics and historical statistics). 
 

o AI-measured “fit for your team” ensures new talent complements existing skills, 
play styles, and weaknesses. 

 
• Fan engagement 

 
o Covering all aspects of fan experience management, including crowd control, 

security, sentiment analysis, and presenting real-time insights. 
 

o This is complemented with in-game and media-based AI-run additions such as 
AI-generated journalism and AI-assisted referee calls (e.g. video analytics can 
identify new records that have been broken which are fed to commentators live). 
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2. Sports strategy 
 
A. Disrupt talent scouting: 

 
• Adapt the scouting platform to work across all sports by continuing to integrate an even 

wider set of data capture tools. 
 

• For example, above and beyond IOT and video analytics, vehicle performance tests, 
psychometric tests, and other analytics are being introduced. 

 
 
B. Be the big data analytics platform for performance sports: 
 
• Drive increased penetration across performance sports with a focus on F1 and fast-

moving motorsport arenas. 
 

• Build upon its existing models to increase the number of tailored use cases created for 
this space (e.g. vehicle design optimization). 

 
 
C. Expand beyond sports: 
 
• Create an industry agnostic platform for talent acquisition and performance boosting 

based on the successful platform built for sports.  
 
• For example, an AI talent acquisition tool can be used across any sector to be the  

first filter of incoming candidates based on traits of the highest performers and 
aspirational traits that a company is looking to further develop. 

 
 
Priority Verticals 
 
1. Climate 
 
The Group predicts the environmental impact of business activities using big data analytics 
powered by AI. They support businesses and governments to identify, manage, and predict 
the environmental impact of their activities and monetize their environmental, social, and 
governance initiatives. 
 
ClimaTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 
 
• Carbon credits 

 
o Run carbon credit analytics by combining satellite imagery with AI algorithms. In 

collaboration with environmental partners, governments and organizations can 
be assisted in their journey to monetize their carbon credits. 
 

o For example, end-to-end carbon offset programs can be built with governments 
by providing the AI tools to measure and sell their carbon offset footprints. 

 
• Energy optimization 

 
o Drive savings in energy distribution and usage by leveraging AI energy 

optimization models linked to sensors installed across various touchpoints. 
 

o For example, electricity distribution wastage can be minimized by installing 
sensors across distribution points and forecasting usage data to optimally 
distribute electricity based on expected needs. 
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• Maritime conservation 
 

o Use advanced scanning technologies in combination with AI models to analyze 
trends in maritime conservation to drive effective decision-making and policy-
making. 
 

o For example, AI can be used to track and predict the movement of plastic in the 
ocean for it to be efficiently cleaned up. 

 
 
2. Infrastructure 
 
The Group enables efficient infrastructure by using big data and AI. They enable infrastructure 
regulators and organizations with the capability to improve city resource management, 
optimize multi-modal transportation, and overall community services. 
 
InfraTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 
 
• Capacity planning 

 
o Forecast future city needs through mass data analysis of capacity expectations, 

ranging from public transport, to healthcare capacity, traffic management, and 
other services to allow cities to prepare well in advance for future needs. 
 

o For example, predictions on road capacity-needs based on indicators from 
demographics to visitor statistics can be used for road expansion plans. 
 

• Service optimization 
 

o Dynamically adapt to current events and the changing environment with live AI-
driven deployment and staffing to ensure high service standards are maintained 
and operations can effectively handle unexpected changes. 
 

o For example, ambulance deployment can be optimized live based on events 
identification, social media activity, live news sources, and other internal data 
sources. 
 

• City management 
 

o Optimize city resources through live monitoring of key city-wide statistics 
integrated with AI prediction algorithms that enable effective policy and decision 
making. 
 

o For example, trends and anomalies can be identified in city-wide KPIs to draw 
decision makers attention to areas that require attention. 

 
 
3. Education 
 
The Group transforms educational outcomes by using big data analytics powered by AI. They 
equip authorities and institutions with data-driven tools to enhance student learning 
successes, identify student talents, and optimize learning programs. 
 
EduTAQ is the associated solution stack that addresses: 

 
• Childhood development 

 
o Actively identify attributes that drive healthy and intelligent childhood 

development enable educational authorities and institutions to improve 
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childhood development over time. 
 

o For example, AI can be used to identify early risk indicators for children who  
require additional attention to improve their development. 

 
• Program optimization 

 
o Run data-driven analyses of learning programs, optimized by AI models, to allow 

for detailed improvements in sections of learning programs to optimize for ideal 
learning outcomes. 
 

o For example, AI can correlate learning and satisfaction outcomes with teaching 
styles, content, and course structures to recommend improvements to learning 
programs. 
 

• Student-teacher matching 
 

o Use AI to identify synergistic traits between student and teacher learning styles 
to power AI-driven matching of students with teachers to align optimal learning 
approaches. 
 

o For example, a school can improve average learning outcomes by matching all 
students to classes using the AI algorithm. 

 
 

Property / Leases 
 

The headquarters of the Company are located on level 33, Al Khatem Tower, ADGM, Al 
Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE. The lease will expire 30 March 2024. 
 
Other than its headquarters, the Company maintains offices in Al Bustan Office Tower, 
Mubadala Tower and Capital Gate Tower, Abu Dhabi, UAE. 
 
 
Insurance  
 
The Company or the Subsidiaries maintain insurance policies customary for their industry 
to cover certain risks. The principal risks covered by the insurance policies are professional 
malpractice (professional indemnity insurance), property fire and all risks insurance 
(property all risk insurance), public liability (comprehensive general liability), workers’ 
compensation and life insurance.  
 
 

3. Statement of capital development 
 

The Company’s current share capital structure before the commencement of the 
Offering. 
 
On incorporation in the ADGM as a public company limited by shares on 12 December 
2022, the total issued share capital of the Company was AED 183,625 (USD 50,000) 
consisting of 1,836,250 Shares of AED 0.10 (USD 0.027) each, which was subscribed for 
in full by Group 42 Holding Ltd. (“G42”). 
 
On 16 February 2023, the Company issued 4,247,163,750 Shares of AED 0.10 (USD 
0.027) each, increasing the Company’s total issued share capital to AED 424,900,000 
(USD 115,697,753.57) consisting of 4,249,000,000 Shares of AED 0.10 (USD 0.027) each. 
 
The following table sets forth the shareholders of the Company: (i) as at the date of this 
Prospectus, with a total share capital of 4,249,000,000 Shares of AED 0.10 (USD 0.027) 
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each, and (ii) immediately following the Offering, assuming that the Offer Shares are 
subscribed in full: 
 

(i) As at the date of this Prospectus: 
 

Shareholder Number of Shares Percentage 

Group 42 Holding Ltd. 4,206,510,000 99% 

Others 42,490,000 1% 

Total: 4,249,000,000 100% 

 
(ii) Company’s capital structure upon completion of the Offering 

 
Shareholder Number of Shares Percentage 

Group 42 Holding Ltd. 4,206,510,000 75.00% 

Others 42,490,000 0.76% 

Subscribers 1,359,680,000 24.24% 

Total: 5,608,680,000 100% 

 
Upon the completion of the Offering, and if the Offer size is not increased, the Company’s 
paid-up share capital shall be AED 560,868,000.00 (equivalent to USD 152,721,034.72), 
divided into 5,608,680,000 Shares with a nominal value of AED 0.10 (USD 0.027) per 
Share. 
 
Assuming that the Offer Shares are fully subscribed, G42 shall hold 75% of the Shares 
upon Completion of the Offering as set out above. The Company reserves the right to 
amend the size of the Offering at any time prior to the end of the subscription period at its 
sole discretion, subject to applicable laws and the SCA’s approval. 

 
 
4. Statement of the status of litigation actions and disputes with the Group over the 

past three years 
 

The Group has not been involved in any material, legal or arbitration proceedings (including 
any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) 
during the last three years preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have, or have 
had, a significant effect on its financial position or profitability. 

 
 
5. Statement of the number of employees in the Group  
 

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 280 employees. 
 
 
6. Accounting policies adopted by the Company 
 

The Company prepares its accounts in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board and applicable requirements of ADGM laws. 

 
 
7. Statement of the Company’s loans, credit facilities and indebtedness and the 

most significant conditions thereof 
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 The Company currently does not have any loans, debts or credit facilities. 

 
 
8. Statement of current pledges and encumbrances on the Group’s assets:  

 
There are no mortgages, pledges or any material burdens and encumbrances on the assets 
of the Company 
 
 

9. Investment Risks 
 

Investing in and holding the Shares involves financial risk. Prospective investors in the 
Shares should carefully review all of the information contained in this Prospectus and 
should pay particular attention to the following risks associated with an investment in the 
Company and the Shares that should be considered together with all other information 
contained in this Prospectus. If one or more of the following risks were to arise, our business, 
financial condition, results of operations, prospects or the price of the Shares could be 
materially and adversely affected and investors could lose all or part of their investment. The 
risks set out below may not be exhaustive and do not necessarily include all of the risks 
associated with an investment in the Company and the Shares. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not currently known to the Company or which it currently deems immaterial 
may arise or become material in the future and may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition, prospects or the price of the 
Shares. 
 

 
Risks Related to Our Group’s Business 

 
The Group’s revenue is highly dependent on its operations in the UAE 
 
The Group’s operations are principally located in the UAE. The Group’s results of operations 
are, and are expected to continue to be, significantly affected by financial, economic and 
political developments in or affecting the UAE.  
 
In addition, the UAE is heavily dependent on revenue from oil and oil products, the prices 
for which are volatile. A significant and substantial drop in prices may directly affect 
government budget balances, increase the budget deficit and lead to austerity measures 
potentially directly affecting our business. For example, the UAE government may reduce 
costs and expenses, which may lead to cancelling or postponing the implementation of 
current and future contracts. Any adverse changes in the economy, market or political 
situations in the future, could negatively affect the UAE’s macro-economy and then the 
Group’s business, prospects, supply chain access, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 
If the UAE economy suffers a decline, this could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, prospects, supply chain access, financial condition and results of 
operations.  
 
 
The Group’s revenue is also dependent on its operations in other developing or 
emerging markets in Africa, Central Asia and Central America. 
 
While the Group’s operations are principally located in the UAE, the Group has acquired 
business internationally, with a focus on governments of developing and emerging markets 
in Africa, Central Asia and Central America. These countries experience, to varying degrees, 
political, economic and social instability with frequent changes in government. In addition to 
political, economic and social risks, project implementation may face challenges in respect 
of safety and security. Delays and disruptions to work are typical risks that may impact the 
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Company’s ability to succeed in getting paid on time or, in extreme scenarios, at all for works 
performed. Due to the relatively less industrial diversification in some of these countries, 
where dependency on the export of commodities forms a large part of government budgets, 
global commodity prices may have an impact on the customers’ ability to complete or renew 
existing projects. There may even be instances, where political instability may cause the 
imposition of international sanctions, which could render the continued performance of 
existing projects unfeasible. Further risks associated with developing and emerging markets 
where the Company is active include, without limitation: 
 

- an increase in inflation and government measures to curb such inflation, including 
through policies such as price controls; 
 

- governments’ actions or interventions, including tariffs, protectionism, foreign 
exchange and currency controls and subsidies; 

 
- regulatory and legal structure changes, including foreign ownership restrictions, 

cancellation of contractual rights, expropriation of assets and potential lack of 
certainty as to title to real estate property in certain jurisdictions where we 
operate; 

 
- changes to the availability of, requirements for, and cost to secure, employment 

and residence visas for expatriate staff and their dependents; 
 

- income and other taxation; 
 

- policies of nationalization of assets and requirements to employ local national 
employees;  

 
- difficulties and delays in obtaining new permits and consents for new 

operations or renewing existing permits; and 
 

- an inability to repatriate profits and/or dividends. 
 
Unexpected changes in these policies or regulations could lead to increased operating or 
compliance expenses and could have the effect of decreasing our competitiveness. Any 
such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, 
financial condition, and cash flows. 
 
 
The Group may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
The Group’s results of operations and cash flows may be subject to fluctuations due to 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the USD, Euro and 
AED. While we expect to enter into International contracts denominated in USD, there may 
be instances where contracts or portion of contracts may be denominated in the local 
currency of the country of operation. 
 
We will continually monitor our foreign currency exposure to determine if we should consider 
a hedging program. Some of the countries that we are operating in today or plan to operate 
in the future may have high foreign exchange volatility and liquidity risks, which may 
adversely impact the Group’s results. 
 
 
Adverse economic conditions or reduced technology spending may adversely impact 
our business. 
 
The Group’s business is dependent on the economic health of our current and prospective 
customers and overall demand for technology. In addition, the purchase of our platforms 
products and services is often discretionary and typically involves a significant commitment 
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of capital and other resources from our customers. A downturn in economic conditions, 
global political and economic uncertainty, a lack of availability of credit, a reduction in 
business confidence and activity, the curtailment of government or corporate spending, 
public health concerns or emergencies, financial market volatility, and other factors have in 
the past and may in the future affect the industries to which we sell our platforms and 
services. Accordingly, if the conditions in the general economy and the markets in which we 
operate worsen from present levels, our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations could be adversely affected. 

 
 
There is no guarantee that the Group’s existing contracts will be renewed upon expiry 
and, even if they are renewed, the terms could differ to those in the current contracts 

 
The Subsidiaries have entered into service contracts and framework agreements with 
governmental and private entities. Upon expiry of such contracts there is no guarantee that 
such contracts can be renewed and, if renewed, there is no guarantee that they will be 
renewed on terms similar to the current contracts. The Subsidiaries’ failure to renew any of 
these contracts or if they are renewed on terms less advantageous to the Group could have 
a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and 
results of operations. Due to the nature of the Group’s business that is based on deep 
relationships with clients spanning over multiple years offering cutting edge solutions, the 
Group serves a pool of high value contracts and high value revenue customers. Any decline 
in the business of the Subsidiaries’ clients can in turn impact the Group’s financial 
performance.  
 
 
We face competitive forces in the market place that may impact our growth 

 
Our competitors include enterprise software companies, cloud providers, government 
contractors, and system integrators. We also compete with companies that are new 
entrants’ companies as well as established companies. While we believe we generally 
compete favorably with our competitors, some of our competitors have greater brand 
recognition, longer operating histories, and larger customer bases; larger sales and 
marketing budgets and the capacity to leverage their sales efforts and marketing 
expenditures across a broader portfolio of products; broader, deeper, or otherwise more 
established relationships with technology, channel, and distribution partners and customers; 
wider geographic presence or greater access to larger potential customer bases; greater 
focus in specific geographies; lower labor and research and development costs; larger and 
more mature intellectual property portfolios; and substantially greater financial, technical, 
and other resources to provide support, to make acquisitions, and to develop and introduce 
new products. 
 
 
Our platforms are complex and may have a lengthy implementation process, and any 
failure of our platforms to satisfy our customers or perform as desired could harm 
our business, results of operations, and financial condition. 
 
Our scope of work typically include software platforms, equipment and services which are 
complex to deploy. Implementing our platforms and services can be a complex and lengthy 
process since we need to adapt to each customer’s unique data and network infrastructure 
environment. Any shortcomings in our ability to meet the unique needs of our customers 
may result in customer dissatisfaction and/or damage to our reputation, which could 
materially harm our business. Moreover, if our customers do not use our platforms correctly 
or as intended, inadequate performance or outcomes may result. It is possible that our 
platforms may also be intentionally misused or abused by customers or their employees or 
third parties who obtain access and use of our platforms. Because our customers rely on 
our platforms and services to achieve important goals and challenges, the incorrect or 
improper use or configuration of our platforms, may result in sub-optimal performance of the 
platform and consequently may result in contract terminations or non-renewals, reduced 
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customer payments, negative publicity, or legal claims against us.  
 
 

The Group may not successfully implement its growth strategy. 
 
Although the Group believes that it is well positioned to take advantage of the strong growth 
prospects of the technology market in the GCC region, there can be no assurance that the 
Group’s growth will be sustainable. The Group is subject to risks associated with its 
expansion and business strategy. Any failure of the Group to effectively manage its growth 
plans or improve capacity utilization of its assets could have a material adverse effect on its 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Group’s strategic vision is based on expanding product and solutions portfolio, as well 
as serving a more diversified client base across new geographies. Executing along all three 
of these dimensions requires a high level of strategic planning and operational excellence, 
both at the organizational and individual levels.  

 
Despite having experienced a remarkable growth across all financial metrics in the past few 
years, there can be no assurances that the Group’s revenues will continue to grow or will do 
so at the current rates.  

 
 

We may be involved in disputes and legal proceedings.  
 
In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to risks relating to legal and regulatory 
proceedings. Although we are currently not involved in any legal proceedings which we 
believe are material, we may be involved in material disputes, in the future, including those 
initiated by regulatory, competition and tax authorities as well as proceedings with 
competitors, suppliers, customers, employees and other parties. Our involvement in 
litigation and/or regulatory proceedings may result in the imposition of fines or penalties. 
Certain of these disputes may relate to key operational matters, such as our permits, and if 
determined adversely, could have a material adverse effect on our business. Any such 
disputes or legal proceedings, whether with or without merit, could be expensive and time 
consuming, could divert the attention of our management and, if resolved adversely to us, 
could harm our reputation, result in the payment of monetary damages, injunctive relief 
and/or increase our costs, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 
 
 
Our reputation and business may be impacted by news or social media coverage of 
the Group, including but not limited to coverage that presents, or relies on, 
inaccurate, misleading, incomplete, or otherwise damaging information. 
 
Information in the public domain regarding the Group is limited, due to the sensitivity of our 
work with customers or contractual requirements limiting or preventing public disclosure of 
certain aspects of our work or relationships with certain customers. As our business has 
grown and as interest in the Group may  increase and we may engage more actively with 
media and marketing efforts, and may attract, significant attention from news and social 
media outlets, including unfavorable coverage and coverage that is not directly attributable 
to statements authorized by our leadership, that incorrectly reports on statements made by 
our leadership or employees and the nature of our work, perpetuates unfounded speculation 
about company involvements, or that is otherwise misleading. If such news or social media 
coverage presents, or relies on, inaccurate, misleading, incomplete, or otherwise damaging 
information regarding the Group, such coverage could damage our reputation in the industry 
and with current and potential customers, employees, and investors, and our business, 
financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects could be adversely affected. 
Due to the sensitive nature of our work and our confidentiality obligations and despite our 
ongoing efforts to provide increased transparency into our business, operations, and product 
capabilities, we may be unable to or limited in our ability to respond to such harmful 
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coverage, which could have a negative impact on our business. 
Our relationships with government customers and customers that are engaged in certain 
sensitive industries, may result in public criticism, including from political and social activists, 
and unfavorable coverage in the media.  

 
 

We are not fully insured against all potential hazards and risks incident to our 
business. Therefore, our insurance coverage may not adequately cover our losses. 
 
If we were to incur significant liability for which we were not fully insured, it could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows. We are subject to various self-retentions, deductibles and limits under our insurance 
policies. The policies also contain exclusions and conditions that could have a material 
adverse impact on our ability to receive indemnification thereunder. Our policies will 
generally be renewed annually. As a result of market conditions, our premiums, self-
retentions and deductibles for certain insurance policies can increase substantially and, in 
some instances, certain insurance may become unavailable or available only for reduced 
amounts of coverage. In addition, significantly increased costs could lead us to decide to 
reduce, or possibly eliminate, coverage and undertake self-insurance. 

 
 

Natural disasters or health epidemics or pandemics, such as the current COVID-19 
pandemic, may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for our products or 
otherwise have an adverse impact on our business. 

 
The outbreak of infectious diseases, such as SARS-CoV-2 (“COVID-19”) in the Middle East 
could materially affect the economies and, in particular, the healthcare sectors in the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Following the outbreak of COVID-19, the 
governments of Dubai and Abu Dhabi implemented a range of precautionary containment 
measures in response to the outbreak, including travel restrictions or mandatory quarantine 
measures on international travellers and on residents within cities, regions or provinces of 
certain countries; and the temporary suspension of all flights (international and domestic) 
and inter-urban bus and taxi service. These measures required the Group to modify the 
way in which it operated its business to comply with new government regulations. In 
addition, the supply of certain international products purchased by the Group could be 
suspended, delayed or otherwise adversely affected. Furthermore, there can be no 
assurance that any containment measures (such as those outlined above) or any of the 
available vaccine programs would be effective in stopping or curtailing future outbreaks of 
COVID-19 or other infectious diseases. The occurrence of any of the foregoing risks could 
have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

 
 

Cybersecurity risks could result in disruptions in business operations and adverse 
operating results. 
 
We rely on information technology and computer control systems in many aspects of our 
business, including internal and external communications, the management of our 
accounting, financial and supply chain functions, and plant operations. Business and supply 
chain disruptions, plant and utility outages, and information technology system and network 
disruptions suffered by us or our suppliers due to cyber-attacks could seriously harm our 
operations and materially adversely affect our operating results. Cyber security risks 
include attacks on information technology and infrastructure by hackers, damage or loss of 
information due to viruses, the unintended disclosure of confidential information, the misuse 
or loss of control over computer control systems, and breaches due to employee error. Our 
exposure to cyber security risks includes exposure through third parties on whose systems 
we place significant reliance for the conduct of our business and exposure through third 
party suppliers whose systems may be vulnerable to cyber-attacks. We have implemented 
security procedures and measures in order to protect our systems and information from 
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being vulnerable to cyber-attacks, and we believe these measures and procedures are 
appropriate. However, we may not have the resources or technical sophistication to 
anticipate, prevent, or recover from rapidly evolving types of cyber-attacks. Compromises 
to our information and control systems could adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 

  
 

Deterioration of global market and economic conditions could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 
 
A slowdown of, or persistent weakness in, economic activity caused by a deterioration of 
global market and economic conditions could adversely affect our business in the following 
ways, among others: conditions in the credit markets could affect the ability of our 
customers and their customers to obtain sufficient credit to support their operations; the 
failure of our customers to fulfill their purchase obligations could result in increases in bad 
debts and impact our working capital; and the failure of certain key suppliers could increase 
our exposure to disruptions in supply or to financial losses.  
 
 
If we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel and skilled employees, we 
will be unable to operate efficiently, which could reduce our results of operations, and 
cash flows. 
 
Our ability to operate our business is dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified 
personnel, including specialist engineers and operators, technicians, and key management 
positions. Increase in the demand for qualified personnel in the markets in which we operate 
may result in us being unable to hire and retain a sufficient skilled labor force necessary to 
support our operating requirements and growth strategy. Our labor expenses may increase 
as a result of a shortage in the supply of skilled personnel and we may also be forced to 
incur significant training expenses if we are unable to hire employees with the requisite 
skills. Additionally, our businesses are managed by a number of key executive and 
operational officers and are dependent upon retaining and recruiting qualified 
management. Labor shortages, increased labor or training costs, or the loss of key 
personnel could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows. 

 
 

Risk Relating to Geographical, Political and Economic Conditions 
 

Governments in the MENA region have exercised and continue to exercise significant 
influence over their respective economies, and legal and regulatory systems in the 
MENA region, which may create an uncertain environment for investment and 
business activities. 
 
The governments in the MENA region, including the UAE, have frequently intervened in 
the economic policy of their respective countries. This intervention has included, but not 
been limited to, regulation of market conditions, including foreign investment, foreign trade 
and financial services. Any unexpected changes in the political, social, economic or other 
conditions in the MENA region or neighboring countries could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, supply chain access, financial condition, cash 
flows and prospects. 
 
These changes include: 
 

- an increase in inflation and government measures to curb such inflation, including 
through policies such as price controls; 
 

- governments’ actions or interventions, including tariffs, protectionism, foreign 
exchange and currency controls and subsidies; 
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- regulatory and legal structure changes, including foreign ownership restrictions, 

cancellation of contractual rights, expropriation of assets and potential lack of 
certainty as to title to real estate property in certain jurisdictions where we 
operate; 

 
- changes to the availability of, requirements for, and cost to secure, employment 

and residence visas for expatriate staff and their dependents; 
 

- income and other taxation; 
 

- policies of nationalization of assets and requirements to employ local national 
employees;  

 
- difficulties and delays in obtaining new permits and consents for new 

operations or renewing existing permits; and 
 

- an inability to repatriate profits and/or dividends. 
 
Unexpected changes in these policies or regulations could lead to increased operating or 
compliance expenses and could have the effect of decreasing our competitiveness. Any 
such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, 
supply chain access, financial condition, and cash flows. 

 
 

Changes in UAE tax laws or their application could materially adversely affect the 
Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations 
 
On 31 January 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance announced the introduction of a corporate 
income tax (the “CIT”) on business profits, which will come into effect for financial years 
starting on or after 1 June 2023 and will apply to the Group from 1 January 2024 (since the 
financial year for the Group is from 1 January to 31 December). The CIT will apply on 
adjusted accounting net profits above AED 375,000 and will apply at a standard statutory 
tax rate of 9 per cent to taxable profits in excess thereof. The UAE Ministry of Finance has 
further announced that companies with consolidated revenues exceeding EUR 750 million 
could be subject to a higher rate of CIT. Although not yet officially announced, it is anticipated 
that the UAE Ministry of Finance will align the higher rate with the global effective minimum 
tax rate introduced under Pillar 2 and the Global Anti-Base Erosion rules of 15 per cent. The 
UAE Federal Tax Authority will be responsible for administering, collecting and enforcing 
corporate tax in line with rules and regulations issued by the UAE Ministry of Finance.  
 
On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance published Federal Decree-Law No. 47 
of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (”CIT Law”). CIT Law provides the 
legislative framework for a federal corporate tax in the UAE on the net profits of corporations 
and other businesses. 
 
It is supplemented by 158 Frequently Asked Questions to initially provide further detail on 
specific matters pending publication of further formal guidance. As mentioned above, the 
CIT Law will be effective for financial periods starting on or after 1 June 2023. Since the 
Company has a financial year from 1 January to 31 December, the first CIT year for the 
Company will be effective from 1 January 2024.  
 
CIT shall be imposed on the taxable income of businesses at the following rates: 
• 0% on the portion of the taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000 (amount to be 

specified in a Cabinet Decision); 
• 9% on the taxable income that exceeds AED 375,000. 

 
The Corporate Tax Law introduces the concept of a “Qualifying Free Zone Person” 
(QFZP), which is broadly defined as a company or branch registered in a free zone that: 
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• Maintains adequate substance in the UAE 
• Derives qualifying income (to be specified through a Cabinet Decision) 
• Satisfies transfer pricing requirements 
• Meets any other conditions to be prescribed through a Cabinet Decision 
A QFZP can elect to forego this preferential regime and be subject to the standard CT rate. 
CIT shall be imposed on a Qualified Free Zone Person at the following rates: 
• 0% CT rate on qualifying income; 
• 9% on taxable income that is not Qualifying Income. 

 
The financial information of the Group presented in this Prospectus does not reflect the 
impact of the payment of CIT on the Group’s financial results, and is therefore not indicative 
of the impact of CIT (or any other tax regime) on the Group’s future results of operations. In 
addition, there can be no assurance that the UAE will not introduce further taxes imposed 
on corporations or UAE residents (as the UAE does not currently levy income tax on UAE 
residents), which could adversely affect the profitability of the Group and influence the way 
UAE residents choose to spend discretionary income, and therefore adversely affect the 
demand for certain of the Group’s services. The introduction of a corporate income tax or 
any other changes to taxation and tax laws in the UAE could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
 

Risks Relating to the Offering and to the Shares 
 
After the Offering, G42 will continue to be able to exercise control over the Company, 
its management and its operations. 
 
As at the date of this Prospectus, G42 holds 99% of our issued share capital and 
immediately following the Offering, G42 will continue to hold at least 75% provided that the 
Offer Shares are subscribed in full and no changes are made to the Offering. As a result, 
G42 will be able to exercise control over our management and operations and over matters 
requiring the consent of our shareholders, such as in relation to the payment of dividends 
and the election of the members of our Board of Directors and other matters. There can be 
no assurance that the interests of G42 will coincide with the interests of purchasers of the 
Shares. 
 
Furthermore, G42’s significant ownership of the Shares may: (i) delay or deter a change of 
control of the Company (including deterring a third party from making a takeover offer for 
the Company); (ii) deprive shareholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their 
Shares as part of a sale of the Company; and (iii) affect the liquidity of the Shares, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Shares. In addition, 
there may be circumstances where our businesses compete directly or indirectly with G42’s 
businesses, and G42 may take decisions with respect to those businesses that are adverse 
to the interests of our other shareholders. 
 
 
Substantial sales of Shares by G42 could depress the price of the Shares. 
 
Sales of a substantial number of Shares by G42 following the completion of the Offering 
may significantly reduce our share price. We are unable to predict whether substantial 
amounts of Shares (in addition to those which will be available in the Offering) will be sold 
in the open market following the completion of the Offering. Any sales of substantial 
amounts of Shares in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur, could 
materially and adversely affect the market price of the Shares. 
 
 
Future issuances of Shares may dilute the holdings of shareholders and may depress 
the price of the Shares. 
 
It is possible that we may decide to offer additional Shares or securities convertible into 
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Shares in the future, including in the form of stock-based compensation. Future sales could 
dilute the holdings of shareholders, adversely affect the prevailing market price of the 
Shares and impair our ability to raise capital through future sales of equity securities. 
 
 
The Offering may not result in an active or liquid market for the Shares, and trading 
prices of the Shares may be volatile and may decline. In addition, the ADX is 
significantly smaller in size than other established securities markets, which may 
also affect liquidity in the Shares. 
 
Prior to the Offering, there has been no public trading market for the Shares. We cannot 
guarantee that an active trading market will develop or be sustained following the 
completion of the Offering, or that the market price of the Shares will not decline thereafter 
below the offer price. The trading price of the Shares may be subject to wide fluctuations 
in response to many factors, as well as stock market fluctuations and general economic 
conditions or changes in political sentiment that may adversely affect the market price of the 
Shares, regardless of our actual performance or conditions in the UAE. 
 
These factors could generally decrease the liquidity and increase the volatility of share prices 
on the ADX, which in turn could increase the price volatility of the Shares and impair the 
ability of a holder of Shares to sell any Shares on the ADX in the desired amount and at 
the price and time achievable in more liquid markets. 
 
 
Because the Company is a holding company and substantially all of its operations 
are conducted through the Subsidiaries, the Company’s ability to pay dividends on 
the Shares depends on its ability to obtain cash dividends or other cash payments 
from Subsidiaries. 

 
The Company currently conducts all of its operations through its Subsidiaries, and the 
Subsidiaries generate substantially all of the operating income and cash flow of the 
Company. Because the Company has no direct operations or significant assets other than 
the capital stock in the Subsidiaries, the Company relies on the Subsidiaries for cash 
dividends, investment income, financing proceeds and other cash flows to pay dividends, if 
any, on the Shares and, in the long term, to pay other obligations at the holding company 
level that may arise from time to time.  

 
 
Following the Offering, the price of the Shares on the ADX may differ from the Offer 
Price and could be adversely affected by several factors 
 
The Offer Price may not be indicative of the price at which the Shares will be traded on the 
ADX following completion of the Offering. Investors may not be able to resell the Offer 
Shares at or above the Offer Price or may not be able to sell them at all. The price of shares 
on the ADX following the Offering may be adversely affected by several factors, including, 
but not limited to, the following: 
 

- negative fluctuations in the Group’s operating performance and improved 
performance of its competitors; 

 
- actual or anticipated fluctuations in quarterly or annual operating results; 

 
- securities analysts publishing research reports about the Group or its competitors 

or the technology service sector; 
 

- the public reaction to the Group’s press statements and other public 
announcements; 

 
- the Group or its competitors being contrary to analysts’ expectations; 
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- resignation of key employees; 

 
- the Group or its competitors taking important and strategic decisions or existence 

of changes in the business strategy; 
 

- regulatory environment changes affecting the Group; and 
 

- changes in accounting regulations and policies adopted. 
 
 
We may not pay any cash dividends on the Shares. Consequently, you may not 
receive any return on investment unless you sell your Shares for a price greater than 
that which you paid for them. 
 
While we intend to pay dividends in respect of the Shares, there can be no assurance that 
we will do so. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the 
discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on, among other things, applicable laws 
and regulations, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, 
restrictions, our future projects and plans and other factors that our Board of Directors may 
deem relevant. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in the Shares 
unless you sell your Shares for a price greater than that which you paid for them. See 
“Dividend Policy”.  
 
 
UAE Taxation 
 
The following comments are general in character and are based on the current applicable 
tax regime in the UAE and the current practice of the UAE authorities as at the date of this 
Prospectus. The comments do not purport to be a comprehensive analysis of all the tax 
consequences applicable to all types of shareholders and do not relate to any taxation 
regime outside the UAE. Each shareholder is responsible for its own tax position and, 
if you are in any doubt as to your own tax position, you should seek independent 
professional advice without delay. 
 

 
Taxation of purchase of Offer Shares 
 
Completion of the Offering is likely to be characterized for UAE tax purposes as a purchase 
of Offer Shares by the shareholders. If a shareholder is a tax resident outside the UAE 
and/or is subject to tax in another jurisdiction, the Offering may be characterized differently 
and may be subject to tax in that other jurisdiction. 
There are no taxes in the UAE on the purchase of Offer Shares. Accordingly, the purchase 
of Offer Shares should not result in any UAE tax liabilities for shareholders who are 
individuals or corporations registered in the UAE. Non-UAE tax residents, or dual tax 
residents, individuals and corporations, may be subject to taxation in jurisdictions outside 
the UAE with respect to the ownership of, or income derived in connection with, the Offer 
Shares based on local tax regulations. 
 
 
Taxation of dividends and capital gains on sale 
 
Based on the tax practice within the UAE outlined above, the purchase of Offer Shares 
should not result in any UAE corporate tax and transfer tax liabilities for shareholders who 
are individuals or corporations registered in the UAE, provided they are not subject to 
corporate tax in the UAE by virtue of them being a foreign oil company or branch of a foreign 
bank. Non-UAE tax residents, or dual tax residents, individuals and corporations, may be 
subject to taxation in jurisdictions outside the UAE with respect to the ownership of, or 
income derived in connection with, the Offer Shares based on local tax regulations. 
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Based on the same principles outlined above, UAE resident shareholders who are not 
subject to tax in the UAE or jurisdictions outside the UAE (both corporate and individual) 
should not currently be taxed on the receipt of dividend income and gains on the future sale 
of the Offer Shares. 
Shareholders who are subject to tax in the UAE by virtue of being a foreign oil company or 
branch of a foreign bank, or tax resident in jurisdictions outside the UAE, as well as 
shareholders who are tax residents in the UAE but also subject to tax in jurisdictions outside 
the UAE (both corporate and individual), should consult their own tax advisers as to the 
taxation of dividend income and gains on the future sale of the Offer Shares under the 
relevant applicable local laws in those jurisdictions. 
There is currently no withholding tax in the UAE and as such, any dividend payments made 
by the Company should be made free of any UAE or Abu Dhabi withholding tax, unless the 
applicable tax regime changes. 
 
 
UAE VAT 
 
The UAE has adopted an Excise Tax on selected goods, which was effective on 1 
October 2017, and implemented VAT, which was effective on 1 January 2018. The Excise 
Tax Laws and Regulations impose a 50% tax on carbonated beverages and a 100% tax on 
tobacco products and energy drinks. On 27 August 2017, the VAT Law was published on the 
website of the Federal Tax Authority. The executive regulations of the VAT Law were issued 
on 28 November 2017 under Cabinet Decision No. (52) of Federal Decree Law No. (8). The 
Executive Regulations of VAT Law provide more details about the supply of products and 
services are subject to VAT and which are zero-rated or exempted; the Executive 
Regulations of the VAT Law outline the conditions and parameters of such VAT treatment. 
The GCC VAT Framework Agreement, which is a country level agreement between all the 
GCC states, sets out broad principles that should be followed by all the GCC countries in 
their VAT Laws while providing individual member states some discretion to adopt a different 
VAT treatment in respect of certain matters. Each GCC country will enact its own domestic 
VAT legislation based on the underlying principles in this common framework. VAT applies 
on the sale of goods and services in the UAE and on imports into the UAE. VAT will apply 
at the standard rate. The standard VAT rate in the UAE is 5%. Unless the supply of goods 
and services falls within a category that is specifically exempt or is subject to the zero rate 
of VAT. 
 
The mandatory registration threshold is AED 375,000 and the voluntary registration 
threshold is AED 187,500. Businesses must register for VAT if they have annual turnover 
that exceeds the mandatory registration threshold (or if it is anticipated that total value of 
supplies will exceed it in the next thirty days) and an option to register for VAT is available 
if the taxable supply and imports are below the mandatory registration threshold but exceed 
the voluntary registration threshold. The supply of goods or services by VAT registered 
businesses will be subject to VAT at either the standard rate or zero rate. Businesses are 
entitled to claim a credit for VAT paid on their purchases if they relate to a supply that is 
standard rated or zero-rated. However, any VAT incurred in connection with a supply that 
is exempt from VAT cannot be reclaimed. 
Article 42 of the Executive Regulations outlines the scope of financial services classified as 
exempt and, on this basis, no VAT would be applied on any transfer of Offer Shares. 
However, it should be noted that fees relating to the transfer of ownership of Offer Shares 
would be standard rated at 5%. 
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Third Section: Financial disclosures 
 
Summary of Company’s Financial Statements and a Summary of Key Notes and Key Financial 
Indicators as of and for the two Years Ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 

 
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements, including 
the notes thereto, included in this Prospectus as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2022. Investors should also read certain risks associated with the purchase of Offer Shares in the 
section entitled “Investment Risks”.  
 
EBITDA is a Non-IFRS measure and was calculated by the Company based on data derived from the 
Company’s Financial Statements. 
 
The selected financial information set forth below shows our historical financial information and other 
operating information as at and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 The financial 
information set forth below under the captions ‘‘Statement of Comprehensive Income Data”, ‘‘Statement of 
Financial Position Data”, ‘‘Statement of Cash Flows Data” and “Other Financial Information” has been derived 
from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Prospectus.  
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
At 31 December 2022 
 
  2022 2021 
 Notes USD’000 USD’000 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property and equipment 5  943   632  
Intangible assets 6  35   -    
Right-of-use assets 7  5,170   5,867  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total non-current assets   6,148   6,499  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 8  256,797   81,591  
Contract assets 9  118,895   103,680  
Due from related parties 10  -     322,058  
Bank balances 11  50   1,625  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total current assets   375,742   508,954  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total assets   381,890   515,453  
                                                
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Equity    
Share capital 12  50   -    
Retained earnings   177,005   320,539  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company   177,055   320,539  
Non-controlling interest (NCI) 17  31,998   -    
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total equity   209,053   320,539  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Non-current liabilities    
Employees’ end of service benefits 13  2,204   1,525  
Lease liabilities 14  3,134   2,016  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total non-current liabilities   5,338   3,541  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15  90,985   180,437  
Lease liabilities 14  2,235   3,727  
Contract liabilities 16  2,474   7,209  
Due to related parties 10  71,805   -    
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total current liabilities   167,499   191,373  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total liabilities   172,837   194,914  
  ––––––––––– ––––––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities   381,890   515,453  
                                                
    

 



 

 55/73  
 

 
 
  

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December 2022 
 
  2022 2021 
 Notes USD’000 USD’000 
    
Revenue 18  422,587   363,234  
Direct costs 19  (156,746)  (225,027) 
                                               
    
Gross profit   265,841   138,207  
General, administrative and marketing expenses 20 (117,990)  (45,806) 
Other income   -  3,110  
                                               
    
Profit for the year 22  147,851   95,511  

    
Other comprehensive income  - - 
                                               
    
Total comprehensive income for the year   147,851   95,511  
                                               
 
Profit attributable to:    
Owners of the Company   115,853   95,511  
Non-controlling interest 17  31,998   -  

                                               
    
   147,851   95,511  
                                               
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
Owners of the Company   115,853   95,511  
Non-controlling interest 17  31,998   -    

                                               
    
   147,851   95,511  
                                               
    

Basic and diluted earnings per share 23 63 52 
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  Consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2022 
 
  2022 2021 
 Note

s 
USD’000 USD’000 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit for the year   147,851   95,511  
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation of property and equipment 5  408   1,959  
Amortization of intangible assets 6   9  6,790  
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7  1,719   488  
Provision for expected credit loss 8  308   426  
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 13  1,375   725  
Finance expenses  145 49 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Operating cash flows before movements in 
 working capital changes                                                                             

  
 151,815  

 
 105,948  

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables   (175,514)  81,539  
Increase in contract assets   (15,215)  (90,290) 
Decrease in due from related parties    321,666    42,397  
Decrease in contract liabilities   (4,735)  (77,038) 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables     (89,452)   64,431   
Increase/(decrease) in due to related parties  15,750   (122,298) 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash generated from operating activities  204,315     4,689  
Employees’ end of service benefits paid  13  (304)  (536) 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash from operating activities  204,011  4,153  
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payment for acquisition of property and equipment 5  (719)  (545) 
Payment for acquisition of intangible asset 6  (44)  (1,359) 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash used in investing activities   (763)  (1,904) 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Issue of share capital   50   -    
Payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities 14  (1,541)  (661) 
Dividends  21 (203,332) - 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash used in financing activities     (204,823)  (661) 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents  

  (1,575)  1,588  

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year 

  1,625   37  

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
(note 12) 

  50   1,625  

                                            
    
Non-cash transactions:    
Transfer of net assets from a related party 28 -  114,904  
Transfer of provision of employees’ end of service 

benefits to a related party 
 

13 
 

 (392) 
 

 - 
Dividend settled against due from related parties 21 (203,332) - 
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Dividend Policy 
 
The Company’s ability to pay dividends is dependent on a number of factors, including: 
 
• the availability of distributable reserves and our capital expenditure plans and other cash 

requirements in future periods; 
 
• market conditions and the then current operating environment in our markets; 
 
• the Board’s outlook for our business; 
 
• future profits and our business plan (including our ability to perform in accordance with the 

expectations in our business plan); 
 
• the discretion of our Board; and 

 
• approval of any dividend payment at a general meeting of our Shareholders. 
 
The guidance provided above is based on our current business plan and targets. However, there is 
no assurance that we will pay any of the dividends described above or going forward or, if a dividend 
is paid, what the amount of such dividend will be. 
 
 
Material events and contracts concluded by the Company (including related party 
agreements) 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enter into transactions, with other business 
enterprises or individuals that fall within the definition of related parties contained in International 
Accounting Standard 24 (Revised). The Group have a related party relationship with the Government 
of Abu Dhabi, directors and executive officers (including business entities over which they can 
exercise significant influence, or which can exercise significant influence over the Group). 
 
The Group have elected to use the exemption under IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ for 
Government related entities on disclosing transactions and related outstanding balances with 
government related parties owned by the Government of Abu Dhabi and entities it owns and controls. 
The Group provide services in the normal course of business to entities owned and controlled by the 
Government of Abu Dhabi. 
 

 
Significant transactions with related parties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss include 
the following: 

 
2022 2021 

 USD’000 
USD’000 

   
 Revenue (note 18)  347,932   362,634  
                                           
   
Staff cost and allowances (notes 19 and 20) 40,268  52,360  

                                           
   
Support services and manpower fee* (note 20) 31,046  15,731  

                                           

Significant transactions with related parties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss include the 
following: 

 2022 2021 
 USD’000 USD’000 

   

 Revenue (note 18)  347,932   362,634  
                                           
   
Staff cost and allowances (notes 19 and 20) 40,268  52,360  

                                           
   
Support services and manpower fee* (note 20) 31,046  15,731  

                                           
   
Transfer of employees’ end of service benefits (net) (note 13)  (392) -  

                                           
   
Sub-contractor costs and project consumables (note 19)  115,095    69,699 

                                           
   
Dividend declared (note 21) 259,387  -    

                                           
   
Overhead allocation (note 20) 23,004  -    

                                           
   
Issue of share capital (note 12)  50   -    

                                           
   
Transfer of net assets from a related party (note 28)  -  114,904  
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Transfer of employees’ end of service benefits (net) (note 13)  (392) -  

                                           
   
Sub-contractor costs and project consumables (note 19)  115,095    69,699 

                                           
   
Dividend declared (note 21) 259,387  -    

                                           
   
Overhead allocation (note 20) 23,004  -    

                                           
   
Issue of share capital (note 12)  50   -    

                                           
   
Transfer of net assets from a related party (note 28)  -  114,904  

                                           
 
 
Material Contracts 
 
Non-exhaustive and selected contracts concluded by the Group with customers: 
 

Contract Subsidiary 
Price in ‘000 

AED 
Video Analytics and AI-
Project  

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          1,209,252  

AI Analytics Platform 
Project 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC              798,769  

Cloud Services for Video 
Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

             642,857  

Preventive and Corrective 
Maintenance Contract for 
Video Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

             342,857  

Analytics AI Platform Presight AI Limited              273,000  
Safe Nations and AI 
Program 

Presight AI Limited              220,350  

EXPO2020  G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

             192,586  

Analytics AI Platform  Presight AI Limited                89,976  
IT infrastructure Managed 
Services Video Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

               85,714  

Connectivity Provision for 
Video Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

               85,714  

Al Analytics and Auditing 
Platform Project 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC                83,140  

Taxi Cameras for Video 
Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

               58,908  

Al Data Analytics Services 
Project 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC                14,286  

Data Engineering Services 
Project 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC                 7,000  
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Group’s key contracts with vendors include:  
 

Contract Subsidiary 
Price in ‘000 

AED 
Preventive and Corrective 
Maintenance for Video 
Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

        312,032  

IT infrastructure Managed 
Services for Video 
Analytics 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          56,505  

Law Enforcement Analytics 
Platform 

Presight AI           45,906  

Taxi Cameras for Video 
Analytics  

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          42,158  

TSI - TAYCAN G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          19,870  

Command Centre 
Hardware, Software and 
Services 

Presight AI           17,018  

Smart Nation's office fit-out G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          15,675  

Video Analytics 
Maintenance  

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          14,797  

PSIM Software and 
services 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

          14,519  

Cybersecurity platform G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC             9,980  
Financial Risk management 
platform 

G42 Sky1 Technology Projects LLC             6,228  

Tahaluf G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

            5,294  

Video Analytics 
Connectivity 

G42 Smart Nation Technology Projects 
L.L.C  

            5,124  
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Fourth Section: Other details 
 
1. Mechanism for adopting a governance system in the Company 
 
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to standards of corporate governance that are in 
line with international best practice. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company complies, and 
intends to comply, with the corporate governance requirements of the ADX listing and disclosure 
rules.  
 
In this Prospectus, the corporate governance rules applicable to the Company and the governance 
and board composition policy are collectively referred to as the ("Governance Rules"). 
 
2. The Company’s proposed management structure  
 
Company’s Board structure 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company consists of five (5) Directors. A list of the current Directors 
of the Company is provided below.  
 

Name Position Year of appointment 

H.E. Mansoor Al Mansoori Chairman 2023 

Prof. Eric Xing Vice-Chairman 2023 

Mr. Kiril Evtimov Director 2023 

Mr. Abdulla Rashed Alrashdi Director 2023 

Ms. Hamda Eid Almheiri Director 2023 
 
 
The management expertise and experience of each of the Directors is set out below. 
 
H.E. Mansoor Al Mansoori  
Chairman of the Board  
 
H.E. Mansoor Al Mansoori is a member of Abu Dhabi Executive Council and the Chairman of the 
Department of Health in Abu Dhabi.  
 
H.E. Mansoor is a prominent leader with a diverse range of professional experiences in senior 
leadership positions across government and private sector including telecommunications, energy, 
and technology with a proven track record of setting up strategies, building institutional structures 
and capabilities, and implementing performance-based management systems. 
 
As the Group Chief Operating Officer of G42, H.E. Mansoor was responsible for the Group and 
operating businesses’ strategic partnerships, innovation, capacity building, business efficiencies and 
transformation, revenue optimization, brand development, organizational culture and the 
development of future leaders of G42. 
 
During his tenure at G42, he was actively involved in the UAE National Covid-19 pandemic response. 
As Chairman of Bayanat, he led the company’s public listing at ADX, in what was G42's first IPO 
and the world's best trading debut of 2022, as reported by Bloomberg. 
 
Prior to joining G42, Al Mansoori served as Director General of the UAE National Media Council 
from 2015 to 2020 and was responsible for transforming the Council’s offerings across regulatory 
services, media policies, UAE’s national media wire services and strategic communications, 
resulting in the UAE National Media Council winning the Government Excellence Award as the Most 
Improved Entity in 2018. Al Mansoori contributed towards UAE’s brand and reputation management, 
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locally, regionally, and internationally and introduced policies and frameworks to further the country’s 
media and digital communication capabilities and foster innovation and development for the industry. 
 
Al Mansoori held several board positions in the past, including Abu Dhabi Tourism and Culture 
Authority and Telecommunication Regulatory Authority. Al Mansoori is currently Chairman of Injazat, 
Board of Trustees at MBZUAI and serves as a Board Member of Etisalat and Multiply Group. 
 
A voracious reader and public speaker on digital transformation and the management of change, Al 
Mansoori was also selected as Counselor alongside Canadian Prime Minister Justin Trudeau and 
Duchess of Sussex at the 2019 Young World Summit in London where he delivered a keynote on 
“The New Age of Conversation”. During his studies at the National Defense College (UAE), Al 
Mansoori was in the first cohort to receive the Master's degree in Strategic Security Studies and 
National Resources Management. A University of Toledo (Ohio, USA) graduate in Computer 
Science, Al Mansoori holds several specialized certificates including a Leadership Certificate from 
London Business School (UK), Innovation Strategy Leadership from Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology (MIT). 
 
 
Prof. Eric Xing 
Vice Chairman of the Board 
 
Eric P. Xing is the President and University Professor of the Mohamed bin Zayed University of 
Artificial Intelligence, a Professor of Computer Science at Carnegie Mellon University, and the 
Founder and Chairman of Petuum Inc., a 2018 World Economic Forum Technology Pioneer 
company that builds standardized artificial intelligence development platform and operating system 
for broad and general industrial AI applications.  
 
He completed his first PhD in Molecular Biology and Biochemistry at Rutgers University, and a 
second Ph.D. in Computer Science at UC Berkeley. His main research interests are the development 
of machine learning and statistical methodology; and composable, automatic, and scalable 
computational systems, for solving problems involving automated learning, reasoning, and decision-
making in artificial, biological, and social systems. His pioneering work in system for machine 
learning has laid the foundation of current practice of training large-scale AI models on distributed 
computers, and his recent focus has been on improving energy efficiency of AI computing and 
developing AI systems for drug design and precision healthcare.  
 
Prof. Xing currently serves or has served the following roles: associate editor of the Journal of the 
American Statistical Association (JASA), Annals of Applied Statistics (AOAS), and IEEE Journal of 
Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence (PAMI); action editor of the Machine Learning Journal 
(MLJ) and Journal of Machine Learning Research (JMLR); and a board member of the International 
Machine Learning Society and General Chair of ICML.  
 
He is a Fellow of the Association of Advancement of Artificial Intelligence (AAAI), the Institute of 
Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), the American Statistical Association (ASA), and the 
Association for Computing Machinery (ACM).  
  
Mr. Kiril Evtimov 
Board Member 
 
Kiril Evtimov is a seasoned technology and business leader with global experience across start-ups 
and Fortune 500 companies. Throughout his career, Kiril has been successful in delivering cutting-
edge cloud, analytical, and decision support products, as well as massively scalable data platforms. 
His contributions have spanned a range of industries, including healthcare, financial services, and 
technology, leading to clients’ success and significant business impact. 
  
Kiril is a technology advisor for Group42. He is also a co-founder, board member and CEO of 
FairSignals Inc. In the past, he has held leadership roles in Teradata, MicroStrategy, and eBay. 
  
As CEO of FairSignals, Kiril has a broad range of responsibilities, including - vision setting, financial 
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management, product development, people management, and leading all externally facing 
interactions for the financial technology startup. 
  
Previously, as Teradata’s Vice President and General Manager of Unified Data Architecture Platform 
Technologies, he was responsible for establishing the strategic direction and leading the execution 
efforts of the analytical ecosystem research and development organization. In this capacity, he 
oversaw a vast portfolio of over 30 software products, ranging from well-established and widely used 
to emerging and cloud-based products. 
  
As Vice President of Program Management at MicroStrategy, Kiril focused on ideation, viability 
analysis, research and design of next generation on-premises and cloud analytical capabilities. 
  
Prior to that, Kiril spent over 13 years in Silicon Valley, California. At eBay, Kiril held various technical 
management roles supporting eBay, PayPal, StubHub, Skype and Classified businesses. As 
Director of Analytics Platform Engineering and Architecture, he was responsible for implementing 
corporate-wide analytical self-service capabilities, business intelligence, and collaborative platforms. 
He also pioneered in the field of cyber fraud prevention, as well as led the efforts to establish 
customer support, and trust and safety data management practice. 
  
In the past, Kiril consulted several notable companies, including Intuitive Surgical, Extreme 
Networks, and was a member of Tableau Software's Customer Advocacy Board on their quests for 
technology innovation, establishing data and digital transformation strategies, optimizing sales and 
distribution models. 
  
Kiril graduated from Technical University, Bulgaria with a MS degree in Electronics Engineering. 
 
  
Mr. Abdulla Rashed Alrashdi 
Board Member 
 
Abdulla Al Rashidi is CEO of Tamouh Healthcare. He has an MBA in finance and administration 
from Abu Dhabi University. 
 
Abdulla joined Tamouh Health Care in 2019 bringing an extensive executive experience in a variety 
of official entities from Abu Dhabi Police General Headquarters to Abu Dhabi Authority of Culture 
and Heritage and the Federal Government. Abdulla has successfully led Tamouh Healthcare’s 
efforts to monitor and curb the Covid pandemic. 
 
 
Ms. Hamda Eid Almheiri  
Board Member 
 
As a Director, Hamda Eid AlMheiri heads the Government Affairs function for ADQ, an Abu Dhabi-
based investment and holding company.  
 
In her role, Hamda is responsible for the organization’s interactions with senior government 
stakeholders on the local, state, and federal level, ensuring that there is a robust strategic framework 
in place to guide all initiatives and engagements. She also holds authority over ADQ’s collaboration 
with industry advocates, aiming to leverage areas of joint interest, and oversees the continuous 
monitoring of relevant government activities globally. In a prior position at ADQ, Hamda led the 
Corporate Planning and Performance Department which forms part of the Strategy function. 
 
Hamda’s professional track record includes roles with the Abu Dhabi Executive Office as a Project 
Manager in charge of financial policy and efficiency and the General Secretariat of the Executive 
Council of Abu Dhabi as a Financial Policy and Efficiency Specialist. Previously, Hamda served as 
Manager Commercial Analyst for Strategy and Planning at Etihad Airways.  
 
She is a holder of Corporate Director Certificate from Harvard Business School and a Georgetown 
Leadership Seminar alumni. She is licensed diver, a fan of discovering new art perspectives and 
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cultural inspirations. 
 
 
Senior Management 
 
In addition to the members of the Board of Directors, the day-to-day management of the 
Company’s is conducted by our senior management team, as follows: 
 
 
 

Name Position Year of 
appointment 

Year of joining the Group 
or its affiliates 

Thana Pramotedham Chief Executive Officer 2023 2021 

Dr. Adel Alsharji Chief Operating Officer 2023 2021 

Xiaodong Zhou Chief Technology Officer 2023 2015 

Ram Meyoor Chief Financial Officer 2023 2021 

Xiaoyin Yang Chief Solutions Officer 2023 2015 

Rashed AlKouk Chief Corporate Officer 2023 2020 

 
The management expertise and experience of each of the senior management team is set out 
below: 
 
 
Thana (Thomas) Pramotedham 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
A digital transformation leader and technology advocate who has supported and driven government 
smart city initiatives in Asia, Thomas now leads the Group. With a focus on creating nation-building 
partnerships in the Middle East, Central Asia and Africa, through enabling capabilities and joining G42 
on their journey to supporting UAE’s digital transformation.  
 
In a career spanning two decades, Thomas has held management and thought-leadership positions 
across Asia, always focusing on leveraging technology to solve real-world problems. Before moving to 
UAE, he was the CEO of Esri Singapore, a world-leader in Geospatial Technology and a key partner 
in driving Singapore’s successful Smart Nation programs. 
 
 
Dr. Adel Al Sharji 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
Primarily responsible for company operations, Dr. Adel brings over 25 years of experience to the 
Group. His expertise and in-depth knowledge of AML, auditing, and anti-corruption are concentrated 
on developing and delivering technology-driven financial AI products and solutions, offering 
exceptional customer service.  
 
Before joining the G42 in 2021, Dr. Adel worked in civil services and has a doctorate in business 
administration. He is passionate about using financial technology to create safer societies.   
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Xiaodong Zhou 
Chief Technology Officer 
 
A technology-savvy engineer at heart, Xiaodong become a data science and AI evangelist. He 
strongly believes today’s big data environment will expedite data science and become the foundation 
for advancing AI technologies. As Chief Technology Officer, his mission is to develop a technology 
framework and AI strategy in modern-day analytical fields and learn and adopt the latest 
technologies to bring out its real business value.  
 
He has been working closely with UAE government since 2015 to advance their data analytics 
capabilities, focusing on big data analysis, cloud adoption and data science. He has over 17 years 
of experience working in the telecom, financial and software industries, including MicroStrategy 
which focused on data analysis platforms and applications.   
 
 
Ram Meyoor 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Ram leads the finance organization of the Group, and is responsible for operational and financial 
strategy, enabling top-line growth organically and through business combinations, margin 
expansion, fiscal prudence and governance.  
 
Ram has more than two decades of experience and has held several finance positions with Motorola 
Solutions across MENA, India, APAC, and U.S. where he was instrumental in building the financial 
capabilities of the organization. Ram holds a bachelor’s degree in Engineering, a master’s degree 
in Science, and an MBA from the U.S 
 
Xiaoyin Yang 
Chief Solutions Officer 
 
Xiaoyin works closely with R&D, Sales, and Delivery teams to design and build new products, 
services, and solution verticals to serve key clients and Presight’s business strategy goals. 
 
She has worked in the Big-Data Analytics and BI industry in North America and the Middle East for 
over 20 years, with in-depth industry knowledge to align operational processes and product road 
mapping and serving key clients and business strategy needs.  
 
 
Rashed AlKouk 
Chief Corporate Officer 
 
Rashed AlKouk primarily focuses on Corporate Governance, Enterprise Risk, Mergers & 
Acquisitions, and Administration. His secondarily focuses on Strategic Planning and People 
Culture Management.  
 
Previously, Rashed served in multiple organizations in the field of investment and contributed to 
significant exposure and overall growth. He has a diverse range of professional experience in 
leadership positions across various sectors. His business operations experience has been focused 
on improving external strategic partnerships, maintaining business efficiencies, and optimizing 
revenues. 
 
 
 
Company’s Organization Chart 
 
Please refer to Annex 4. 
 
 
Employment positions of senior executives in the Company’s Subsidiaries and other public 
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joint stock companies  
 
The Company’s senior executives are also part of the executive management of the Subsidiaries.  
 
 
Conditions of eligibility, election, removal and proposed names of the Company’s first 
Board formation 
 
Board members will be elected by the shareholders in a general meeting through a cumulative voting. 
The Board of Directors was appointed by G42 for a period of 3 years and may be reelected by the 
Shareholders at the third annual General Assembly of the Shareholders.  
 
If a position becomes vacant during the term of the Board, then a replacement may be appointed in 
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association. Any such replacement 
shall serve the remaining term of the director who vacated her or his or her position. 
 
Director’s competencies and responsibilities: 
 
The principal duties of the Board are to provide the Company’s strategic leadership, to determine 
the fundamental management policies of the Company and to oversee the performance of the 
Company’s business. The Board is the principal decision-making body for all matters that are 
significant to the Company, whether in terms of their strategic, financial or reputational implications. 
The Board has final authority to decide on all issues save for those which are specifically reserved 
to the general meeting of Shareholders by law or by the Company’s Articles of Association. 
 
The key responsibilities of the Board include: 
 
• determining the Company’s strategy, budget and structure; 
 
• approving the fundamental policies of the Company; 
 
• implementing and overseeing appropriate financial reporting procedures, risk 

management policies and other internal and financial controls; 
 

• proposing the issuance of new ordinary shares and any restructuring of the Company; 
 
• appointing executive management; 

 
• determining the remuneration policies of the Company and ensuring the independence of 

Directors and that potential conflicts of interest are managed; and 
 
• calling Shareholder meetings and ensuring appropriate communication with Shareholders. 

 
3. Board Committees 
 
The Board has established two permanent committees – an Audit and Risk Committee and a 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (each of which will be subject to the composition 
requirements of the Governance Rules). If the need should arise, and subject to the Articles of 
Association, the Board may set up additional committees as appropriate. In accordance with the 
Governance Rules, the Chairman is not permitted to be a member of either the Audit and Risk 
Committee or the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Set forth below are the mandates of each of the committees of the Board as of the date of the Listing 
of the Company. 
 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to 
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financial reporting, external and internal audits and controls, including reviewing and monitoring the 
integrity of our financial statements, reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit work 
undertaken by external auditors, advising on the appointment of external auditors, overseeing the 
relationship with our external auditors, reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process, 
and reviewing the effectiveness of our internal control review function. The ultimate responsibility 
for reviewing and approving the annual report and accounts remains with the Board. The Audit and 
Risk Committee will give due consideration to the applicable laws and regulations of the UAE, the 
ADGM, the SCA and the ADX. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee charter requires that the Audit and Risk Committee must comprise 
at least two members who are Non-Executive Directors and at least two of its members must be 
independent Directors. In addition, at least one member is required to have practical audit and 
accounting experience. The Audit Committee will be chaired by one of the independent members 
and will include other members elected by the Board members from time to time. The Audit 
Committee will meet not less than four times per year. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee will take appropriate steps to ensure that the Company’s external 
auditors are independent of the Company as required by applicable law.  
 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board in setting and overseeing the 
nomination and remuneration policies in respect of the Board, any committees of the Board and 
senior management. In such capacity, it is responsible for evaluating the hiring of the Company’s 
executive management, evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board 
and committees of the Board and, in particular, monitoring the independent status of the 
independent Directors. It is also responsible for periodically reviewing the Board’s structure and 
identifying, where relevant, potential independent candidates to be appointed as Directors or 
committee members as the need may arise. In addition, and subject to the Articles, the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee assists the Board in determining its responsibilities in relation to 
remuneration, including making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy on 
executive remuneration, setting the over-arching principles, parameters and governance framework 
of our remuneration policy and determining the individual remuneration and benefits package of our 
senior management. 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee must be comprised of at least two Non-
Executive Directors, and at least two of the members must be independent, in each case within the 
meaning of those terms in the Governance Rules. The chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee must be chosen from amongst the independent committee members. The 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year, and otherwise from time to 
time based on the Company’s requirements. 
 
 
4. Articles of Association 
 
The full text of the Articles of Association of the Company is annexed to the Prospectus. 
 
 
5. Legal matters 
 
The following is a summary of the legal matters that will apply to the Company following its Listing. 
The legal matters listed below must be read in light of the provisions of the Company’s Articles of 
Association (which are set out in Annex 2 of this Prospectus). 
 
 
• Articles of Association 
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The Company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Regulations describe the rights 
and obligations associated with the ownership of the Shares in detail. 

 
 
• Attending General Meeting and voting rights 
 

Each Shareholder shall have the right to attend the General Meeting and shall have a 
number of votes equal to the number of their Shares (other than in relation to the election 
of directors, where Shareholders shall have an additional number of votes in accordance 
with the cumulative voting system set out in the Articles). 

 
 
• Share register 
 

Upon listing on the ADX, the Shares will be dematerialized and the share register will be 
maintained by the ADX. 

 
 
• Financial information 
 

A Shareholder is entitled to request a copy of the annual audited financial statements of 
the Company. 

 
 
• Financial year 
 

The financial year of the Company will start on the 1st of January and end on 31st of 
December of each year. 

 
 
• Dividends and liquidation proceeds 
 

The Company shall pay dividends on Shares in compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations applicable to the Company. Shareholders shall have the sole right to the 
distributable profits due on those Shares. In the event of liquidation of the Company, each 
Shareholder shall be entitled to a part of the Company’s assets in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association and applicable law and regulation in the ADGM. 

 
 
• General Meeting 
 

An annual general meeting shall be held in accordance with the Companies Regulations, 
at such place or places (including electronic platforms), date and time as may be decided 
by the Directors. 

 
The Directors may, whenever they think fit, call a general meeting. The Directors are required 
to call a general meeting once the Company has received requests from its Shareholders to 
do so in accordance with the Companies Regulations. The Directors shall determine 
whether a general meeting is to be held as a physical general meeting or an electronic 
general meeting. 

 
Notice of general meetings shall include all information required to be included under the 
Companies Regulations and shall be given to all members other than those members who 
are not entitled to receive such notices from the Company under the provisions of the 
Articles. 

 
No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present at the 
time when the meeting proceeds to business.  
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• Liability of the Board 
 

The members of the Board owe general duties to the Company in accordance with the 
Companies Regulations (including exercising reasonable care, skill and diligence and 
acting to promote the success of the Company). The Company may bring a claim against 
any member of the Board in breach of its directors’ duties, with available remedies varying 
depending on the severity of the breach but may include damages, injunctive relief and other 
remedies. 

 
So far as may be permitted by the Companies Regulations, every Director, officer, senior 
manager or alternate director (or former director, officer, senior manager or alternate 
director) of the Company or of an associated company (as contemplated by section 278 of 
the Companies Regulations) may be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any 
liability incurred by them in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or 
breach of trust by them or any other liability incurred by them in the execution of their duties, 
the exercise of their powers or otherwise in connection with their duties, powers or offices. 

 
 
• Appointment of the Chairman and the Powers of the Chairman 
 

H.E. Mansoor Al Mansoori is the Chairman of the Company and Prof. Eric Xing is the Vice- 
Chairman of the Company. The Chairman chairs meetings of the Board. The Vice- 
Chairman shall chair meetings of the Board in the absence of the Chairman.  
 
 

• Casting vote of the Chairman 
 
In case of equal votes in relation to a matter presented to the Board, the Chairman or the 
chair of the meeting (if not the Chairman) is entitled to a second or a casting vote in addition 
to the vote to which he may be entitled to as a member of the Board. 
 
 

• Calling Board meetings 
 
The Chairman or any two Board members may invite the Board to hold a meeting. 

 
• Supervision and Regulation 
 

The Company is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the ADGM. The ADGM 
is a financial free zone within the meaning of UAE Federal Law No. 8 of 2004 (the “Financial 
Free Zones Law”) and was established pursuant to UAE Federal Decree No. 15 of 2013. 
As a company incorporated in the ADGM, and in accordance with the Financial Free Zones 
Law, the Company is not subject to UAE federal civil and commercial laws. In particular, 
and without limitation, the Company is not subject to the provisions of the UAE Commercial 
Companies Law nor a variety of other legislation which applies to companies incorporated 
‘onshore’ in the UAE. Instead, the Company is governed by applicable laws and regulations 
in the ADGM including the Companies Regulations. 

 
In accordance with the ADGM legal framework applicable to public companies such as the 
Company, its primary constitutional document is its Articles of Association. Apart from 
various matters governed by the Companies Regulations and other ADGM legislation, the 
principal corporate governance and disclosure and transparency rules applicable to the 
Company are set out in the Companies Regulations, and in the Articles of Association and 
related documents (such as charters, policies and procedures adopted by the Board of 
Directors from time to time). See the section entitled “Mechanism for adopting a 
governance system in the Company”. The ADGM Board of Directors and, in certain 
circumstances, the ADGM Registration Authority has the power and authority to investigate 
violations of the Companies Regulations, including if it appears to it that there are 
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circumstances suggesting that an ADGM company’s affairs are being or have been 
conducted in a manner which is unfairly prejudicial to some part of its members, and in 
certain cases to refer such violations to ADGM courts. Shareholders in ADGM companies 
may also directly seek injunctions from ADGM courts against acts in violation of the 
Companies Regulations or constitutional documents and can seek to recover damages for 
such violations from ADGM companies and their directors. 

 
Pursuant to the ADX listing rules, ADX has the authority to approve and supervise the 
governance rules applicable to financial free zone companies such as the Company that 
list securities on ADX.  

 
The corporate governance regime applicable to the Company is different from that 
applicable to entities incorporated under the UAE Commercial Companies Law and 
regulated by the SCA. Investors should familiarise themselves with applicable ADGM laws 
and regulations, and the Articles of Association annexed to the Prospectus. Investors should 
also note that the corporate governance regime applicable to the Company is not regulated 
or enforced by the SCA. 

 
 
6. ADGM No Objection 
 

The ADGM Registration Authority has issued a certificate of no objection to the Listing and 
the Offering in accordance with Article (33) of SCA Decision No. (11) of 2016 concerning 
the Regulation of Offering and Issuing Shares in Public Joint Stock Companies (as 
amended by the SCA Decision No. 25/RM/2020) 

 
 
7. Independent Auditors 
 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E) undertook the task of auditing the Company’s accounts for the 
duration of the two financial years preceding the Offering. 

 
Address: 11th Floor, Al Sila Tower, P.O. Box 990, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al 
Mariyah Island, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
 
Phone Number: +971 (0)2 408 2424 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

 

 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Opinion  

 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Presight AI Holding PLC (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, and its consolidated financial 

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

 

Basis for Opinion  

  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(“IESBA Code”) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Other Information  

 

The Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

Directors’ Report which we received prior to the date of this report. The other information does not include 

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC (continued) 

 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements   

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with IFRSs and the applicable provisions of the Articles of Association of the Group and Abu 

Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) Companies Regulations, 2020 and Companies Regulations (International 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risk, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

based on the audit evidenced obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OFPRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC (continued) 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  

 

Further, as required by the provisions of Abu Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) Companies Regulations 

2020 and Companies Regulations (International Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, we report that: 

 

• the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the said Rules and Regulations; 

• adequate accounting records have been kept by the Group; and  

• The Group’s consolidated financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records. 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) LLP 

 

Monah Abou Zaki 

27 February 2023 

Abu Dhabi  

United Arab Emirates 
 





6 PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 

 
  2022 2021 

 Notes USD’000 USD’000 

    

Revenue 18  422,587   363,234  

Direct costs 19  (156,746)  (225,027) 

                                               

    

Gross profit   265,841   138,207  

General, administrative and marketing expenses 20 (117,990)  (45,806) 

Other income   -  3,110  

                                               

    

Profit for the year 22  147,851   95,511  

    

Other comprehensive income  - - 

                                               

    

Total comprehensive income for the year   147,851   95,511  

                                               

 

Profit attributable to:    

Owners of the Company   115,853   95,511  

Non-controlling interest 17  31,998   -  

                                               

    

   147,851   95,511  

                                               

    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Owners of the Company   115,853   95,511  

Non-controlling interest 17  31,998   -    

                                               

    

   147,851   95,511  

                                               

    

    

    

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share 23 63 52 

                                               

    

    

 

 

 
 

  



7 PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 

 

 
 

 |--Attributable to the owners of the Company--|  

 

Share 

capital 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

 

Total 

Non-

controlling 

interests 

 

 

Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

      

At 1 January 2021  -   110,124   110,124   -  110,124  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
Total comprehensive income for the year:      

      

Profit for the year   -  95,511   95,511   -   95,511  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  95,511   95,511   -  95,511  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
Transactions with owners, recorded 

directly in equity:      

Transfer of net assets from an entity under 

common control (notes 10 and 28)  
 

 -  

 

 114,904  

 

 114,904  

 

 -  

 

 114,904  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
At 1 January 2022  -  320,539   320,539   -  320,539  
Total comprehensive income for the year:      
      
Profit for the year   -  115,853   115,853   31,998   147,851  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  115,853   115,853   31,998   147,851  
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
      

Transactions with owners, recorded 

directly in equity:      

Issue of share capital (note 12)   50   -  50   -   50  
      

Dividend declared (note 21)   -  (259,387) (259,387)  -   (259,387) 
 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 
At 31 December 2022  50   177,005   177,055   31,998   209,053  
                                                                                      
      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8 PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 

 
  2022 2021 

 Notes USD’000 USD’000 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the year   147,851   95,511  
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of property and equipment 5  408   1,959  
Amortization of intangible assets 6   9  6,790  
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7  1,719   488  
Provision for expected credit loss 8  308   426  
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 13  1,375   725  
Finance expenses 14 145 49 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Operating cash flows before movements in 

 working capital changes                                                                             

  

 151,815  

 

 105,948  
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables   (175,514)  81,539  
Increase in contract assets   (15,215)  (90,290) 
Decrease in due from a related party    321,666    42,397  
Decrease in contract liabilities   (4,735)  (77,038) 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables     (89,452)   64,431   
Increase/(decrease) in due to related parties  15,750   (122,298) 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash generated from operating activities  204,315     4,689  
Employees’ end of service benefits paid  13  (304)  (536) 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash from operating activities  204,011  4,153  

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash flows from investing activities    

Payment for acquisition of property and equipment 5  (719)  (545) 
Payment for acquisition of intangible assets 6  (44)  (1,359) 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash used in investing activities   (763)  (1,904) 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash flows from financing activities    

Issue of share capital 12  50   -    
Payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities 14  (1,541)  (661) 
Dividends  21 (203,332) - 

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Net cash used in financing activities     (204,823)  (661) 
    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents    (1,575)  1,588  
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   1,625   37  

  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note 11)   50   1,625  

                                            

    
Non-cash transactions:    

Transfer of net assets from a related party 28 -  114,904  

Transfer of provision of employees’ end of service benefits to a 

related party 

 

13 
 

 (392) 

 

 - 

Dividend settled against due from a related party 21 (203,332) - 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 
 

 

1 General information 
  

Presight AI Holding PLC (the “Company”) is incorporated as a Public Company Limited by Shares operating 

under a license number 000008980 issued by Abu Dhabi Global Market Registration Authority pursuant to 

Abu Dhabi Global Market Companies Regulations 2020 on 12 December 2022. The Group’s parent company 

and controlling party is Group 42 Holding Ltd (the “Parent Company”), a private company registered in 

Abu Dhabi Global Market. 
 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial performance, financial position and cash 

flows of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). Please refer note 3 for 

the list of subsidiaries. 

 

The registered address of the Company is Al Khatem Tower, ADGM Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab Emirates. 
 

The principal activity of the Company is to act as a holding company for the entities within the Group. The 

principal activities of the subsidiaries include innovation and artificial intelligence research and 

consultancies, providing other information technology and computer services activities, data processing, 

hosting and related services, technology network services, security and systems installation and 

maintenance, telecommunication systems equipment installation and maintenance, services, management 

and operation of computer networks, computer infrastructure establishment, institution and maintenance 

and technological projects management. 

 

For the periods prior to the formation of the Company, the consolidated financial statements represent the 

financial statements of subsidiaries using the carrying value of the assets and the liabilities (note 3). 

 
 

2  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial 

statements 
 

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2022, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The application of these 

revised IFRSs has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but 

may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amendments to 

IFRS 3 Reference 

to the Conceptual 

Framework 

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual 

Framework instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a 

requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, an acquirer applies IAS 

37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present obligation 

exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope 

of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether 

the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has 

occurred by the acquisition date. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

 

 

 

2       Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

(continued) 

 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial 

statements (continued) 
 

 

Amendments to IAS 37 

Onerous Contracts - Cost of 

Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises 

the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to 

a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling that 

contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 

contracts. 

Amendments to IAS 16 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

- Proceeds before Intended Use 

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of 

property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items 

produced before that asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while 

bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Consequently, an entity recognises such sales proceeds and related 

costs in profit or loss. The entity measures the cost of those items in 

accordance with IAS 2 Inventories. 

 

 

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset 

is functioning properly’. IAS 16 now specifies this as assessing 

whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such 

that it is capable of being used in the production or supply of goods or 

services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes. 

 If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, 

the financial statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost 

included in profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an 

output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item in the 

statement of comprehensive income include such proceeds and cost. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS 

Accounting Standards 2018-

2020 Cycle 

The Annual Improvements include amendments to four standards; 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases and IAS 41 

Agriculture. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

 

 

 

2       Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

(continued) 
 

2.2    New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective  
 

The Group has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective: 

 

 

New and revised IFRS 

Effective for annual 

periods beginning on 

or after 
  

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in accounting estimates 

and errors relating to definition of accounting estimates 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to 

classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

1 January 2023 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts  1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 Incomes taxes on deferred tax related to assets and 

liabilities arising from a single transaction 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2 on disclosure of accounting policies 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases on lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements on non-current 

liabilities with covenants 

1 January 2024 

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to sale or contribution of 

assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture.  

Effective date 

deferred indefinitely. 

Adoption is still 

permitted. 

The above stated new standards and amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

 

There are no other applicable new standards and amendments to published standards or IFRIC 

interpretations that have been issued that would be expected to have a material impact on the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 

Statement of compliance 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 

applicable provisions of Abu Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) Companies Regulations 2020. 
 

Basis of preparation 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (USD) as required by the Abu 

Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM”) Companies Regulations 2020. The Group’s functional currency is United 

Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”). All financial information presented in USD has been rounded off to the 

nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is 

generally based on fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.  

 

The Company entered into Share Purchase Agreements ("SPAs") dated 15 December 2022 for the transfer 

of shares (the “Shares”), relating to the entities listed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements (the 

“Entities”), that are beneficially owned and controlled by the Parent Company. As per the SPAs, the Parent 

Company has transferred the entire economic interest in the Entities to the Company for a nominal value. 

Thereby, the Company holds 100% of the transferred shares of the Entities. Subsequent to the year end, the 

legal formalities of transfer were competed (note 29). 

 

The aforementioned transfer of the Shares to the Company is a common control transaction as the Entities 

will continue to be controlled by the Parent Company before and after the reorganisation. Therefore, this 

reorganisation is considered to be outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The Company has 

applied the pooling of interest method of accounting for the reorganisation. 

 

The basic principle of accounting for business combinations under common control using the pooling of 

interest method is that the structure of ownership is discretionary, and any reorganisation thereof is without 

economic substance from the perspective of the controlling party. The pooling of interest method is 

considered to involve the combining parties being presented as if they had always been combined. To this 

effect, the Company accounts for the transaction from the beginning of the period in which the combination 

occurs (irrespective of its actual date) and restates comparatives to include all combined entities. 

 

The concept of pooling generally is based on the premise of a continuation of the combining entities. 

Consistently, the pre-combination equity composition and history associated with the assets and liabilities 

would be carried forward upon the combination.  In the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the 

retained earnings of the individual entities that are combined are reflected under ‘retained earnings’. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Basis of consolidation  

 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”), made up to 31 December each year. 

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 

 

• has power over the investee; 

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 

when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee unilaterally.  

 

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s 

voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

 

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders; 

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 

patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 

when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the 

Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.  

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those 

interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 

choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non‑controlling interests are 

initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests 

is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent 

changes in equity. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 

the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance. 

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 

equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non‑controlling interests are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the 

amount by which the non‑controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. 

 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit or loss 

except where the group loses control of a subsidiary to an entity under common control whereby the gain 

or loss is recorded in equity. The gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 

retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of 

the subsidiary and any non‑controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 

assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of 

equity as required/permitted by applicable IFRS Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in 

the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments when applicable, or the cost on initial 

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

 

Group structure  

 

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and their beneficial holdings percentage as at 31 December 2022 and 

2021 are as follows: 

Name of 

subsidiaries 

Place of 

incorporation 

and operation 

 

Principal activities 

Proportion of 

ownership interest 

and voting power held 

   2022 2021 

Assetik Tech Ltd  

 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Technology and computer services 

activities, computer consultancy and 

computer facilities management 

activities, computer programming 

activities and other information 

service activities such as treasury 

financial systems and application 

development. 

100% 100% 

G42 Smart Nation 

AI Holding RSC 

Ltd. 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Holding company 100% 100% 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

Group structure (continued) 

Name of 

subsidiaries 

Place of 

incorporation 

and operation 

 

Principal activities 

Proportion of 

ownership interest 

and voting power 

held 

   2022 2021 
     

G42 Sky14 

Technology 

Projects RSC Ltd 

 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Holding company    100%    100% 

     

Presight AI 

Ltd 

 

 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Business incubator, other 

information technology and 

computer service activities, other 

professional, scientific and 

technical activities, computer 

consultancy and computer 

facilities management activities, 

computer programming activities, 

activities of holding companies, 

other information service 

activities, data processing, hosting 

and related activities, activities of 

head offices. 

 

100% 100% 

Below are the subsidiaries of G42 Smart Nation AI Holding RSC Ltd.: 

 

G42 Smart Nation 

Technology 

Projects LLC** 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Information technology network 

services, technological projects 

management, innovation & 

artificial intelligence research & 

consultancies, security & 

surveillance systems installation 

& maintenance, 

telecommunication systems 

equipment installation and 

maintenance, services, 

management and operation of 

computer networks, computer 

infrastructure establishment, 

institution and maintenance, retail 

sale of computer outfit and data 

processing. 

  99.99% 99.99% 

     

G42 Smart City AI 

SPV Ltd* 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Holding company    100% 100% 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

Group structure (continued) 

Name of 

subsidiaries 

Place of 

incorporation 

and operation 

 

Principal activities 

Proportion of 

ownership interest 

and voting power held 

   2022 2021 
     

     

Below are the subsidiaries of G42 Smart Nation AI Holding RSC Ltd.: (continued) 

G42 AS SPV RSC 

Ltd* 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Holding company 100% 100% 

     

JTO Holding SPV 

Ltd 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Holding company 60% 60% 

     

Intellibrain 

Technological 

Projects LLC.** 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Technological projects 

management, innovation and 

artificial intelligence research and 

consultancies. 

  99% 99% 

Below are the subsidiaries of Presight AI Ltd: 
 

G42 Analytics 

Technology Projects 

LLC** 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Information technology network 

services, technological projects 

management, innovation & 

artificial intelligence research & 

consultancies 

 

99.99% 99.99% 

Analytics AI 

Limited Liability 

Partnership 

Kazakhstan Implementing state of the art 

analytical and artificial 

intelligence software systems; 

installation works, general 

management, providing customer 

support, expand partnership 

networks, commercial activity, 

foreign economic and foreign 

trade activity including export and 

import 

100% 100% 

     

Below is the subsidiary of G42 Sky14 Technology Projects RSC Ltd: 
     

G42 Sky1 

Technology Projects 

LLC** 

Abu Dhabi, 

United Arab 

Emirates 

Information technology network 

services and technological 

projects management. 

  99.99% 99.99% 

 

* These subsidiaries are dormant as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.  
 

** An entity under common control has assigned the beneficial ownership of its stake in these subsidiaries 

to the Company, thereby, the Group holds 100% of the shareholding.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Business combination 

 

Acquisition of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method except for acquisition of entities 

under common control. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, 

which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition‑date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, 

liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the 

Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition‑related costs are recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred. 

 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their 

fair value, except that:  

 

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits 

respectively 

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-

based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 

of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; 

and  

• Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 

liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the 

acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 

the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 

incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (which cannot exceed 

one year from the acquisition date), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new 

information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,  

would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

 

Business combinations involving entities under common control 

 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 

shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for from the acquisition date. 

 

The Group applies the book value measurement method to all common control transactions. The assets and 

liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the financial statements 

of the entities under common control. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the 

same components within the Group’s equity. Any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in equity. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3       Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue is measured at an amount that reflects the considerations, to which an entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods and services to customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent. 

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services it creates 
a contract-based asset on the amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where the amount of 
consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised, this gives rise to a 
contract liability. The Group classifies its contract assets and liabilities as current and non-current based on 
the timing and pattern of flow of economic benefits. 

 

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set out in IFRS 

15. 

 

The Group derives revenue primarily from the following streams: 

 

- Services relating to information technology and artificial intelligence. 

- Software development and implementation. 

 

Revenue recognised point in time 

 

Sale of products and services 

 

For products sold to customers, revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with 

a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer. 

For contracts that permit the customer to return an item, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly 

probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. 

Therefore, the amount of revenue recognised is adjusted for expected returns, which are estimated based 

on the historical data. 

 

The right to recover returned goods is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory less any 

expected costs to recover goods. The Group reviews its estimate of expected returns at each reporting date 

and updates the amounts of the asset and liability accordingly.  

 

Revenue recognised over time 

 

Contract revenue 

 

The Group provides services relating to information technology and artificial intelligence. The revenue 

from these projects are recognised over the time of which the services are provided. 

 

Rendering of services 

 

Revenue from rendering of services relating to software development, maintenance, consulting and package 

implementation and from licensing of software products and platforms is recognised when the services have 

been fully provided and are recognised net of discounts. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Property and equipment 

 

Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. 
 

The cost of property and equipment is the purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of 

acquisition. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial 

estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which 

they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads.  
 

Subsequent costs 
 

The cost of replacing component of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to 

the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and 

equipment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 

Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and 

capital work-in-progress) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method, 

on the following basis: 
   Years 

Motor vehicle 3-5 

Furniture and fittings 3-5 

Computer and industrial equipment 3 
 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

 

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 

of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Capital work-in-progress 
 

Expenditure incurred on property and equipment which are not complete and ready for use at the reporting 

date are treated as capital work-in-progress. Depreciation is not provided on such assets until they are ready 

for their intended use and transferred to the appropriate asset category. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets acquired separately 
 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful lives on the following basis: 

   Years 

Computer software 1 - 3 

 

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with 

the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Derecognition of intangible assets 

 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from 

use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss 

when the asset is derecognised 
 

Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment 

and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 

impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 

assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 

Group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.  
 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever 

there is an indication at the end of a reporting period that the asset may be impaired. 
 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets for which the 

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and to the extent that the 

impairment loss is greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets (continued) 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been 

recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount is treated as a revaluation 

increase. 

 

Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 

a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 

is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 

a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

Onerous contracts 

 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous 

contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 

the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 

 

Contingencies 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless 

the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are 

not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits 

is probable. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Employees’ end of service benefits 

 

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees’ entitlement to annual leave and leave passage 

as a result of services rendered by eligible employees up to the reporting date. 

 

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service benefits due to employees in accordance with 

the Group’s policy, which is at least equal to the benefits payable in accordance with UAE Labor Law and 

the ADGM Employment Regulations 2019, for their period of service up to the end of reporting period.   

 

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension and 

Social Security Authority in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No. (2), 2000 for Pension and Social 

Security. Such contributions are charged to profit or loss during the employees’ period of service. 

 

The accrual relating to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision 

relating to end of service benefit is disclosed as a non-current liability. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash at bank 

and cash equivalents). Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with original maturity of three months 

or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting 

short-term cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes. 

 

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party contractual restrictions are included as 

part of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition of cash.  

 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank as defined 

above. 
 

Fair value measurement 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most 

advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-

performance risk.  
 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for 

both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 

active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 

place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the 

use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 

technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would consider in pricing a transaction. 
 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures 

assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3       Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction 

price i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value 

on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted 

price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any 

unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial 

instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on 

initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on 

an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported 

by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 
 

Financial instruments  
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables that 

do not have a significant financing component which are measured at transaction price. Transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 

financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from 

the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss are recognised immediately in the profit or loss. 
 

Financial assets 
 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 

within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  
 

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 

value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.  
 

Classification of financial assets  
 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 
 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 
 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and  

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets (continued) 

 

Classification of financial assets (continued) 

 

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  
 

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial 

recognition of a financial asset: 
 

• the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 

other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (iii) below); and 

• the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 

criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 

 

i) Amortised cost and effective interest rate method 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period.  

 

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets 

that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected 

credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 

the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated 

credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the 

estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument 

on initial recognition. 

 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 

recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 

method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 

allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 

adjusting for any loss allowance. 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 

subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated 

credit‑impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 

the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 

credit‑impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit‑impaired, interest 

income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. 

If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit‑impaired financial instrument improves 

so that the financial asset is no longer credit‑impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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3        Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

Classification of financial assets (continued) 

 

i)   Amortised cost and effective interest rate method (continued) 

 

For purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by 

applying the credit‑adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial 

recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset 

subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit‑impaired. 

 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(ii)  Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI 
 

Debt instruments held by the Group are classified as at FVTOCI. These instruments are initially 

measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in the carrying amount of these 

instruments as a result of foreign exchange gains and losses, impairment gains or losses and interest 

income calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The amounts that 

are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have been recognised in profit 

or loss if these instruments had been measured at amortised cost. All other changes in the carrying 

amount of these instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income. When these instruments 

are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Equity instruments carried as at FVTOCI 
 

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not 

permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by 

an acquirer in a business combination. 
 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative 

gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is 

transferred to retained earnings. 

 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance 

with IFRS 9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.  
 

A financial asset is held for trading if: 
 

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated 

and effective hedging instrument). 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

Classification of financial assets (continued) 
 

(iv) Financial assets at FVTPL 
 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (see (i) 

to (iii) above) are measured at FVTPL. Specifically: 

 

• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity 

investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business 

combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition (see (iii) above). 

 

• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI (see (i) and (ii) above) 

criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost 

criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such 

designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so 

called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 

the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any debt instruments 

as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging 

relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the 

financial asset. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 

 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on trade and other receivables 

(excluding advances to suppliers and prepayments), contract assets, due from a related party and bank 

balances. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit 

risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 

 

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables (excluding advances to suppliers 

and prepayments), contract assets, due from a related party and bank balances. The expected credit losses 

on these financial assets are estimated using a loss rate that is specific to the debtors, general economic 

conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 

reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 

 

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 

not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 

instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.  

 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL 

that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months 

after the reporting date. 
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3           Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk 
 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 

reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 

recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 

information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 

information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward looking information considered 

includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from 

economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar 

organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 

information that relate to the Group’s core operations. 
 

In particular, the following information is considered when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition: 
 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating; 

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 

instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the 

debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less 

than its amortised cost; 

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 

to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations. 
 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 

asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 365 

days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 
 

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 

reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 
 

• the financial instrument has a low risk of default, 

• the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and 

• adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 
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3       Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.  

 

(ii)  Definition of default 

 

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 

management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the 

following criteria are generally not recoverable: 

 

• when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 

• Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral 

held by the Group). 

 

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset 

is more than 365 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to 

demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 

 

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets 

 

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 

 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); 

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 

otherwise consider; 

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or 

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

 (iv) Write-off policy 

 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 

severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery e.g. when the debtor has been 

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 

when the amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off 

may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, considering legal 

advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

 (v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
 

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 

receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 

IFRS 9 considers the calculation of ECL by multiplying the Probability of default (PD), Loss Given 

Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD) adjusted by forward-looking information. 

 

Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows: 

 

• The probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon; 

• The exposure at default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into 

account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date;  

• The loss given default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at 

a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the 

Group would expect to receive; and 

• Macroeconomic factors, forward looking information and multiple scenarios: IFRS 9 requires an 

unbiased and probability weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible 

outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL 

in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 

ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the 

current reporting date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used. 
 

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a impairment loss account, except for 

investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised 

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, and does not reduce the carrying 

amount of the financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 

asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 

financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, 

on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 

previously accumulated in the investment’s fair value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on 

derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 

measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment’s fair value 

reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings. 

 

Financial liabilities and equity 

 

Classification as debt or equity 

  

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 

instrument. 

 

Equity instruments 

 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. 

 

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No 

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 

equity instruments. 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or 

at FVTPL. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of 

an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. 

 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 
 

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or 

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

• it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument. 
 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer 

in a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 
 

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or 

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 

internally on that basis; or 

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire 

combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL. 
 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair 

value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a 

designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss 

incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. 
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3      Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued) 

 

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value 

of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in 

consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in 

the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch 

in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. 

Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to 

retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 

 

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group that are designated by the Group as at 

FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.  

 

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost   

 

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) 

held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 

expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 

financial liability. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 

derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 

of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously. Income and expenses are offset in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

when it reflects the substance of the transaction or other event. 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Foreign currencies 
 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using UAE Dirhams (“AED”), the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”), as required by the 

Abu Dhabi Global Market Regulations 2020. 
 

Transactions in currencies other than AED (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 

value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 

fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are not retranslated. 
 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:  
 

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for 

which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming 

part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other 

comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal 

of the net investment. 
 

• Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks. 
 

• Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for 

future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an 

adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings. 
 

 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense 

items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a 

foreign exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 
 

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, 

or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal 

of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained 

interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange 

translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 

profit or loss.  
 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. 
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3          Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

 Leases 
 

The Group as a lessee 
 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 

recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 

which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) 

and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating 

expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental 

borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 

the commencement date; 

• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease. 
 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 

lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 

payments made. 
 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 

asset) whenever: 
 

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a 

change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured 

by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under 

a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 

lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change 

in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the 

revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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3       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Leases (continued) 

 

The Group as a lessee (continued) 

 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 

payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct 

costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site 

on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions 

of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a 

right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to 

produce inventories. 

 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use 

asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that 

the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 

life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 

identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property and equipment’ policy. 

 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability 

and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 

event or condition that triggers those payments occurs. 
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4       Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

 

While applying the accounting policies as stated in note 3, management of the Group has made certain 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period of the revision in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 

only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods. The significant judgments and estimates made by management are summarised as follows: 

 

4.1    Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

 

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see 4.2 below), that the 

management have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations 

 

The Group recognises revenue over time as it performs continuous transfer of control of goods or services 

to the customers. Since customers simultaneously receive and consumes the benefits provided and the 

control transfer takes place over time, revenue is also recognised based on the extent of transfer/completion 

of transfer of each performance obligation (POs). In determining the method for measuring progress for 

these POs, the Group considered the nature of these goods and services as well as the nature of its 

performance. The Group’s promise under the contracts is to prepare the software and provide them to their 

customers in number of steps along with support services. Provided that the nature of the products is highly 

customised and services are highly interrelated, the performance obligation is considered as satisfied upon 

receipt of acceptance of services from the customer. 

 
Revenue recognition 

 

Management considers recognizing revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met, otherwise 
revenue will be recognized at a point in time: 

 
a)    the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 

as the Group perform; 
b)  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 

or enhanced; or 
c)  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has 

an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 37

                                                                                                              

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 

 

4        Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

4.1  Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued) 

 

Consolidation of subsidiaries  

 

The Group has evaluated all the investee entities to determine whether it controls the investee as per the 

criteria laid out by IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements. The Group has evaluated, amongst other 

things, its ownership interest, the contractual arrangements in place and its ability and the extent of its 

involvement with the relevant activities of the investee entities to determine whether it controls the investee. 

 

Classification of due to related parties 

 

In the process of classifying due to related parties, management has made various judgments to determine 

whether the balance, on initial recognition, is classified as a financial liability or an equity instrument in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability and 

an equity instrument. In making its judgment, management has considered the detail criteria and related 

guidance for the classification of financial instruments as set out in IAS 32, in particular, whether the 

instrument includes a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity and 

whether it may be settled in the Group’s own equity instrument. Based on the criteria, management has 

concluded that due to related parties should be classified under liabilities. 

 

Significant increase in credit risk  

 

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL assets for 

stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since 

initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing 

whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group considers qualitative and 

quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. The expected credit losses on trade 

receivables are estimated using a loss rate, with reference to past default experience of the debtor and an 

analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 

general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the 

current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 

 

Determining lease term 

 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 

incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 

after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended 

(or not terminated). Potential future cash outflows have not been included in the lease liability because it is 

not reasonably certain that the leases will be extended (or not terminated). 

 

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which 

affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. 
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4        Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

4.2     Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

Calculation of loss allowance 

 

When measuring ECL the Group use reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is 

based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will 

affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference 

between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into 

account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements. 

 

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the 

likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, 

assumptions and expectations of future conditions. As at 31 December 2022, the expected credit loss, as 

per ECL model, on trade receivables is USD  734 thousand (31 December 2021: USD 426 thousand) and 

on contract assets is USD  835 thousand (31 December 2021: USD 835 thousand). The Group mainly deals 

with government entities as customers and hence, the associated credit risk is very low.  
 
Determination of percentage of completion  

 

Certain contract revenues are recognised using the percentage-of-completion method, whereby contract 

profits are recorded on the basis of the Group’s estimate of the individual contracts based on the actual 

costs incurred to total estimated costs or the work done considering acceptance approved by the customer. 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on specific contracts and unbilled work are recorded as 

contract assets. Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings are accounted for as a liability. Contract 

costs include direct payroll cost, cost of procurement of services, directly attributable overheads and direct 

materials.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 39

                                                                                                              

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 (continued) 
 
 

5 Property and equipment 

 
 

Motor 

vehicle 

 

Furniture 

and  

fittings 

Computer 

and 

industrial 

equipment 

 

Capital 

work-in- 

progress Total 

 USD’000  
 

USD’000  
 

USD’000  
 

USD’000  
 

USD’000  
 

Cost       

At 1 January 2021 - 2 2,732 - 2,734 

Transfer from a related    party 

(note 28) 

 

84 

 

65 

 

3,709 

 

- 

 

 3,858  

Additions - - 545 -  545  

 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 

At 1 January 2022  84   67   6,986  - 7,137 

Additions  -     69   385  265 719 

 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 

At 31 December 2022  84   136   7,371  265 7,856 

                                                                                      

 

Accumulated depreciation     

 

 

At 1 January 2021  -     1  1,137  -  1,138  

Transfer from a related  

party (note 28) 

  

40  

 

 43  

 

 3,325 

 

- 

 

 3,408  

Charge for the year   -     16   1,943  -  1,959  

 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 

At 1 January 2022  40   60   6,405  - 6,505 

Charge for the year   19   13   376  - 408 

 –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– –––––––– 

At 31 December 2022  59   73   6,781  - 6,913 

                                                                                      

      

Carrying amount       

At 31 December 2022  25   63   590  265 943 

                                                                                      

      

At 31 December 2021  44   7   581  - 632 

                                                                                      

      

The cost of fully depreciated assets as at 31 December 2022 amounts to USD 6,242 thousand (2021: 
USD 5,894 thousand). 
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6 Intangible assets 

 Computer 

software 

 USD’000 

Cost   

At 1 January 2021   65  

Transfer from a related party (note 28)  5,788  

Additions  1,359  

 ------------------------ 

At 1 January 2022 7,212 

Additions 44 

 ------------------------ 

At 31 December 2022 7,256 

                     

  

Accumulated amortisation   

At 1 January 2021  11  

Transfer from a related party (note 28)  411  

Charge for the year   6,790  

 ------------------------ 

At 1 January 2022 7,212 

Charge for the year  9 

 ------------------------ 

At 31 December 2022 7,221 

                     
  
Carrying amount  

  

At 31 December 2022 35 

                     

  

At 31 December 2021 - 
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7 Right-of-use assets 

 Office premises 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

Cost   

At 1 January  6,355  -    

Additions 1,022  6,355  

 ------------------ ------------------ 

At 31 December  7,377 6,355 

                               

   

Accumulated depreciation   

At 1 January  488 - 

Charge for the year  1,719 488 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

At 31 December  2,207 488 

                               

   

Carrying amount 5,170 5,867 

                               

   
The Group’s right-of-use assets includes lease for office premises. The lease term is 2-5 years. 
 

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss: 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets (note 20)  1,719   488  

Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 14)  145   49  

 ------------------ ------------------ 

  1,864   537  
                               
   
 
8 Trade and other receivables 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Trade receivables  253,908   70,610  

less: allowance for expected credit losses    (734) (426) 

 --------- ------------ --------- ------------ 

  253,174   70,184  

Advance to suppliers  2,592   537  

Refundable deposits   808   9,957  

Prepayments                                     99                     626  

Other receivables 124 287 

 --------- ------------ --------- ------------ 

  256,797   81,591  
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8 Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
The movement in the allowance for expected credit losses during the year is as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

At 1 January  426   -    

Charge for the year (note 20)  308   426  

 --------- ------------ --------- ------------ 

At 31 December  734   426  

                                     

   
No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables. 
 
The Group measure the provision of expected credit loss for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a loss rate, with reference to past 
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors 
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date. The expected credit loss on trade receivables is USD 734 thousand as at 31 December 2022 
(31 December 2021: USD 426 thousand) (note 26). 
 
Trade receivables amounting to USD 251,607 thousand (2021: USD 70,604 thousand) pertains to related 
parties (note 10). 
 
The Group has adopted a policy of dealing with only creditworthy counterparties. Adequate credit 
assessment is made before accepting an order for sale of services or goods from counterparty. Refer to 
ageing of trade receivables in note 26. 
 
 
9 Contract assets 
  

Contract assets mainly represent balances due from customers under software development, installation 
and support service contracts that arise when the Group receive payments from customers in line with a 
series of performance related milestones. The Group recognise a contract asset for any work performed in 
excess of amounts billed to the customer. 

 
Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at 
which it is invoiced to the customer. Payments are usually not due from the customers until either the 
services are complete or the respective milestones are achieved and therefore a contract asset is recognised 
over the period in which the services are performed to represent the Group’s right to consideration for the 
services transferred to date. All the contract assets are expected to be realised within one year and hence 
classified under current assets. The expected credit loss on contract assets is USD 835 thousand as at 
31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: USD 835 thousand) (note 26). 

 
Contract assets of USD 117,439 thousand (2021: USD 102,010 thousand) pertain to related parties (note 
10).  
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10 Related party transaction and balances 

 

Related parties, as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures include 

associate companies, major shareholders, directors and other key management personnel of the Group, and 

entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Management approves 

prices and terms of payment for these transactions and these are carried out at mutually agreed rates. 

 

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enter into transactions, with other business enterprises or 

individuals that fall within the definition of related parties contained in International Accounting Standard 

24. The Group has a related party relationship with the Government of Abu Dhabi, directors and executive 

officers (including business entities over which they can exercise significant influence, or which can 

exercise significant influence over the Group). 

 

The Parent is partially owned by a Government of Abu Dhabi owned entity. The Group has elected to use 

the exemption under IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ for Government related entities on disclosing 

transactions and related outstanding balances with government related parties owned by the Government 

of Abu Dhabi and entities it owns and controls. The Group provides services in the normal course of 

business to entities owned and controlled by the Government of Abu Dhabi. 

 

The Group maintains significant balances with these related parties, which arise from commercial 

transactions. 

 
Balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period comprise: 
 

 2022 2021 
 USD’000 USD’000 

  Due from a related party:   

  Entity under common control -    322,058 

                                           
   

Due to related parties:   

Entities under common control 71,805 - 

                                           

 

During December 2022, the shareholders of certain subsidiaries declared dividends amounting to USD 

259,387 thousand before the date of common control transaction. Dividends amounting to USD 203,332 

thousand were off-set against due from a related party balances and the remaining amount of USD 56,055 

thousand was transferred to due to related parties (note 21). 

 

Guarantees amounting to USD 103,843 thousand (2021: USD 47,957 thousand) are in the name of related 

parties but assigned for the benefit of the Group (note 24).
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10 Related party transaction and balances (continued) 

 
Significant transactions with related parties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss include the 
following: 

 2022 2021 
 USD’000 USD’000 

   

 Revenue (note 18)  347,932   362,634  

                                           

   

Staff cost and allowances (ii) (notes 19 and 20) 40,268  52,360  

                                           

   

Support services and manpower fee* (note 20) 31,046  15,731  

                                           

   

Transfer of employees’ end of service benefits (net) (note 13)  (392) -  

                                           

   

Sub-contractor costs and project consumables (note 19)  115,095    69,699 

                                           

   

Dividend declared (note 21) 259,387  -    

                                           

   

Marketing expense (note 20) 7,762  -    

                                           

   

Issue of share capital (note 12)  50   -    

                                           

   

Transfer of net assets from a related party (note 28)  -  114,904  

                                           

   

*Support services and manpower fee are paid by the Group for support and manpower services provided 

by an entity under common control (a “related party”) in accordance with an Intra Group Services 

Agreement (the “Agreement”) between the parties. 

 

(i) The Group’s bank balances (note 11) are part of a cash pooling facility arrangement (the “Arrangement”) 

where all balances at the end of the day are transferred to the bank account of an entity under common 

control (a “related party”). Subsequent to the year end, the arrangement has been revoked and the Group 

has entered into a cash pooling arrangement with the bank where all balances at the end of the day will be 

transferred to the bank account of the Company (note 29). 

 

(ii) In accordance with an Inter-Group arrangement (the “Arrangement”), the Group’s employees are 

legally under the sponsorship of an entity under common control (a “related party”) and the related payroll 

costs (including end of service benefits) are recharged to the Group (note 13).  

 

(iii) The remuneration of key management personnel is paid by the Parent and recharged to the Group as 

management fee. 

 

(iv) Refer notes 8, 9, 11, 13, 14, 15 and 16 for balances with related parties. 
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11 Bank balances 

 2022 2021 

          USD’000 USD’000 
   

Cash at bank  50   1,625  

                                           

   

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated 

by the central bank of the UAE. Accordingly, management of the Group estimates the loss allowance on 

balances with banks at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. None of the 

balances with banks at the end of the reporting period are past due, and taking into account the historical 

default experience and the current credit ratings of the bank, the management of the Group have assessed 

that there is no impairment, and hence have not recorded any loss allowances on these balances. 

 

The Group’s bank balances are part of a cash pooling facility arrangement (the “Arrangement”) where all 

balances at the end of the day are transferred to the bank account of an entity under common control (a 

“related party”) (note 10). Subsequent to the year end, the arrangement has been revoked and the Group 

has entered into a cash pooling arrangement with the bank where all balances at the end of the day will be 

transferred to the bank account of the Company (note 29). 

 

Cash at bank of USD 50 thousand (2021: USD 1,625 thousand) pertains to a bank which is a related party 

(note 10). 

 

 

12 Share capital 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

Issued and fully paid:   

1,836,250 ordinary shares of USD 0.02723 each 50 - 

                                         

   

On 16 February 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to increase the share capital of the 

Company from USD 50 thousand divided into 1,836 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each to USD 

152,721 thousand divided into 5,608,680 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each. To date, a new share 

capital of USD 115,650 thousand divided into 4,247,164 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each has been 

issued and allotted resulting in a change in the shareholding structure of the Company whereby the Parent 

Company now holds 99% of the share capital (note 29).  
 
Further, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to initiate public offering of part of the Company’s 
shares on the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange (ADX) (note 29).
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13 Employees’ end of service benefits 

 

The movement in the provision for employees’ end of service benefits is as follows:  

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 
   

At 1 January  1,525   240  

Charge for year  1,375   725  

Transfer from a related party (note 28) - 1,096 

Transfer to a related party (notes 10) (392)  - 

Payments during the year (304)  (536)  

 ––––––––– ––––––––– 

At 31 December  2,204   1,525  

                                         

 

In accordance with an Inter-Group arrangement (the “Arrangement”), the Group’s employees are legally 

under the sponsorship of an entity under common control (a “related party”) and the related payroll costs 

(including end of service benefits) are recharged to the Group (note 10).  
 
 
14 Lease liabilities 

 

The movement in the lease liabilities is as follows:  

 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   
At 1 January  5,743   - 

Additions  1,022   6,355  

Accretion of interest (note 7) 145 49 

Payments made during the year (1,541) (661) 

 ––––––––– ––––––––– 

At 31 December 5,369 5,743 

                                         

   

Lease liabilities are classified as follows in the consolidated statement of financial position: 

 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Current  2,235   3,727  

Non-current  3,134   2,016  

 ––––––––– ––––––––– 

 5,369 5,743 

                                       

   

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to their lease liabilities. Lease liabilities 

are monitored within the Parent’s treasury function. 

 

Lease liabilities of USD 4,113 thousand (2021: USD 5,033 thousand) pertain to related parties (note 10). 
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15 Trade and other payables 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Trade payables  8,241   7,712  

Project and other accruals  68,546   160,907  

Provision for bonus  8,249   6,273  

VAT payables  5,469   5,223  

Other payables  480   322  

                                           

  90,985   180,437  

                                           

 

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within credit 

period. No interest is charged on other payables. 

  

Accrued expenses amounting to USD 1,100 thousand (2021: USD Nil) pertains to a related party (note 10). 

 

 

16 Contract liabilities 

 

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance billing to the customers for services to be rendered 

in 2023. Contract liabilities amounting to USD 2,448 thousand (2021: USD 7,209 thousand) pertain to 

related parties (note 10). 

 

 

17 Non-controlling interest 
 

Non-controlling interest represents the minority shareholder’s proportionate share in the aggregate value of 

the net assets of the subsidiaries, JTO Holding SPV Ltd and Intellibrain Technological Projects LLC, and 

the results of the subsidiaries’ operations. 
 

The summarised financial information is shown on a 100 percent basis. It represents the amounts shown in 

subsidiaries’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS under the Group accounting policies, 

and before intercompany eliminations. 
 2022  2021  
 USD’000 USD’000 
   

Non-controlling interest (%) 40% 40% 
   

Revenue  80,000  - 
                                         
   

Profit  79,996  - 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

- attributable to owners of the Company  47,998  - 

- attributable to the NCI  31,998  - 
   

Other comprehensive income - - 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the year 79,996 - 
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17 Non-controlling interest (continued) 

 
 2022  2021  
 USD’000 USD’000 
   

Current assets  80,000  - 

Current liabilities  (4) - 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 

Net assets 79,996 - 

- attributable to owners of the Company  47,998  - 

- attributable to the NCI  31,998  - 

                                         

 

Movement of NCI for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows: 

 2022 

 USD’000  

  

At 1 January - 

Share of profit attributable to NCI  31,998  

 ---------------------- 

At 31 December  31,998  
                    
  

Pursuant to the Shareholder’s Agreement ("SHA") dated 20 October 2020, G42 Smart City AI SPV Ltd. (a 

“subsidiary”) entered into an agreement with a third party to establish an entity to carry out the activities of 

technological projects management, innovation and artificial intelligence research and consultancies. As 

per the SHA, the third party being the minority shareholder will transfer certain Intellectual Property Rights 

to the newly established entity. On 7 April 2022, an Intellectual Property License Agreement was entered 

into and the Intellectual Property Rights were assigned by the minority shareholder to JTO Holding SPV 

Ltd (a “subsidiary”) for nil consideration. 

 

In 2021, these subsidiaries did not have any operations. 

 

 

18 Revenue 

 

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over 

time as follows: 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers   

Revenue recognised over time   

   

Revenue from project services   344,518    358,748  

Revenue from leases  1,398   4,486  

 –––––––––– –––––––––– 

   345,916    363,234  

                                           

 

Revenue recognised at point in time    

Revenue from sale of hardware and software licenses   76,671  -    
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18 Revenue (continued) 

 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

  422,587   363,234  

                                          

Revenue by geographical markets:   

Within UAE  336,206  267,635 

  Outside UAE  86,381   95,599  

 –––––––––– ––––––––– 

  422,587   363,234  

                                          

   

Revenue amounting to USD 347,932 thousand (2021: USD 362,634 thousand) pertains to related parties 

(note 10).  

 

The transaction price allocated to (partially) unsatisfied performance obligations at 31 December are as 

setout below. 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Within one year 196,074 422,587 

More than one year 303,207 429,363 

 ––––––––––  ––––––––––  

   

Revenue from project services   499,281  851,950 

                                          

 

 

19 Direct costs 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Sub-contractor costs (i)   113,601  126,611  

Staff costs and allowances (ii) (note 10)   27,078    39,601  

Project consumables (i)   7,423    58,774  

Other direct costs   8,644    41  

  ––––––––––   ––––––––––  

  156,746   225,027  

                                           

   

 

(i) Sub-contractor costs and project consumables include an amount of USD 115,095 thousand (2021: 

USD 69,699 thousand) pertaining to related parties (note 10). 

 

(ii) In accordance with an Inter-Group arrangement (the “Arrangement”), the Group’s employees are 

legally under the sponsorship of an entity under common control (a “related party”) and the related payroll 

costs (including end of service benefits) are recharged to the Group (note 10). 
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20 General, administrative and marketing expenses 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Marketing expense (i) 59,064 10 

Support services and manpower fee* (note 10) 31,046   15,731  

Staff costs and allowances (ii) (note 10) 13,190   12,759  

Professional fees 3,575   1,015  

Subcontracting costs 3,341   2,595  

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 7) 1,719   488  

IT expenses 1,039   2,333  

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 5) 408   1,959  

Provision for expected credit loss, net (note 8)  308   426  

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 6) 9  6,790  

Other expenses 4,291   1,700  

 –––––––––– –––––––––– 

   117,990    45,806 

                                           

   

*Support services and manpower fee are paid by the Group for support and manpower services provided 

by a related party in accordance with an Intra Group Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) between the 

parties (note 10). 

 

(i) Included in marketing expense is an amount of USD 7,762 thousand (2021: USD Nil) pertaining to 

related parties (note 10). 

 

(ii) In accordance with an Inter-Group arrangement (the “Arrangement”), the Group’s employees are 

legally under the sponsorship of an entity under common control (a “related party”) and the related payroll 

costs (including end of service benefits) are recharged to the Group (note 10). 
 

 

21 Dividend 

 

During December 2022, the shareholders of certain subsidiaries declared dividends amounting to USD 

259,387 thousand before the date of common control transaction (15 December 2022). Dividends 

amounting to USD 203,332 thousand were off-set against due from a related party balances and the 

remaining amount of USD 56,055 thousand was transferred to due to related parties.  

 

 

22  Profit for the year  

 

Profit for the year is arrived at after charging:    
  

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Staff cost and allowances (notes 19 and 20)  40,268  52,360  

                                         

   

Depreciation and amortisation (notes 5, 6 and 7)   2,136   9,237  
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23 Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the earnings per share computations: 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (USD ‘000) 115,853  95,511  

                                         

   

  Weighted average number of shares in issue*  1,836,250 1,836,250 

                                         

   

   Earnings per share (USD) 63 52 

                                         

 

*as mentioned in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the concept of pooling generally is based 

on the premise of a continuation of the combining entities. Accordingly, the weighted average number of 

shares in issue has been considered from the beginning of the earliest period presented. 

 

The Group does not have potentially dilutive shares and accordingly, diluted earnings per share is equal to 

basic earnings per share. 

 

 
24 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

 

The Group has the following contingent liabilities and commitments outstanding at 31 December: 
 

 2022 2021 

 USD’000 USD’000 

   

Guarantees  117,937  149,762  

                                         

   

The guarantees were issued in the normal course of business. 

 

Guarantees amounting to USD 103,843 thousand (2021: USD 47,957 thousand) are in the name of related 

parties but assigned for the benefit of the Group (note 10). 
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25 Segment information 

 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports 

about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order 

to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

 

The operations of the Group are limited to one segment viz. artificial intelligence, machine learning, data 

analytics and hosting. The products and services being sold under this segment are of similar nature. 

 

The Group’s chief operating decision maker reviews the internal management reports prepared based on 

aggregation of financial information for all entities in the Group (adjusted for intercompany eliminations, 

adjustments etc.) on a periodic basis, for the purpose of allocation of resources and evaluation of 

performance. Accordingly, management has identified the above segment as the only operating segment 

for the Group. 

 

 

26 Financial instruments 

 

Significant accounting policies 

 

Details of significant policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition for the basis of 

measurement in respect of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in note 3 to 

the consolidated financial statements. 
 

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost and management consider that the carrying 

amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements 

approximate their fair values. 

 

Capital risk management 

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure it is able to continue as a going concern while maximising the 

return on equity. The Group do not have a formalised optimal target capital structure or target ratios in 

connection with its capital risk management objectives.  

 

Financial risk management objectives 

 

The Group’s finance department monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 

Group. These risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group do not enter into or trade in derivative 

financial instruments for speculative or risk management purposes.  

 

The main risk arising from Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, market risk and credit risk. 

 

Market risk management 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates will affect the Group’s 

income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Foreign currency risk management 
 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. The Group do not have a significant exposure to currency risk as majority of its monetary 

assets and liabilities are denominated in USD or AED which is pegged to USD. 
 

Credit risk management 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 

risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a 

financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial 

guarantees provided by the Group arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial 

assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

In order to minimise credit risk, the management develops and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings 

to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied 

by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, management uses other publicly 

available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other 

debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and 

the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. 
 

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, as well as the 

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades 

 

  

 

 

 

Notes 

External 

credit 

ratings 

Internal 

credit 

ratings 

12 

month 

or 

lifetime 

ECL 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Net carrying 

amount 

31 December 2022    USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 
       

Trade receivables 8 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 253,908   (734)  253,174  

Refundable deposits 8 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 808   -     808  

Contract assets 9 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 119,730   (835)  118,895  

Bank balances 11 -AA N/A 12  

months  

ECL 

 50   -     50  

31 December 2021       
Trade receivables 8 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 70,610   (426)  70,184  

Refundable deposits 8 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 9,957   -     9,957  

Contract assets 9 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 104,515   (835)  103,680  

Due from  

related parties 

10 N/A i Lifetime 

ECL 
 322,058   -     322,058  

Bank balances 11 AA N/A 12  

months  

ECL 

 1,625   -     1,625  
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Credit risk management (continued) 

 

(i) For trade receivables, refundable deposits, contract assets and due from a related party, the Group has 

applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group 

determine the expected credit losses on these items by using a loss rate, estimated based on historical 

credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect 

current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions.  
 

 

The ageing for trade receivables is as follows: 
 

 Days past due 

  Up to 30  

days 

 

31-60 days 

61-90  

days 

Over 90 

days Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

31 December 2022      

Trade receivables (note 8)  147,370   45,690   -     60,848   253,908  

      

31 December 2021      

Trade receivables (note 8)  69,323   -     -     1,287   70,610  

 

Liquidity risk management 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its funding requirements. The ultimate 

responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Management, who has built an appropriate 

liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term 

funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 

profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 

The contractual maturities of the financial instruments, determined based on the remaining period at the 

end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date, are as follows: 

 

 Current 

less than 

 1 year 

Non-current 

greater than 

 1 year 

 USD’000 USD’000 

31 December 2022   

Trade and other payables (excluding provisions) (note 15)  82,736   -    

Lease liabilities (note 14)  2,235   3,134  

Due to related parties (note 10)  71,805   -    

 –––––––––– –––––––––– 

  156,776   3,134  

                                           

   

31 December 2021   

Trade and other payables (excluding provisions) (note 15)  174,164   -    

Lease liabilities (note 14)  3,727   2,016  

 –––––––––– –––––––––– 

  177,891   2,016  
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26 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities  

 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts as stated in the 

consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

 

27 Corporate Income Tax 
 

On 3 October 2022, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Ministry of Finance (“MoF”) issued Federal Decree-

Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law (“CT Law”) to 

implement a new CT regime in the UAE. The new CT regime is applicable for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 June 2023. 

 

Generally, UAE businesses will be subject to a 9% CT rate, however a rate of 0% will be applied to taxable 

income not exceeding AED 375,000 or to certain types of entities, as prescribed by way of a Cabinet 

Decision. 

 

The management is currently assessing the impact of these laws and regulations and will apply the 

requirements as further guidance is provided by the relevant tax authorities. 

 

 

28 Transfer of net assets of projects from an entity under common control  

 

Effective 1 January 2021, the Group entered into an agreement “Business Transfer Agreement” to transfer 

operating projects from an entity under common control (a “related party”) at a nominal consideration. 

 

The amounts recognised in respects of the identifiable net assets transferred are as set out in the table below: 

 

Particulars  Total 

  USD’000 

   

Property and equipment, net (note 5)   450  

Intangible assets, net (note 6)   5,377  

Contract assets   7,419  

Trade and other receivables   24,391  

Due from related parties   97,206  

Trade and other payables   (17,750) 

Employees’ end of service benefits (note 13)   (1,096) 

Contract liabilities   (1,093) 

  –––––––––– 

Total net assets transferred   114,904  
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29 Subsequent events 

 
(i) Completion of legal formalities for the transfer of Entities 

 

Subsequent to the year end, the Company has completed the legal formalities for the transfer of shares (the 

“Shares”), in the entities listed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 

Share Purchase Agreements (“SPAs”) dated 15 December 2022 entered into with Group 42 Holding Ltd 

(the “Parent”) and an entity under common control (a “related party”). 

 

(ii) Cash pooling arrangement 

 
Subsequent to the year end, the existing cash pooling arrangement with an entity under common control 

(a “related party”) has been revoked and the Group has entered into a new arrangement with the bank 

whereby all balances at the end of the day will be transferred to the bank account of the Company (note 

11).  

  
(iii) Dividends 

 
On 31 January 2023, the Company has declared a dividend amounting to USD 134,200 thousand. Further, 

JTO Holding SPV Ltd (a “subsidiary”) declared a dividend of USD 9,504 thousand to its minority 

shareholder. 

 
(iv) Increase in share capital 

 
On 16 February 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to increase the share capital of the 

Company from USD 50 thousand divided into 1,836 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each to USD 

152,721 thousand divided into 5,608,680 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each. To date, a new share 

capital of USD 115,650 thousand divided into 4,247,164 thousand shares of USD 0.02723 each has been 

issued and allotted resulting in a change in the shareholding structure of the Company whereby the Parent 

Company now holds 99% of the share capital (note 12).  

 

Further, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to initiate public offering of part of the Company’s 

shares on the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange (ADX) (note 12).    

 

 
30 Authorisation of the consolidated financial statements 

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by management and authorised for issue on                      

27 February 2023. 
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 النظام األساسي

  

 

PRESIGHT AI HOLDING PLC 

Public Company Limited by Shares 

 

 

ل سيإي هولدنج بي أيه أبريسايت شركة   

باألسهمشركة عامة محدودة   
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INDEX TO THE ARTICLES 

 

 

 فهرس النظام األساسي

PART 1 الفصل األول 

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF 

LIABILITY 

 

 التفسير وتحديد المسؤولية

1. Defined terms 1. فة  المصطلحات الُمعرَّ

2. Liability of members 2.  مسؤولية المساهمين 

 

PART 2 

 

 الفصل الثاني

DIRECTORS 

 

 أعضاء مجلس اإلدارة 

Directors’ Powers and Responsibilities 

 

 صالحيات أعضاء المجلس ومسؤولياتهم

3. Directors’ general authority 3.  السلطة العامة ألعضاء المجلس 

4. Members’ reserve power 4.  الصالحيات المقتصرة على المساهمين 

5. Directors may delegate 5.  جواز التفويض من أعضاء مجلس اإلدارة 

6. Committees 6. اللجان 

 

Decision-Making by Directors 

 

 

 اتخاذ أعضاء المجلس للقرارات

 

7. Directors to take decisions collectively 7. اتخاذ أعضاء المجلس للقرارات مجتمعين 

8. Calling a directors’ meeting 8.  الدعوة الجتماع مجلس اإلدارة 

9. Participation in directors’ meetings 9.  المشاركة في اجتماعات المجلس 

10. Quorum for directors’ meetings 10. النصاب القانوني الجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة 

11. Chairing directors’ meetings 11.  ترأس اجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة 

12. Voting at directors’ meetings: general rules 12. التصويت في اجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة: قواعد عامة 

13. Chairman’s casting vote at directors’ meetings 13.  الصوت المرجح للرئيس في اجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة 

14. Alternates voting at directors’ meetings 14.  تصويت عضو المجلس البديل في اجتماعات المجلس 

15. Conflicts of interest 15. تعارض المصالح 

16. Proposing directors’ written resolutions 16.  اقتراح القرارات الخطية للمجلس 

17. Adoption of directors’ written resolutions 17.  إصدار القرارات الخطية للمجلس 

18. Directors’ discretion to make further rules 18.  المزيد من القواعدسلطة المجلس التقديرية في إصدار 

 

Appointment of Directors 

 

 تعيين أعضاء المجلس 

 

19. Methods of appointing directors 19.  طرق تعيين أعضاء المجلس 
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20. Term 20.  المدة 

21. Termination of director’s appointment 21.  إنهاء تعيين أعضاء المجلس 

22. Directors’ remuneration 22.  مكافأة أعضاء المجلس 

23. Directors’ expenses 23.  مصاريف أعضاء المجلس 

 

Alternate Directors 

 

 

 أعضاء المجلس البدالء 

24. Appointment and removal of alternates 24.  تعيين أعضاء المجلس البدالء وإقالتهم 

25. Rights and responsibilities of alternate directors 25. حقوق أعضاء المجلس البدالء وواجباتهم 

26. Termination of alternate directorship 26. عزل أعضاء المجلس البدالء من منصبهم 

 

PART 3 

 

 الفصل الثالث

DECISION-MAKING BY MEMBERS 

 

 آلية اتخاذ المساهمين للقرارات

Organisation of General Meetings 

 

 تنظيم اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية

27. Members can call general meeting if not enough 

directors  

يجوز المسااااااااهمين الدعوة الجتماعات الجمعيوة العمومية  .27

 .في حال عدم كفاية عدد أعضاء المجلس 

28. Attendance and speaking at general meetings 28. الحضور والتحدث في اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية 

29. Quorum for general meetings 29.  الجمعيوة العموميةالنصاب القانوني الجتماعات 

30. Chairing general meetings 30. ترؤس اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية 

31. Attendance and speaking by directors and non-

members 

حضاااااااور والتحدث من جانب أعضااااااااء المجلس و ير ال .31

 المساهمين 

32. Adjournment 32. تأجيل االجتماعات 

 

Voting at General Meetings 

 

 

 اجتماعات الجمعيّة العموميّةالتصويت في 

33. Voting: general 33. التصويت: عام 

34. Errors and disputes 34. األخطاء والنزاعات 

35. Demanding a poll 35. طلب االقتراع 

36. Procedure on a poll 36. اإلجراء المتبع بشأن التصويت باالقتراع 

37. Content of proxy notices 37.  محتوى اإلخطارات بالتوكيل في الحضور 

38. Delivery of proxy notices 38. وكيلتتسليم اإلخطارات بال 

39. Amendments to resolutions 39. تعديل القرارات 

Restrictions on Members’ Rights 

 

 القيود على حقوق المساهمين 

40. No voting of shares on which money owed to 

company 

 عدم تصويت األسهم المستحق عليها مبالغ إلى الشركة .40
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Application of Rules to Class Meetings 

 

 

 تطبيق القواعد على اجتماعات فئة األسهم

41. Class meetings 41. اجتماعات فئة األسهم 

 

PART 4 

 

 الفصل الرابع

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

 األسهم والتوزيعات

Issue of Shares 

 

 إصدار األسهم

42. Powers to issue different classes of share 42. سلطة إصدار فئات مختلفة من األسهم 

43. Payment of commissions on subscription for 

shares 

 دفع العموالت على االكتتاب في األسهم .43

 

Interests in Shares 

 

 

 الحق في األسهم

 

44. Company not bound by less than absolute 

interests 

 الشركة  ير ملزمة بأقل من الحق الكامل  .44

 

Share Certificates 

 

 

 شهادات األسهم

45. Certificates to be issued except in certain cases 45. وجوب إصدار الشهادات باستثناء حاالت معيونة 

46. Contents and execution of share certificates 46.  محتويات شهادات األسهم وتوقيعها 

47. Consolidated share certificates 47.  المجمعةشهادات األسهم 

48. Replacement share certificates 48. شهادات األسهم البديلة 

 

Shares Not Held in Certificated Form 

 

 

 األسهم غير المملوكة في شكل شهادة

49. Uncertificated shares 49. األسهم الصادرة دون شهادة 

 

Partly Paid Shares 

 

 

 األسهم المدفوع قيمتها جزئيًا

50. Company’s lien over partly paid shares 50. امتياز الشركة على األسهم المدفوع قيمتها جزئيًا 

51. Enforcement of the company’s lien 51.  تنفيذ امتياز الشركة 

52. Call notices 52.  إخطارات المطالبة بدفع المبالغ المستحقة 

53. Liability to pay calls 53.  المساااااااؤولية عن دفع المبالغ المساااااااتحقة بموجب إخطار

 المطالبة

54. When call notice need not be issued 54.  حاالت عدم الحاجة إلى إصاااااااادار إخطار المطالبة بدفع
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 المبالغ المستحقة

55. Failure to comply with call notice: automatic 

consequences 

قب  .55 بإخطار دفع المبالغ المساااااااتحقة: العوا عدم االلتزام 

 التلقائية

56. Notice of intended forfeiture 56. اإلخطار بالمصادرة المزمع تطبيقها 

57. Directors’ power to forfeit shares 57. صالحية مجلس اإلدارة في مصادرة األسهم 

58. Effect of forfeiture 58. أثر المصادرة 

59. Procedure following forfeiture 59. اإلجراء التالي للمصادرة 

60. Surrender of shares 60. التخلي عن األسهم 

 

Transfer and Transmission of Shares 

 

 

 نقل ملكية األسهم وانتقالها

 

61. Transfers of certificated shares 61. عمليات نقل ملكية األسهم الصادرة بموجب شهادة 

62. Transfer of uncertificated shares 62. نقل ملكية األسهم الصادرة دون شهادة 

63. Transmission of shares 63. انتقال األسهم 

64. Transmittees’ rights 64. حقوق المنقول إليهم 

65. Exercise of transmittees’ rights 65. ممارسة حقوق المنقول إليهم 

66. Transmittees bound by prior notices 66. التزام المنقول إليهم باإلخطارات المسبقة 

 

Consolidation of Shares 

 

 

 تجميع األسهم

67. Procedure for disposing of fractions of shares 67. اإلجراء المتخذ للتصرف في أجزاء األسهم 

 

Distributions 

 

 

 التوزيعات

68. Procedure for declaring dividends 68. اإلجراء المتبع إلعالن أرباح األسهم 

69. Calculation of dividends 69. حساب األرباح 

70. Payment of dividends and other distributions 70. دفع األرباح والتوزيعات األخرى 

71. Deductions from distributions in respect of sums 

owed to the company 

االستقطاعات من التوزيعات بخصوص المبالغ المستحقة  .71

 إلى الشركة

72. No interest on distributions 72. عدم فرض فائدة على التوزيعات 

73. Unclaimed distributions 73. التوزيعات  ير المطالب بها 

74. Non-cash distributions 74. التوزيعات  ير النقدية 

75. Waiver of distributions 75. التنازل عن التوزيعات 

 

Capitalisation of Profits 

 

 

 رسملة األرباح

76. Authority to capitalise and appropriation of 

capitalised sums 

 السلطة لرسملة وتخصيص مبالغ الرسملة .76
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PART 5 

 

 الفصل الخامس

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

 أحكام متنوعة

Communications 

 

 المراسالت

77. Means of communication to be used 77. وسائل االتصال الواجب استخدامها 

78. Failure to notify contact details 78. عدم اإلخطار ببيانات االتصال 

 

Administrative Arrangements 

 

 

 الترتيبات اإلدارية

79. Company seals 79. أختام الشركة 

80. Destruction of documents 80. اتالف المستندات 

81. No right to inspect accounts and other records 81.  عادم الحق في االطالع على الحساااااااااباات والساااااااجالت

 األخرى

82. Provision for employees on cessation of 

business 

 مخصص الموظفين عند وقف الشركة نشاطها  .82

 

Directors’ Indemnity and Insurance 

 

 

 تعويض مجلس اإلدارة والتأمين عليهم

83. Indemnity 83. التعويض 

84. Insurance 84. التأمين 
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PART 1 

 

 الفصل األول

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF 
LIABILITY 

 التفسير وتحديد المسؤولية

 

1. Defined terms 

 

فة .1  المصطلحات الُمعرَّ

 

In the articles, unless the context requires otherwise—  في هذا النظام األساااااساااايي ما لم يتطلب السااااياق خالف
 ذلكي يكون للمصطلحات المبينة المعاني التالية:

“alternate” or “alternate director” has the meaning 
given in article 24,  

ن له المعنى ": يكوالبديل" أو "عضوووووووو المجلس البديل"
 (. 24المادة ) الوارد في

“appointor” has the meaning given in article 24, "ن له المعنى الوارد في ": يكوعضووووو المجلس األصوووولي
 (.24المادة )

“articles” means the company’s articles of 
association, 

 ": يقصد به النظام األساسي للشركة.النظام األساسي"

“bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency 
proceedings in any jurisdiction, 

": يتضااااااامن دعاااوى اإلفالس المنفردة في أ  اإلفالس"
 جهة اختصاص.

“call” has the meaning given in article 52,  المبلغ المساااتحق على األساااهم": يكون له المعنى الوارد"
 (.52في المادة )

“call notice” has the meaning given in article 52, "له المعنى إخطار دفع المبلغ المسوووتحق على األسوووهم :"
 (.52المنصوص عليه في المادة )

“certificate” means a paper certificate evidencing a 
person’s title to specified shares or other securities, 

لكية ": يقصاااد بها الشاااهادة الورقية التي تثبت مالشوووهادة"
 الشخص ألسهم محددة أو أوراق مالية أخرى.

“certificated” in relation to a share, means that it is not 
an uncertificated share, 

": بالنسبة للسهمي يقصد به أنه ليس سهًما صادر بشهادة"
 صادر دون شهادة.

“chairman” has the meaning given in article 11, "(.11يكون له المعنى الوارد في المادة ) ":الرئيس 

“chairman of the meeting” has the meaning given in 
article 30, 

": يكون لااه المعنى الوارد في المااادة رئيس االجتموواع"
(30.) 

“Companies Regulations” means the Companies 
Regulations 2020 (as amended),  

 2020به نظام الشااركات لعام ": يقصااد نظام الشووركات"
 . )كما يتم تعديله(

“company’s lien” has the meaning given in article 50, "ن لااه المعنى الوارد في المااادة ": يكوامتيوواز الشوووووووركووة
(50.) 

“director” means a director of the company, and 
includes any person occupying the position of director, 
by whatever name called, 

": يقصد به عضو مجلس إدارة الشركةي  عضو المجلس"
ويشاامل أ  شااخص يشاابل منصااب عضااو المجلسي وأيًا 

 كان االسم الذ  يُطلق عليه.

“distribution recipient” has the meaning given in 
article 70, 

 (كون له المعنى الوارد في المادةي مسوووووووتلم التوزيع" "
70.) 

“document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any "شملي ما لم يُنص على خالف ذلكي أية وثيقة مستند ": ت
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document sent or supplied in electronic form, .تُرسل أو تُسلوم بصيبة إلكترونية 

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 
1023 of the Companies Regulations, 

": يكون لها المعنى الوارد في البند الصوووويإلة اإللكترونية"
 من نظام الشركات. 1023

“fully paid” in relation to a share, means that the issue 
price to be paid to the company in respect of that share 
have been paid to the company, 

": يقصااد بهي فيما يتعلق بالسااهمي أن ته كاملةً مدفوع قيم"
سعر اإلصدار الواجب دفعه إلى الشركة بخصوص ذلك 

 السهم قد ُدفع إلى الشركة.

“hard copy form” has the meaning given in section 
1023 of the Companies Regulations, 

ية" إلة الورق ند الصوووووووي ها المعنى الوارد في الب ": يكون ل
 من نظام الشركات. 1023

“holder” in relation to shares means the person whose 
name is entered in the register of members as the 
holder of the shares, 

": يقصاد بهي فيما يتعلق باألساهمي الشاخص المقيد المالك"
 اسمه في سجل المساهمين باعتباره مالكاً لألسهم.

“instrument” means a document in hard copy form, "يقصد بها الوثيقة المحررة بصيبة ورقية.الوثيقة :" 

“lien enforcement notice” has the meaning given in 
article 51, 

": يكون له المعنى الوارد في المادة إخطار تنفيذ االمتياز"
(51.) 

“member” has the meaning given in section 117 of the 
Companies Regulations, 

من  117": يكون له المعنى الوارد في البند المسووووووواهم"
 نظام الشركات.

“ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in 
section 298 of the Companies Regulations,  

عادي" ند القرار ال له المعنى الوارد في الب  298": يكون 
 من نظام الشركات. 

“paid” means paid or credited as paid, "يقصد به مدفوع قيمته أو مقيد على أنه مدفوع مدفوع :"
 قيمته.

“participate”, in relation to a directors’ meeting, has 
the meaning given in article 9, 

": يكون له ي فيما يتعلق باجتماع مجلس اإلدارةي يشارك"
 (.9المادة )المعنى الوارد في 

“partly paid” in relation to a share means that part of 
that share’s issue price has not been paid to the 
company, 

": يقصااد بهي فيما يتعلق بالسااهمي أن مدفوع قيمته جزئيًا"
 جزءاً من سعر إصدار ذلك السهم لم تُدفع قيمته للشركة.

“proxy notice” has the meaning given in article 37,  "يكون لااه المعنى الوارد في المااادة إخطووار بووالتوكيوول :"
(37)  

“securities seal” has the meaning given in article 46,  ن له المعنى الوارد في المادة "ختم األوراق المالية ": يكو
(46 .) 

“shares” means shares in the company, "يقصد بها األسهم في الشركة.": األسهم 

“special resolution” has the meaning given in section 
299 of the Companies Regulations,  

 299": يكون له المعنى الوارد في البند القرار الخاص"
 من نظام الشركات. 

“subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1015 
of the Companies Regulations, 

 1015": يكون له المعنى الوارد في البند شووووركة تابعة"
 من نظام الشركات.

“transmittee” means a person entitled to a share by 
reason of the death or bankruptcy of a shareholder or 
otherwise by operation of law, 

إليه السهم  ": يقصد به الشخص الذ  يؤولالمنقول إليه"
 بسبب وفاة المساهم أو أل  سبب آخر بموجب القانون.

“uncertificated” in relation to a share means that, by 
virtue of legislation (other than section 715 of the 
Companies Regulations) permitting title to shares to 
be evidenced and transferred without a certificate, title 

": يقصااااد به فيما يتعلق بالسااااهمي  صووووادر دون شووووهادة"
من نظاااام  715بموجاااب القاااانون )بااااساااااااتثنااااء البناااد 

الشركات(ي السماح بإثبات ونقل ملكية السهم دون إصدار 
ملكية في ذلك السااااهم ويجوز نقلها دون شااااهادةي وتُثبت ال
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to that share is evidenced and may be transferred 
without a certificate, and 

 شهادة.

“writing” means the representation or reproduction of 
words, symbols or other information in a visible form 
by any method or combination of methods, whether 
sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise. 

يقصد به نسخ أو إعادة نسخ للكلمات أو الرموز  ":خطي"
أو المعلومات األخرى بصااااااايبة مرئية أو بأية طريقة أو 
لوم  بصااااايبة  مجموعة من الطرقي ساااااواء أرسااااال أو ساااااُ

 إلكترونية أو  ير ذلك.

Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or 
expressions contained in these articles bear the same 
meaning as in the Companies Regulations as in force 
on the date when these articles become binding on the 
company. 

مااا لم يتطلااب الساااااااياااق خالف ذلااكي يكون للكلمااات أو 
التعبيرات األخرى المتضاااامنة في هذا النظام األساااااسااااي 

السااااااار  في  المعاني ذاتها الواردة في نظام الشااااااركات
التاريخ الذ  يصاااااابح فيه هذا النظام األساااااااسااااااي ملزماً 

 للشركة.

2. Liability of members 2.  مسؤولية المساهمين 

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if 

any, unpaid on the shares held by them. 

تكون مسااؤولية المساااهمين محدودة وتقتصاار على المبلغ 
  ير المدفوعي إن وجدي من األسهم التي يملكونها.

PART 2 الفصل الثاني 

DIRECTORS  أعضاء مجلس اإلدارة 

 

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 صالحيات أعضاء المجلس ومسؤولياتهم

3. Directors’ general authority 3.  السلطة العامة ألعضاء المجلس 

The directors are responsible for the management of 

the company’s business, for which purpose they may 

exercise all the powers of the company. 

أعمااال يكون أعضاااااااااء المجلس مساااااااؤولين عن إدارة 
الشركةي ويجوز لهمي تنفيذًا لذلك البرضي ممارسة جميع 

 الصالحيات نيابةً عن الشركة.

4. Members’ reserve power 4.  الصالحيات المقتصرة على المساهمين 

4.1 The members may, by special resolution, direct 

the directors to take, or refrain from taking, 

specified action. 

يجوز للمساهميني بموجب قرار خاصي توجيه  4.1
أعضااااااااااء المجلس التخااااذ إجراء محااادد أو 

 االمتناع عن اتخاذه.

4.2 No such special resolution invalidates anything 

which the directors have done before the 

passing of the resolution. 

به  4.2 لن يلبي ذلاك القرار الخااص أ  عمال قاام 
 أعضاء مجلس اإلدارة قبل إصدار القرار.

5. Directors may delegate 5.  جواز التفويض من أعضاء مجلس اإلدارة 

5.1 The directors may delegate any of the powers 

which are conferred on them under the 

articles— 

يجوز ألعضااااء المجلس حسااابما يرونه مناساااباً  5.1
تفويض أ  من الصاااااااالحيااات الممنوحااة لهم 

 :كما يلي بموجب النظام األساسي 

(a) to such person or committee, (أ)  أ  شخص أو لجنةي إلى 

(b) by such means (including by power of 

attorney),  

 بأ  طريقة )بما في ذلك إصدار توكيل(ي  (ب)

(c) to such an extent, (ج)  ي التفويضوتحديد نطاق ذلك 
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(d) in relation to such matters or territories, 

and 

وبيااان األمور أو المناااطق التي يشاااااااملهااا  (د)
 التفويضي و

(e) on such terms and conditions, (ه) التفويض التي تحااديااد شاااااااروط وأحكااام و
  ييرونها مناسبة

as they think fit.  

5.2 If the directors so specify, any such delegation 

may authorise further delegation of the 

directors’ powers by any person to whom they 

are delegated. 

في تفويض إذا حاادد أعضاااااااااء المجلس ذلااك  5.2
الصااااالحيوات يجوز أل  شااااخص تم تفويضااااه 

أعضااااااء المجلس إلى أ   تفويض صاااااالحيات
 شخص آخر.

5.3 The directors may revoke any delegation in 

whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions. 

ا أو  5.3 يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة إلباااء التفويض كليااً
 جزئيًاي أو تبيير شروطه أو أحكامه.

6. Committees 6. اللجان 

6.1 Committees to which the directors delegate any 

of their powers must follow procedures which 

are based, as far as they are applicable, on 

those provisions of the articles which govern 

the taking of decisions by directors. 

التي يفوضاااااااهاا أعضاااااااااء يجاب على اللجاان  6.1
المجلس أ  من صاااالحياتهمي اتباع اإلجراءات 
ظام  بالن ية على األحكام الواردة  التي تكون مبن
 األساااااسااااي التي تحكم اتخاذ أعضاااااء المجلس

 للقرارات حسبما تنطبق على الحال.

6.2 The directors may make rules of procedure for 

all or any committees, which prevail over rules 

derived from the articles if they are not 

consistent with them. 

ألعضااااء المجلس أن يضاااعوا لجميع اللجان أو  6.2
أ  منهااا القواعااد اإلجرائيااة والتي يكون لهااا 
األولويااة على القواعااد المشاااااااتقااة من النظااام 

 األساسي في حالة التعارض. 

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS  للقرارات أعضاء المجلساتخاذ 

7. Directors to take decisions collectively 7. للقرارات مجتمعين اتخاذ أعضاء المجلس 

7.1 Decisions of the directors may be taken—  7.1 ــــ  يجوز اتخاذ قرارات ألعضاء المجلس 

(a) at a directors’ meeting, or (أ)  في اجتماع للمجلس ي أو 

(b) in the form of a directors’ written 

resolution. 

قرار خطي صاادر عن أعضااء  في صايبة (ب)
 المجلس.

8. Calling a directors’ meeting 8.  الدعوة الجتماع مجلس اإلدارة 

8.1 Any director may call a directors’ meeting. 8.1  يجوز أل  عضاااااو بالمجلس أن يدعو الجتماع
 مجلس اإلدارة.

8.2 The company secretary must call a directors’ 

meeting if a director so requests.  

يتعين على أمين ساااااار الشااااااركة أن يدعو لعقد  8.2
اجتماع المجلس إذا طلب أحد أعضااااء المجلس 

 ذلك. 

8.3 A directors’ meeting is called by giving notice of 

the meeting to the directors.  

ة الجتماع أعضاااااء المجلس بإرسااااال تتم الدعو 8.3
 إخطار االجتماع إلى أعضاء المجلس. 

8.4 Notice of any directors’ meeting must 

indicate— 

ينببي أن يبين اإلخطااار بعقااد اجتماااع لمجلس  8.4
 اإلدارة ما يلي:

(a) its proposed date and time,  (أ)  التاريخ والموعد المقترح لالجتماعي 
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(b) where it is to take place, and (ب) مقر عقد االجتماعي و 

(c) if it is anticipated that directors 

participating in the meeting will not be in 

the same place, how it is proposed that 

they should communicate with each 

other during the meeting. 

إذا كااان من المتوقع أال يكون أعضااااااااااء  (ج)
شاركين في االجتماع موجودين المجلس الم

في المكان نفسااااهي اقتراح كيفية التواصاااال 
 مع بعضهم بعًضا أثناء االجتماع.

8.5 Notice of a directors’ meeting must be given to 

each director, but need not be in writing. 

سااااااال إخطار اجتماع المجلس 8.5 إلى  ينببي أن يُر 
ال يلزم أن كل عضااو في مجلس اإلدارةي ولكن 

 يكون اإلخطار خطيًا.

8.6 Notice of a directors’ meeting need not be given 

to directors who waive their entitlement to 

notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that 

effect to the company not more than 7 days 

after the date on which the meeting is held. 

Where such notice is given after the meeting 

has been held, that does not affect the validity 

of the meeting, or of any business conducted at 

it. 

ماع المجلس إلى  8.6 ال يلزم إرسااااااااال إخطار اجت
أعضااااااء المجلس الذين يتنازلون عن حقهم في 

ريق إرساااااااال اإلخطار لذلك االجتماعي عن ط
إخطااار بااذلااك إلى الشاااااااركااة بعااد تاااريخ عقااد 

مدة ال تزيد عن  ماع ب حال  7االجت يام. وفي  أ
إذا ُقدم ذلك اإلخطار بعد انعقاد االجتماعي فلن 
ة االجتماع أو على المسائل  يؤثر هذا على صحو

 المتداولة فيه.

9. Participation in directors’ meetings 9.  المشاركة في اجتماعات المجلس 

9.1 Directors participate in a directors’ meeting, or 

part of a directors’ meeting, when— 

يشااااااااارك أعضاااااااااء المجلس في اجتماااعااات  9.1
المجلسي أو جزء من اجتماااااع المجلسي في 

 الحاالت التالية:

(a) the meeting has been called and takes 

place in accordance with the articles, and 

عندما تتم الدعوة لالجتماع وينعقد بموجب  (أ)
 النظام األساسيي و

(b) they can each communicate to the others 

any information or opinions they have on 

any particular item of the business of the 

meeting. 

يمكن ألعضاااااااااء المجلس التواصاااااااال مع  (ب)
ا بخصاوص أية معلومات أو  بعضاهم بعضاً
آراء لااااديهم حول بنااااد مااااا من أعمااااال 

 االجتماع.

9.2 In determining whether directors are 

participating in a directors’ meeting, it is 

irrelevant where any director is or how they 

communicate with each other. 

ة مشاركة أعضاء المجلس في  9.2 ال يؤثر في صحو
لذ  يتواجد اجتماعات مجلس اإلدا رة المكان ا

فيه عضو المجلس أو الكيفية التي يتواصل بها 
 أعضاء المجلس مع بعضهم البعض.

9.3 If all the directors participating in a meeting are 

not in the same place, they may decide that the 

meeting is to be treated as taking place 

wherever any of them is. 

إذا لم يكن أعضاااء المجلس المشاااركون في أ   9.3
اجتماع موجودين في المكان نفسااهي فيجوز لهم 
أن يقرروا أن يُعاادو االجتماااع منعقااداً في مكااان 

 تواجد أ و منهم.

10. Quorum for directors’ meetings 10. النصاب القانوني الجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة 

10.1 At a directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is 

participating, no proposal is to be voted on, 

except a proposal to call another meeting. 

ال ياجاوز فاي أ  اجاتاماااااع لاماجالاس اإلدارة  10.1
التصاااااااويت على أ  مقترح باساااااااتثناء مقترح 

لم يكن عدد أعضااااااااء  الدعوة الجتماع آخر ما
المجلس المشاااااااركين في االجتماعي يسااااااتوفي 

 القانوني.النصاب 

10.2 For the purposes of this article, a quorum shall 

exist at any board meeting if a simple majority 

أل راض هذا النظام األساااااااساااااايي يسااااااتوفى  10.2
النصااااااب القانوني أل  من اجتماعات المجلس 
بحضور األ لبية البسيطة من أعضاء المجلس 
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of the directors are present at the meeting or 

are represented by an alternate director. 

 .أو من يمثلهم من أعضاء المجلس البدالء

10.3 A directors’ meeting may take place, if it is 

called in accordance with the articles. 

إلدارة إذا تمت الدعوة له ينعقد اجتماع مجلس ا 10.3
 النظام األساسي.هذا بموجب 

11. Chairing directors’ meetings 11.  ترأس اجتماعات مجلس اإلدارة 

11.1 The directors may elect or replace a chairman 

from time to time. The chairman shall be one of 

the directors and shall chair board meetings. 

عضاااااااو انتخاب ألعضاااااااااء مجلس اإلدارة يجوز  11.1
أو اساااااااتبداله من وقت  المجلس ليرأس اجتماعاتهم

 .آلخر

11.2 The directors may elect or replace a deputy 

chairman from time to time. The deputy 

chairman to chair directors’ meetings in the 

chairman’s absence.  

عضاااو آخر نتخاب األعضااااء مجلس اإلدارة يجوز  11.2
ا للرئيس ليرأس اجتماااعااات مجلس اإلدارة في  نااائبااً

 .او استبداله من وقت آلخر حال  ياب الرئيس

11.3 The directors may terminate the appointment of 

the chairman, or deputy chairman at any time. 

ئب  11.3 نا هاء تعيين الرئيس أو  يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة إن
 وقت.الرئيس في أ  

11.4 If neither the chairman nor his/her deputy is 

participating in a meeting within ten minutes of 

the time at which it was to start, the participating 

directors must appoint one of themselves to 

chair it. 

ئب الرئيس في  11.4 نا إذا لم يشااااااااارك الرئيسي أو 
الرئيسي في اجتماع ما خالل عشر حال  ياب 

ماعي يعين  بدء االجت قائق من الوقت المحدد ل د
أعضاااااااااااء المجلس واحااااًدا من بينهم ليرأس 

 االجتماع.

12. Voting at directors’ meetings: general rules 12.    التصوووووووويووت في اجتموواعووات مجلس اإلدارة
 قواعد عامة

12.1 A decision is taken at a directors’ meeting by a 

majority of the votes of the participating 

directors. 

يُتخاااذ القرار في اجتمااااع مجلس اإلدارة من  12.1
أ لبياااة أصاااااااوات أعضاااااااااااء مجلس اإلدارة 

 المشاركين.

12.2 Each director participating in a directors’ 

meeting has one vote. 

يكون لكل عضااااو مشااااارك في اجتماع مجلس  12.2
 واحداً.اإلدارة صوتاً 

12.3 If a director has an interest in an actual or 

proposed transaction or arrangement with the 

company— 

إذا كان لعضاااااو المجلس مصااااالحة في صااااافقة  12.3
ية أو مقترحة  لة فعل عام ية أو مقترحة أو م فعل

 مع الشركة ـــ

(a) that director and that director’s alternate 

may not vote on any proposal relating to 

it, but 

ال يجوز لعضو المجلس أو عضو المجلس  (أ)
الباااديااال لاااه التصاااااااويااات على أ  مقترح 

 بخصوص تلك الصفقة ي ولكن

(b) this does not preclude the alternate from 

voting in relation to that transaction or 

arrangement on behalf of another 

appointor who does not have such an 

interest. 

هااذا لن يمنع عضاااااااو المجلس الباادياال من  (ب)
التصاااااويت على تلك الصااااافقة أو المعاملة 
نيابة عن أ  عضاااااااو آخر بالمجلس الذ  

 ليس له هذه المصلحة.
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13. Chairman’s casting vote at directors’ 

meetings 

الصوت المرجح للرئيس في اجتماعات مجلس  .13
 اإلدارة 

If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are 

equal, the chairman or other director chairing the 

meeting has a casting vote. 

إذا تساااااااوى عدد أصااااااوات أعضاااااااء المجلس المؤيدين 
يكون للرئيس أو عضاااااااو  لمقترح ما والمعارضاااااااين لهي

 المجلس الذ  يترأس االجتماع صوت مرجح.

14. Alternates voting at directors’ meetings 14.  تصوووويت عضوووو المجلس البديل في اجتماعات
 المجلس 

A director who is also an alternate director has an 

additional vote on behalf of each appointor who is— 

يكون لعضااو المجلس الذ  ينوب عن عضااو آخر صااوتاً 
 مجلس أصلي ــ إضافياً نيابة عن كل عضو

(a) not participating in a directors’ meeting, 

and 

 لم يشارك في اجتماع المجلسي و (أ)

(b) would have been entitled to vote if they 

were participating in it. 

 كان يحق له التصويت لو كان مشارًكا فيه. (ب)

15. Conflicts of interest 15. تعارض المصالح 

15.1 If a directors’ meeting, or part of a directors’ 

meeting, is concerned with an actual or 

proposed transaction or arrangement with the 

company in which a director is interested, that 

director is not to be counted as participating in 

that meeting, or part of a meeting, for quorum 

or voting purposes. 

إذا كان اجتماع مجلس اإلدارةي أو جزءاً منهي  15.1
معنيًا بصفقة فعلية أو مقترحةي أو معاملة فعلية 
أو مقترحةي مع الشاااركة ولعضاااو المجلس فيها 
مصلحةي فلن يُحتسب ذلك العضو المشارك في 
ذلاااك االجتمااااع أو الجزء من االجتمااااعي في 

 يت.النصاب القانوني أو التصو

15.2 But if paragraph (3) applies, a director who is 

interested in an actual or proposed transaction 

or arrangement with the company is to be 

counted as participating in a decision at a 

directors’ meeting, or part of a directors’ 

meeting, relating to it for quorum and voting 

purposes. 

(ي 3ر م ذلاااكي إذا كاااانااات تسااااااار  الفقرة ) 15.2
فيُحتساااب عضاااو المجلس الذ  له مصااالحة في 
صااافقة أو معاملة فعلية أو مقترحة مع الشاااركة 
على أنه مشارك في القرار في اجتماع المجلس 
أو ذلااك الجزء من اجتماااع المجلس أل راض 

 النصاب القانوني والتصويت.

15.3 This paragraph applies when— 15.3 :تسر  هذه الفقرة في الحاالت التالية 

(a) the company by ordinary resolution 

disapplies the provision of the articles 

which would otherwise prevent a director 

from being counted as participating in, or 

voting at, a directors’ meeting, 

توقف الشركةي بموجب قرار عاد ي عندما  (أ)
تطبيق أحكام هذا النص الذ  يمنع عضاااااو 
المجلس من أن يُحتساااب على أنه مشاااارك 
 في اجتماع المجلس أو في التصويت فيهي

(b) the director’s interest cannot reasonably 

be regarded as likely to give rise to a 

conflict of interest, or 

اعتبار مصااااااالحة عضاااااااو  عندما ال يمكن (ب)
المجلس أنها يحتمل أن تتسبب في تعارض 

 مصالحي أو

(c) the director’s conflict of interest arises 

from a permitted cause. 

عندما ينشاااأ تعارض المصاااالح عن سااابب  (ج)
 مقبول لدى الشركة.

15.4 For the purposes of this article, the following 

are permitted causes— 

أل راض هذه المادةي يعد ما يلي أسااابابًا مقبولة  15.4
: 

(a) a guarantee given, or to be given, by or 

to a director in respect of an obligation 

قدم من أو إلى عضاااااااو  (أ) مان الذ  ي الضااااااا
أو إلى  المجلس أو يتوجاااب أن يقااادم من
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incurred by or on behalf of the company 

or any of its subsidiaries, 

عضااااو المجلس بخصااااوص التزام تتحمله 
الشااركة أو يتم تحمله نيابة عن الشااركة أو 

 أ  من الشركات التابعة لهاي

(b) subscription, or an agreement to 

subscribe, for shares or other securities 

of the company or any of its subsidiaries, 

or to underwrite, sub-underwrite, or 

guarantee subscription for any such 

shares or securities, and 

االكتتااااب أو االتفااااق على االكتتااااب في  (ب)
األسهم أو األوراق المالية األخرى الخاصة 

من الشركات التابعة لها أو  بالشركة أو أ 
التعهاااد باااالتبطياااة أو التعهاااد من البااااطن 
 بالتبطية أو ضااامان االكتتاب في أية أساااهم

 أو أوراق مالية من هذا القبيلي و

(c) arrangements pursuant to which benefits 

are made available to employees and 

directors or former employees and 

directors of the company or any of its 

subsidiaries which do not provide special 

benefits for directors or former directors. 

ا لهاااا المناااافع  (ج) الترتيباااات التي تتااااح طبقاااً
فآت للموظفين وأعضاااااااااء المجلس  كا والم
الحاليين أو الساااااابقين بالشاااااركة أو أ  من 
الشااااااركات التابعة لها التي ال تقدم مكافآت 
ومنافع خاصاااة ألعضااااء المجلس الحاليين 

 أو السابقين.

15.5 Subject to paragraph (6), if a question arises at 

a meeting of directors or of a committee of 

directors as to the right of a director to 

participate in the meeting (or part of the 

meeting) for voting or quorum purposes, the 

question may, before the conclusion of the 

meeting, be referred to the chairman whose 

ruling in relation to any director other than the 

chairman is to be final and conclusive. 

(ي إذا طُرح 6مع مراعاة عدم اإلخالل بالفقرة ) 15.5
ساااااااؤال في اجتماع المجلس أو لجنة من لجان 
المجلس بشأن حق عضو المجلس في المشاركة 

أل راض  في االجتماع )أو جزء من االجتماع(
التصااااااويت أو احتساااااااب النصاااااااب القانونيي 
فيجوز أن يحال الساااؤالي قبل اختتام االجتماعي 
إلى الرئيس الذ  يكون حكمه بشااأن أ  عضااو 

  ير الرئيس نهائيًا وقاطعًا.

15.6 If any question as to the right to participate in 

the meeting (or part of the meeting) should 

arise in respect of the chairman, the question is 

to be decided by a decision of the directors at 

that meeting, for which purpose the chairman is 

not to be counted as participating in the 

meeting (or that part of the meeting) for voting 

or quorum purposes. 

أ  ساااؤال بشاااأن الحق في المشااااركة  إذا ُطرح 15.6
في االجتماااااع )أو جزء منااااه( بخصاااااااوص 
الرئيسي فيتعين أن يُبت في الساااااااؤال بموجب 
قرار من المجلس في ذلك االجتماعي بحيث ال 
يُحتساااااااب الرئيس لذلك البرض مشاااااااارًكا في 
االجتماااااع )أو ذلااااك الجزء من االجتماااااع( 

 أل راض التصويت أو النصاب القانوني.

16. Proposing directors’ written resolutions 16.  اقتراح القرارات الخطية للمجلس 

16.1 Any director may propose a directors’ written 

resolution. 

يجوز أل  عضاااو بالمجلس أن يقترح إصااادار  16.1
 المجلس قراًرا خطيًا.

16.2 The company secretary must propose a 

directors’ written resolution if a director so 

requests.  

يتعين على أمين سر الشركة أن يقترح إصدار  16.2
ا لمجلس اإلدارة إذا طلااب  المجلس قراًرا خطيااً

 عضو من أعضاء المجلس ذلك. 

16.3 A directors’ written resolution is proposed by 

giving notice of the proposed resolution to the 

directors. 

يتم اقتراح إصااااااادار القرار الخطي ألعضاااااااء  16.3
المجلس عن طريق إرسااااااااال إخطااار بااالقرار 

 المقترح إلى أعضاء المجلس.

16.4 Notice of a proposed directors’ written 

resolution must indicate—  

ينببي أن يبين اإلخطار المتعلق بإصدار القرار  16.4
 الخطي: 

(a) the proposed resolution, and (أ) نص القرار المقترحي و 
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(b) the time by which it is proposed that the 

directors should adopt it. 

يُقترح على أعضاااااااء المجلس الوقت الذ   (ب)
 اتخاذ القرار فيه.

16.5 Notice of a proposed directors’ written 

resolution must be given in writing to each 

director.  

يجب أن يقدم اإلخطار بإصاااادار القرار الخطي  16.5
 المقترح إلى كل عضو بالمجلس. 

16.6 Any decision which a person giving notice of a 

proposed directors’ written resolution takes 

regarding the process of adopting that 

resolution must be taken reasonably in good 

faith. 

ينببي أن يتخذ الشااااخص الذ  يرساااال إخطاًرا  16.6
بشاااان إصااادار المجلس القرار الخطي المقترح 
بخصااااوص إصاااادار ذلك القرار قراره بشااااأن 

القرار بحسااااااان نية وعلى نحو إصاااااااداره ذلك 
 معقول.

17. Adoption of directors’ written resolutions 17.  إصدار القرارات الخطية للمجلس 

17.1 A proposed directors’ written resolution is 

adopted when all the directors who would have 

been entitled to vote on the resolution at a 

directors’ meeting have signed one or more 

copies of it, provided that those directors would 

have formed a quorum at such a meeting. 

ي صاااااااادر القرار الخطي المقترح عناادمااا يوقع  17.1
أعضاااء المجلس ممن يحق لهم التصااويت على 
القرار لو صااااااادر للمجلس في اجتماع المجلس 

ر منهي بشااااااارط أن على نساااااااخة واحدة أو أكث
يُشااكول هؤالء األعضاااء نصااابًا قانونيًا في ذلك 

 االجتماع.

17.2 It is immaterial whether any director signs the 

resolution before or after the time by which the 

notice proposed that it should be adopted. 

قااد وقع على  ال يهم إذا كااان عضاااااااو المجلس 17.2
أو بالقرار القرار قبل وقت إصااااااادار اإلخطار 

 بعده.

17.3 Once a directors’ written resolution has been 

adopted, it must be treated as if it had been a 

decision taken at a directors’ meeting in 

accordance with the articles. 

ينببي  بمجرد إصااااادار القرار الخطي للمجلسي 17.3
عامل ذلك القرار كما لو كان قد اتُخذ  في  أن يُ
هذا  د  صاااااااحيحااً بموجب  اجتمااع للمجلس ُعقاَ

 النظام األساسي.

17.4 The company secretary must ensure that the 

company keeps a record, in writing, of all 

directors’ written resolutions for at least ten 

years from the date of their adoption. 

يتعين على أمين سااااااار الشاااااااركة أن يتأكد من  17.4
احتفاظ الشركة بسجل لجميع القرارات الخطية 
للمجلس لمدة عشااااااار سااااااانوات على األقل من 

 تاريخ إصدارها.

18. Directors’ discretion to make further rules 18.  سووووولطة المجلس التقديرية في إصووووودار المزيد
 من القواعد

The directors may make any rule which they think fit 

about how they take decisions, and about how such 

rules are to be recorded or communicated to directors. 

يجوز للمجلس أن يصاااااادر أية قاعدة تتراءى لهم بشااااااأن 
كيفية اتخاذهم للقراراتي وبشأن كيفية تدوين تلك القواعد 

 تبليبها إلى أعضاء المجلس. أو

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS  تعيين أعضاء المجلس 

19. Methods of appointing directors 19.  طرق تعيين أعضاء المجلس 

Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is 

permitted by law to do so, may be appointed to be a 

director— 

شااخص ير ب في التصاارف بصاافته عضااواً  يجوز أل 
بالمجلس ومسااموح له بأن يكون عضااواً بموجب القانون 

 أن يُعين عضواً بالمجلس بموجب ما يلي:

(a) by ordinary resolution, or (أ) بموجب قرار عاد ي أو 

(b) by a decision of the directors. (ب) .بموجب قرار من مجلس اإلدارة 
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20. Term 20. المدة 

20.1 The directors shall be elected at every third 

annual general meeting of the company. 

كل ثالث سااانوات أعضااااء المجلس يتم انتخاب  20.1
 في الجمعية العمومية.

20.2 There shall not be any limit on the number of 

times any particular director may be re-elected 

as a director of the company.  

ال يوجد حد أقصاااااى لعدد المرات التي يتم فيها  20.2
 للشركة.عضو مجلس إعادة انتخاب أ  

21. Termination of director’s appointment 21.  إنهاء تعيين أعضاء المجلس 

A person ceases to be a director as soon as—   يفقد الشااخص صاافة العضااوية بالمجلس بمجرد توافر أ
 من الحاالت التالية: 

(a) that person ceases to be a director by 

virtue of any provision of the Companies 

Regulations or is prohibited from being a 

director by law, 

إذا لم يعد ذلك الشاااخص عضاااواً بالمجلس  (أ)
ظام الشاااااااركات أو  إعماالً أل  حكم من ن
يُحظر علياااه أن يكون عضاااااااواً بموجااب 

 القانوني

(b) that person becomes bankrupt, (ب) أن أشهر إفالسهي 

(c) a composition is made with that person’s 

creditors generally in satisfaction of that 

person’s debts, 

إذا أبرم الصااااااالح الواقي من اإلفالس مع  (ج)
 دائنيه للوفاء بديونهي

(d) a registered medical practitioner who is 

treating that person gives a written 

opinion to the company stating that that 

person has become physically or 

mentally incapable of acting as a director 

and may remain so for more than three 

months, 

إذا أصاادر ممارس طبي مسااجل يعالك ذلك  (د)
الشااااخص رأيًا خطيًا إلى الشااااركة يفيد بأن 

الشاااااااخص قد أصااااااابح  ير قادر من  ذلك
الناااحيااة الجساااااااادياة أو العقليااة على القيااام 
بمهامه كعضااااااو بالمجلس ومن الممكن أن 
يظل على ذلك الحال لمدة تزيد عن ثالثة 

 أشهري

(e) by reason of that person’s mental health, 

a court makes an order which wholly or 

partly prevents that person from 

personally exercising any powers or 

rights which that person would otherwise 

have, 

أن أصااادرت محكمةي بسااابب الحالة العقلية  (ه)
لذلك الشااااخصي قراًرا يمنعه كليًا أو جزئيًا 
من ممارسااة أية صااالحيات أو حقوق كان 

 يمكن أن يتمتع بها ذلك الشخصي

(f) notification is received by the company 

from the director that the director is 

resigning from office as director, and 

such resignation has taken effect in 

accordance with its terms. 

إذا تلقاات الشاااااااركااة من عضاااااااو المجلس  (و)
إخطاراً بإساااتقالته من منصااابه وأصااابحت 

 تلك االستقالة سارية بموجب شروطها.

22. Directors’ remuneration 22. مكافأة أعضاء المجلس 

22.1 Directors may undertake any services for the 

company that the directors decide.  

ية  22.1 قديم أ يجوز ألعضاااااااااء المجلس أن يتولوا ت
خدمات يقرر أعضااااء المجلس تقديمها لصاااالح 

 الشركة. 

22.2 Directors are entitled to such remuneration as 

the members determine— 

يحق ألعضااااااء المجلس تقاضاااااي المكافأة التي  22.2
 نظير ما يلي:المساهمين يحددها 
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(a) for their services to the company as 

directors, and 

خدماتهم المقدمة إلى الشاااااااركة بصااااااافتهم  (أ)
 أعضاء بالمجلسي و 

(b) for any other service which they 

undertake for the company.  

أيااة خاادمااة أخرى يتعهاادون بتقااديمهااا إلى  (ب)
 الشركة. 

22.3 A director’s remuneration may— 22.3 يجوز أن تتخذ مكافأة عضو المجلس ــ 

(a) take any form, and (أ) أ  شكلي و 

(b) include any arrangements in connection 

with the payment of a pension, allowance 

or gratuity, or any death, sickness or 

disability benefits, to or in respect of that 

director. 

تشااتمل على أية ترتيبات تتعلق بدفع معا   (ب)
أو بادل أو هبااة أو أياة منااافع تنشااااااااأ عنااد 

اة أو مرض أو عجز لاااذلاااك حااادوث وفااا
 العضو.

22.4 Unless the members decide otherwise, 

directors’ remuneration accrues from day to 

day. 

خالف ذلك ي تُسااااتحق  المساااااهمونما لم يقرر  22.4
 مكافأة أعضاء المجلس على أساس يومي.

23. Directors’ expenses 23.  مصاريف أعضاء المجلس 

The company may pay any reasonable expenses 

which the directors properly incur in connection with 

their attendance at— 

يجوز للشااااااركة أن تدفع أية مصاااااااريف معقولة يتحملها 
أعضااااء المجلس على نحو ساااليم فيما يتعلق بحضاااورهم 

 في أ  مما يلي:

(a) meetings of directors or committees of 

directors,  

 اجتماعات المجلس أو لجانهي  (أ)

(b) general meetings, or (ب) اجتماعات الجمعية العموميةي أو 

(c) separate meetings of the holders of any 

class of shares or of debentures of the 

company, 

االجتماعات المنفصاااااالة لمالكي أية فئة من  (ج)
 أسهم الشركة أو سنداتهاي

or otherwise in connection with the exercise of 
their powers and the discharge of their 
responsibilities in relation to the company. 

أو  ير ذلك فيما يتعلق بممارسة صالحياتهم واالضطالع 
 بمسؤولياتهم تجاه الشركة.

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS  أعضاء المجلس البدالء 

24. Appointment and removal of alternates 24. وإقالتهم تعيين أعضاء المجلس البدالء 

24.1 Any director (the “appointor”) may appoint as 

an alternate any other director, or any other 

person approved by resolution of the directors, 

to— 

يجوز أل  عضااااو بالمجلس )"عضااااو المجلس  24.1
عضااو آخر بدياًل له أو  األصاالي"( أن يعين أ 

يعين أ  شاااااااخص تتم الموافقاة علياه بموجب 
 قرار من المجلسي لكي ـــ

(a) exercise that director’s powers, and (أ) يمارس صالحيات ذلك العضوي و 

(b) carry out that director’s responsibilities, (ب) ينفذ مهام ذلك العضوي 

in relation to the taking of decisions by the 
directors in the absence of the alternate’s 
appointor. 

فيمااا يتعلق باااتخاااذ القرارات من قباال المجلس 
في حال  ياب عضااااو المجلس األصاااالي الذ  

 عين عضو المجلس البديل.
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24.2 Any appointment or removal of an alternate 

must be effected by notice in writing to the 

company signed by the appointor, or in any 

other manner approved by the directors. 

يجب تنفيذ أ  تعيين أو إقالة عضاااااااو المجلس  24.2
البديل عن طريق إخطار خطي إلى الشاااااااركة 
يوقع عليه عضااااااو المجلس األصااااااليي أو بأية 

 طريقة أخرى يوافق المجلس عليها.

24.3 The notice must— 24.3 ن ــيجب في ذلك اإلخطار أ 

(a) identify the proposed alternate, and (أ)  يحدد عضو المجلس البديل المقترحي و 

(b) in the case of a notice of appointment, 

contain a statement signed by the 

proposed alternate that the proposed 

alternate is willing to act as the alternate 

of the director giving the notice. 

بالتعييني على  (ب) لة اإلخطار  يحتو ي في حا
يل  بد ها عضاااااااو المجلس ال فادة يوقع علي إ
المقترح تفيد بقبول عضو المجلس المقترح 
التصاااارف بصاااافته بدياًل لعضااااو المجلس 

 ل اإلخطار.األصلي الذ  أرس

25. Rights and responsibilities of alternate 

directors 

 حقوق أعضاء المجلس البدالء وواجباتهم .25

25.1 An alternate director has the same rights, in 

relation to any directors’ meeting or directors’ 

written resolution, as the alternate’s appointor. 

المجلس الباادياال الحقوق ذاتهااا يكون لعضاااااااو  25.1
المتاحة لعضااو المجلس األصاالي المرتبطة بأ  

 اجتماع للمجلس أو بقرار خطي للمجلس.

25.2 Alternate directors—  25.2  أعضاء المجلس البدالء ــ 

(a) are deemed for all purposes to be 

directors, 

يُاعااتاابااروا لاجااماايااع األ اراض أعضاااااااااااء  (أ)
 بالمجلسي 

(b) are liable for their own acts and 

omissions, 

 يتحملوا المسؤولية عن أفعالهم وتقصيرهمي (ب)

(c) are subject to the same restrictions as 

their appointors, and 

يخضاااااااعوا للقيود ذاتها التي يخضاااااااع لها  (ج)
 أعضاء المجلس األصلييني و

(d) are not deemed to be agents of or for 

their appointors.  

الء عن أعضااااااااااء المجلس ال يُعااادوا وك (د)
 األصليين. 

25.3 A person who is an alternate director but not a 

director— 

يجوز للشاااااخص الذ  يُعين عضاااااواً بالمجلس  25.3
 بدياًل وليس عضواً دائماً بالمجلس ـ

(a) may be counted as participating for the 

purposes of determining whether a 

quorum is participating (but only if that 

person’s appointor is not participating), 

and 

أن يحتساااااااب مشاااااااارًكا أل راض تحديد  (أ)
اسااااتيفاء النصاااااب القانوني )ولكن فقط في 
حال إذا كان عضااو المجلس األصاالي الذ  
عين ذلااك الشاااااااخص  ير مشااااااااارك في 

 االجتماع(ي و

(b) may sign a written resolution (but only if 

it is not signed or to be signed by that 

person’s appointor). 

أن يوقع على أ  قرار خطي )لكن فقط في  (ب)
حاااال إذا لم يوقع علياااه عضاااااااو المجلس 
األصاااااالي أو ينببي أن يوقع عليه عضااااااو 

 المجلس األصلي(ي

No alternate may be counted as more than one 

director for such purposes. 

وال يجوز أن يُحتسب أ  عضو المجلس البديل 
على أنااااه أكثر من عضاااااااو المجلس لتلااااك 

 األ راض.

25.4 An alternate director is not entitled to receive 

any remuneration from the company for serving 

as an alternate director except such part of the 

ال يحق لعضااو المجلس البديل أن يحصاال على  25.4
عضو مجلس أية مكافأة من الشركة نظير عمله 

بدياًل باسااااااتثناء ذلك الجزء من مكافأة عضااااااو 
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alternate’s appointor’s remuneration as the 

appointor may direct by notice in writing made 

to the company. 

المجلس األصاااالي الذ  يحدده عضااااو المجلس 
توجيهات يرساااااالها بموجب األصاااااالي بموجب 

 إخطار خطي إلى الشركة.

26. Termination of alternate directorship 26. عزل أعضاء المجلس البدالء من منصبهم 

An alternate director’s appointment as an alternate 

terminates— 

 ينتهي تعيين عضاااو المجلس البديل بصااافته عضاااواً بدياًل 
 في الحاالت التالية:

(a) when the alternate’s appointor revokes 

the appointment by notice to the 

company in writing specifying when it is 

to terminate, 

عندما يُلبي عضاااو المجلس األصااالي الذ   (أ)
نه التعيين بموجب إخطار يوجه خطًيا  عي

 إلى الشركة ويحدد موعد إنهاء التعيين.

(b) on the occurrence in relation to the 

alternate of any event which, if it 

occurred in relation to the alternate’s 

appointor, would result in the termination 

of the appointor’s appointment as a 

director, 

فور وقوع أ  حدث يتعلق بعضااو المجلس  (ب)
الباادياال ينتك عنااهي فيمااا لو كااان قااد وقع 

األصاااااليي إنهاء تعيين العضاااااو  للعضاااااو
 األصلي.

(c) on the death of the alternate’s appointor, 

or 

 فور وفاة عضو المجلس األصليي أو (ج)

(d) when the alternate’s appointor’s 

appointment as a director terminates, 

except that an alternate’s appointment 

as an alternate does not terminate when 

the appointor retires by rotation at a 

general meeting and is then re-appointed 

as a director at the same general 

meeting. 

عناااادمااااا ينتهي تعيين عضاااااااو المجلس  (د)
األصاااااااليي إال أن تعيين عضاااااااو المجلس 
بالمجلس ال ينتهي عندما  البديل عضاااااااواً 

تناوب يساااتقيل عضاااو المجلس األصااالي بال
في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية ويعاد تعيينه 
بعدها عضواً في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية 

 نفسه.

PART 3 الفصل الثالث 

DECISION-MAKING BY MEMBERS آلية اتخاذ المساهمين للقرارات 

 

27. Organisation of General Meetings 

 

 تنظيم اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية .27

27.1 A general meeting of the company may be  

called by the directors and as otherwise 

prescribed in the Companies Regulations. 

27.2 Members can call for general meetings in the 

event the number of directors is insufficient, if— 

يجوز ألعضاء المجلس الدعوة النعقاد الجمعية  27.1
ركةي أو كما ينص عله في نظام العمومية للشاااااا

 الشركات.
 

يجوز للمسااااااهمين الدعوة الجتماعات الجمعية  27.2
ية عدد أعضاااااااااء  فا حال عدم ك العمومية في 

 المجلس في الحاالت التالية:

(a) the company has fewer than two 

directors, and 

إذا كان عدد أعضاااء المجلس بالشااركة أقل  (أ)
 من عضويني و

(b) the director (if any) is unable or unwilling 

to appoint sufficient directors to make up 

كان عضاااااااو المجلس )إن وجد(  ير قادر  (ب)
أو  ير را ااب في تعيين عاادد كاااف  من 
أعضااااء المجلس ليشاااكل نصاااابًا قانونيًا أو 

معيااة العموميااة لتنفيااذ ياادعو الجتماااع الج
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a quorum or to call a general meeting to 

do so, 

 ذلكي

In such an event, two or more members may 

call a general meeting (or instruct the company 

secretary to do so) for the purpose of 

appointing one or more directors. 

أو أكثر الدعوة  في هذه الحالة لمساهمينيجوز 
الجتماع الجمعية العمومية )أو إصدار تعليمات 
إلى أمين سر الشركة لتنفيذ ذلك( لبرض تعيين 

 عضو واحد للمجلس أو أكثر.

28. Attendance and speaking at general 

meetings 

الحضوووووووور والتحوودث في اجتموواعووات الجمعيوة  .28
 العمومية

28.1 A person is able to exercise the right to speak 

at a general meeting when that person is in a 

position to communicate to all those attending 

the meeting, during the meeting, any 

information or opinions which that person has 

on the business of the meeting. 

شخص قادًرا على ممارسة الحق في يكون أ   28.1
التحادث في اجتمااع الجمعياة العمومياة عنادماا 
يمكن لاااذلاااك الشاااااااخص باااأن ينقااال إلى كااال 
الحاضاااااارين في االجتماعي أثناء االجتماعي أية 
 معلومات أو آراء لديه حول أعمال االجتماع.

28.2 A person is able to exercise the right to vote at 

a general meeting when— 

يكون أ  شاااااااخص قادًرا على ممارساااااااة حق  28.2
التصاااااااويت في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية في 

 الحاالت التالية:

(a) that person is able to vote, during the 

meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at 

the meeting, and 

عناادمااا يكون ذلااك الشاااااااخص قااادًرا على  (أ)
قرارات التصاااويتي أثناء االجتماعي على ال

 المطروحة للتصويت في االجتماعي و

(b) that person’s vote can be taken into 

account in determining whether or not 

such resolutions are passed at the same 

time as the votes of all the other persons 

attending the meeting. 

عناادمااا يمكن احتساااااااااب تصاااااااوياات ذلااك  (ب)
في تحااديااد مااا إذا كاااناات تلااك الشاااااااخص 

القرارات يتم إصاااااااادارهااا في نفس وقاات 
تصاااويت جميع األشاااخاص اآلخرين الذين 

 يحضرون االجتماع.

28.3 The directors may make whatever 

arrangements they consider appropriate to 

enable those attending a general meeting to 

exercise their rights to speak or vote at it. 

يجوز لعضاااااااو المجلس إجراء أية ترتيبات أًيا  28.3
كانت حسبما يتراءى لهم لتمكين من يحضرون 
اجتماع الجمعية العمومية من ممارساااة حقوقهم 

 في التحدث في االجتماع أو التصويت فيه.

28.4 In determining attendance at a general 

meeting, it is immaterial whether any two or 

more members attending it are in the same 

place as each other. 

ة انعقاااد اجتماااع الجمعيااة  28.4 ال يؤثر في صاااااااحااو
العموميةي وال يشااااترط أن يكون مساااااهمين أو 

 أكثر متواجدين في نفس المكان معاً.

28.5 Two or more persons who are not in the same 

place as each other attend a general meeting if 

their circumstances are such that if they have 

(or were to have) rights to speak and vote at 

that meeting, they are (or would be) able to 

exercise them. 

يكون حضااااااور شااااااخصااااااان أو أكثر ليسااااااوا  28.5
ا  متواجدين في نفس المكان مع بعضااااهم بعضااااً

لعمومية صاااحيحاً إذا كان من اجتماع الجمعية ا
الممكن أن يماااارساااااااوا حقوقهم المعتاااادة في 
التحدث والتصاااااااويت وتسااااااامح لهم الظروف 

 بممارسة تلك الحقوق.

29. Quorum for general meetings 29.  ة النصووووووووواب القوووانوني الجتمووواعوووات الجمعيوووّ
 العمومية

29.1 Subject to due notice of a general meeting 

being given, a quorum shall exist at any general 

meeting of the company if members holding at 

least a simple majority of the aggregate number 

of voting rights attaching to the entire issued 

بعاااااااد اإلعااااااااالن عااااااان دعااااااااوة الجمعيااااااااة   29.1
نصاااااااااب يتحقااااااااق  العموميااااااااة للحضااااااااوري

انعقااااااااااد الجمعياااااااااة العمومياااااااااة بحضاااااااااور 
اشاااااخاص يمثلاااااون ا لبياااااة أساااااهم الشاااااركة 
سااااااااااااااواء )بشخوصااااااااااااااهم أو بموجااااااااااااااب 
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share capital of the company are present (in 

person or by proxy).  

29.2 No business other than the appointment of the 

chairman of the meeting is to be transacted at 

a general meeting if the persons attending it do 

not constitute a quorum. 

 وكالة(.
   
 

 
 

عااااااادم تاااااااداول أياااااااة أعماااااااال فاااااااي  يتعاااااااين 29.2
اجتمااااااع الجمعياااااة العمومياااااة ساااااوى تعياااااين 
رئااااااايس االجتمااااااااع إذا كاااااااان الحاضااااااارون 
فااااااااااي االجتماااااااااااع ال يشااااااااااكلون نصااااااااااابًا 

 قانونيًا.

30. Chairing general meetings 30. ترؤس اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية 

30.1 If the directors have appointed a chairman, the 

chairman shall chair general meetings if 

present and willing to do so. 

اي فيتعين على  30.1 إذا عين أعضااااء المجلس رئيسااااً
الرئيس أن يرأس اجتماعات الجمعية العمومية 

 حاضًرا وقادراً على ذلك. إذا كان

30.2 If the directors have not appointed a chairman, 

or if the chairman is unwilling to chair the 

meeting or is not present within ten minutes of 

the time at which a meeting was due to start— 

ا أو إذا لم  30.2 إذا لم يعين أعضااااااء المجلس رئيساااااً
ماع أو ي قادراً على أن يرأس االجت كن الرئيس 

إذا لم يكن حاضاااااااًرا خالل عشااااااار دقائق من 
 الموعد المقرر لبدء االجتماع ــ

(a) the directors present, or (أ)  يتعين على أعضاااااء المجلس الحاضااااريني
 أو

(b) if no directors are present, the members, (ب)  إذا لم يكن هنااااك أ  عضاااااااو باااالمجلس
حاااااضاااااااري فينببي على المساااااااااااهمين 

 الحاضريني 

must appoint a director or member to chair the 

meeting, and the appointment of the chairman 

of the meeting must be the first business of the 

meeting. 

تعيين عضاااااو مجلس إدارة أو مسااااااهم ليرأس 
االجتماااااعي وينببي أن يكون تعيين رئيس 

 االجتماع هو أول أعمال االجتماع.

30.3 The person chairing a meeting in accordance 

with this article is referred to as “the chairman 

of the meeting”. 

يشاااااااار إلى الشاااااااخص الذ  يترأس االجتماع  30.3
 بموجب هذه المادة باسم "رئيس االجتماع".

31. Attendance and speaking by directors and 

non-members 

الحضووور والتحدث من جانب أعضوواء المجلس  .31
 وغير المساهمين 

31.1 Directors may attend and speak at general 

meetings, whether or not they are members.  

31.2 The chairman of the meeting may permit other 

persons  who are not— 

يجوز ألعضااااااء المجلس حضاااااور اجتماعات  31.1
الجمعيااة العموميااة والتحاادث أمااامهاااي ساااااااواًء 

 .أكانوا مساهمين أم ال

يجوز لرئيس االجتماع أن يسااااامح ألشاااااخاص  31.2
آخرين بااالحضاااااااور والتحاادث في اجتماااعااات 

 الجمعيوة العموميوة إذا كانوا ــ

(a) members of the company, or (أ) من  ير مساهمي الشركةي أو 

(b) otherwise entitled to exercise the rights 

of members in relation to general 

meetings, to attend and speak at a 

general meeting. 

ال يحق لهم ممارسة حقوق المساهمين أل   (ب)
سااااااابب فيما يتعلق بحضاااااااور اجتماعات 
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32. Adjournment 32.  االجتماعاتتأجيل 

32.1 If the persons attending a general meeting 

within half an hour of the time at which the 

meeting was due to start do not constitute a 

quorum, or if during a meeting a quorum 

ceases to be present, the chairman of the 

meeting must adjourn it. 

كان األشاااااااخاص الذين حضاااااااروا اجتماع إذا  32.1
الجمعية العمومية خالل نصاااااااف سااااااااعة من 
ماع ال يشاااااااكلوا  بدء االجت يه  الموعد المقرر ف
النصااااااااب القانوني ي أو إذا لم يعد النصااااااااب 
القااانوني متحققاااً أثناااء االجتماااعي فيتعين على 

 رئيس االجتماع تأجيل االجتماع.

32.2 The chairman of the meeting may adjourn a 

general meeting at which a quorum is present 

if 

يجوز لرئيس االجتماع تأجيل اجتماع الجمعية  32.2
العمومية الذ  يحضر فيه النصاب القانوني في 

 الحاالت التالية:

(a) the meeting consents to an adjournment, 

or 

إذا وافقت الجمعية العمومية على التأجيل ي  (أ)
 أو

(b) it appears to the chairman of the meeting 

that an adjournment is necessary to 

protect the safety of any person 

attending the meeting or ensure that the 

business of the meeting is conducted in 

an orderly manner. 

إذا بدا لرئيس االجتماع أن تأجيل االجتماع  (ب)
سالمة أ  شخص يحضر ضرورياً لحماية 

االجتماع أو لضمان مناقشة وتناول أعمال 
 االجتماع بطريقة منظمة .

32.3 The chairman of the meeting must adjourn a 

general meeting if directed to do so by the 

meeting. 

يتعين على رئيس االجتمااااع تاااأجيااال اجتمااااع  32.3
ا بااذلااك من  الجمعيااة العموميااة إذا تلقى توجيهااً

 الجمعية العمومية.

32.4 When adjourning a general meeting, the 

chairman of the meeting must— 

عنااد تاأجياال اجتماااع الجمعيااة العموميااةي يجاب  32.4
 على رئيس االجتماع ما يلي:

(a) either specify the time and place to which 

it is adjourned or state that it is to 

continue at a time and place to be fixed 

by the directors, and 

أن يحدد موعد ومكان االجتماع المؤجل أو  (أ)
يذكر وجوب استكمال االجتماع في الموعد 

 والمكان الذ  يحدده مجلس اإلدارةي و

(b) have regard to any directions as to the 

time and place of any adjournment which 

have been given by the meeting. 

أن يراعي أية توجيهات تصااادرها الجمعية  (ب)
ماع  العمومية بشااااااااأن موعد ومكان االجت

 المؤجل.

32.5 If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to 

take place more than 14 days after it was 

adjourned, the company must give at least 7 

clear days’ notice of it (that is, excluding the day 

of the adjourned meeting and the day on which 

the notice is given)— 

إذا كان من المقرر انعقاد االجتماع المؤجل بعد  32.5
مدة تزيد عن  له ب تأجي ًماي يتعين  14تاريخ  يو

على الشركة أن ترسل إخطاًرا بذلك مدته سبعة 
األقل )أ  باساااااااتبعاد يوم على كاملة ( أيام 7)

االجتماااع المؤجاال واليوم الااذ  يرساااااااال فيااه 
 اإلخطار( ـــ

(a) to the same persons to whom notice of 

the company’s general meetings is 

required to be given, and 

إلى نفس األشاااااااخاص الذين يكون مطلوًبا  (أ)
إرسااااااااال اإلخطااار باااجتماااعااات الجمعيااة 

 ليهمي والعمومية للشركة إ

(b) containing the same information which 

such notice is required to contain. 

أن يحتو  اإلخطار على المعلومات ذاتها  (ب)
ا تضااااااامينهاااا في ذلاااك  التي يكون مطلوباااً

 اإلخطار.

32.6 No business may be transacted at an 

adjourned general meeting which could not 

ال يجوز مناقشاة أية أعمال في اجتماع الجمعية  32.6
العموميااااة المؤجاااال إذا لم يكن من الممكن 
مناقشتها بشكل صحيح في االجتماع السابق لو 
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properly have been transacted at the meeting if 

the adjournment had not taken place. 

 لم يحدث التأجيل.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS الجمعية العمومية التصويت في اجتماعات 

33. Voting: general 33. التصويت  عام 

A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must 

be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is duly 

demanded in accordance with the articles. 

يجوز البت في القرار المطروح للتصاااااويت أمام اجتماع 
الجمعيااة العموميااة برفع األيااد  مااا لم يُطلااب االقتراع 

 صحيح بموجب النظام األساسي.بشكل 

34. Errors and disputes 34. األخطاء والنزاعات 

34.1 No objection may be raised to the qualification 

of any person voting at a general meeting 

except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at 

which the vote objected to is tendered, and 

every vote not disallowed at  the meeting 

is valid. 

ة أ  شاااااااخص  34.1 ال يجوز االعتراض على أهليااو
للتصااويت في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية إال في 

اتااه الااذ  يتم االجتماااع أو االجتماااع المؤجاال ذ
اإلدالء فيه بالصاااااوت المعترض عليهي ويعتبر 
 كل صوت لم يتم رفضه في االجتماع صحيحاً.

34.2 Any such objection must be referred to the 

chairman of the meeting whose decision is 

final. 

يتعين إحااالااة أ  اعتراض من هااذا القبياال إلى  34.2
 هائيًا.رئيس االجتماع الذ  يكون قراره ن

35. Demanding a poll 35. طلب االقتراع 

35.1 A poll on a resolution may be demanded— 35.1  يجوز أن يُطلاااب التصاااااااويااات على أ  قرار
 باالقتراع في الحاالت التالية:

(a) in advance of the general meeting where 

it is to be put to the vote, or 

َدم  الطلاااب قبااال اجتمااااع الجمعياااة  (أ) إذا قاااُ
العمومية الذ  يُطرح فيه القرار للتصويتي 

 أو

(b) at a general meeting, either before a 

show of hands on that resolution or 

immediately after the result of a show of 

hands on that resolution is declared. 

َدم  الطلااااب في اجتماااااع الجمعيااااة  (ب) إذا قااااُ
األيد  للتصويت  العموميةي سواًء قبل رفع

عد إعالن  على ذلك القرار أو على الفور ب
 نتيجة رفع األيد  على ذلك القرار.

35.2 A poll may be demanded by—  35.2  يجوز لألشاااااااخاص التالي ذكرهم طلب إجراء
 التصويت باالقتراع: 

(a) the chairman of the meeting,  (أ)  رئيس االجتماعي 

(b) the directors, (ب) أعضاء المجلسي 

(c) two or more persons having the right to 

vote on the resolution, or 

شاااااااخصااااااااان أو أكثر ممن لهم الحق في  (ج)
 التصويت على القراري أو

(d) a person or persons representing not 

less than one tenth of the total voting 

rights of all the members having the right 

to vote on the resolution. 

شااخص أو أشااخاص يمثلون ما ال يقل عن  (د)
ُعشاار أصااوات المساااهمين الذين لهم الحق 

 في التصويت على القرار.

35.3 A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if—  35.3  يجوز سااااحب الطلب المقدم إلجراء التصااااويت
 باالقتراع في الحاالت التالية: 
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(a) the poll has not yet been taken, and (أ)  يكن االقتراع قد أُجر  بعدي وإذا لم 

(b) the chairman of the meeting consents to 

the withdrawal. 

 إذا وافق رئيس االجتماع على سحبه. (ب)

36. Procedure on a poll 36. اإلجراء المتبع بشأن التصويت باالقتراع 

36.1 Polls at general meetings must be taken when, 

where and in such manner as the chairman of 

the meeting directs. 

يجب إجراء االقتراعات في اجتماعات الجمعية  36.1
قة التي  العمومية في الموعد والمكان وبالطري

 يحددها رئيُس االجتماع.

36.2 The chairman of the meeting may appoint 

scrutineers (who need not be members) and 

decide how and when the result of the poll is to 

be declared. 

يجوز لرئيس االجتمااااع أن يعين مراقبين )ال  36.2
يشااااترط أن يكونوا من المساااااهمين( وأن يقرر 

 كيفية إعالن النتيجة وموعد إعالنها.

36.3 The result of a poll shall be the decision of the 

meeting in respect of the resolution on which 

the poll was demanded. 

تكون نتيجااااة االقتراع هي قرار االجتماااااع  36.3
بخصااااااوص القرار الذ  ُطلب إجراء االقتراع 

 عليه.

36.4 A poll on— 36.4 :ينببي أن يُجرى على الفور االقتراع بشأن 

(a) the election of the chairman of the 

meeting, or 

 انتخاب رئيس االجتماعي أو (أ)

(b) a question of adjournment, must be 

taken immediately. 

 مسألة تأجيل االجتماع. (ب)

36.5 Other polls must be taken within 30 days of their 

being demanded. 

 30يجاااب إجراء االقتراعاااات األخرى خالل  36.5
 يوًما من تاريخ طلبها.

36.6 A demand for a poll does not prevent a general 

meeting from continuing, except as regards the 

question on which the poll was demanded. 

ال يمنع طلُب إجراء االقتراع اساااتمرار اجتماع  36.6
الجمعية العموميةي باسااتثناء المسااألة التي طُلب 

 إجراء االقتراع بشأنها.

36.7 No notice need be given of a poll not taken 

immediately if the time and place at which it is 

to be taken are announced at the meeting at 

which it is demanded. 

ليس هناك داع  إلرساااااااال أ  إخطار باالقتراع  36.7
الذ  لم يُجرى على الفور إذا كان وقت ومكان 
ا في االجتماااااع  وجوب إجراء االقتراع معلنااااً

 الذ  ُطلب فيه.

36.8 In any other case, at least 7 days’ notice must 

be given specifying the time and place at which 

the poll is to be taken. 

في أية حالة أخرىي يجب أن يقدم إخطار مدته  36.8
أيااام على األقاال يحاادد وقاات ومكااان وجوب  7

 إجراء االقتراع.

37. Content of proxy notices 37. محتوى اإلخطارات بالتوكيل في الحضور 

37.1 Proxies may only validly be appointed by a 

notice in writing (a “proxy notice”) which— 

ا إال  37.1 ا صاااااااحيحاااً ال يكون تعيين الوكالء تعييناااً
بموجااب إخطااار خطي )"اإلخطااار بااالوكياال"( 

 والذ  يجب أن ــ

(a) states the name and address of the 

member appointing the proxy, 

المسااااااااهم الذ  عين يحدد اسااااااام وعنوان  (أ)
 الوكيلي

(b) identifies the person appointed to be that 

member’s proxy and the general meeting 

يحدد اسااااام الشاااااخص المعين ليكون وكياًل  (ب)
عن المسااااااااهم واجتماع الجمعية العمومية 

 الذ  ُعين ذلك الشخص بخصوصهي

The above information was communicated by
electronic means and authenticated by the
Registrar under section 965 of the Companies
(Amendment No. 1) Regulations 2020.
Issue Date : 13 December 2022
Verify Document code COMPANIES-81735979
To verify: visit www.registration.adgm.com



 

 25/55  
 

in relation to which that person is 

appointed, 

(c) is signed by or on behalf of the member 

appointing the proxy, or is authenticated 

in such manner as the directors may 

determine, and 

يكون موقعاً عليه من المسااااااااهم الذ  عين  (ج)
بةً عنهي أو يُوثق  يا يه ن الوكيل أو موقع عل

 على النحو الذ  يحدده المجلس ي و

(d) is delivered to the company in 

accordance with the articles and any 

instructions contained in the notice of the 

general meeting to which they relate. 

قاً ألحكام النظام  (د) يُسااااااالم إلى الشاااااااركة وف
األساااااااسااااااي وأية تعليمات ترد في الدعوة 
 الجتماع الجمعية العمومية الذ  يتعلق به.

37.2 The company may require proxy notices to be 

delivered in a particular form, and may specify 

different forms for different purposes. 

يجوز للشااااااركة أن تطلب تسااااااليم اإلخطارات  37.2
بالوكيل بطريقة خاصااااة ويجوز أن تحدد طرقاً 

 أخرى أل راض مختلفة.

37.3 Proxy notices may specify how the proxy 

appointed under them is to vote (or that the 

proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more 

resolutions. 

يجوز أن تحااادد اإلخطاااارات باااالوكيااال كيفياااة  37.3
تصااااااويت الوكيل المعين بموجبها )أو تحدد أن 
يمتنع الوكيل على التصاااااااويت( على واحد أو 

 أكثر من القرارات.

37.4 Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it 

must be treated as— 

ما لم ينص اإلخطار بالوكيل على خالف ذلكي  37.4
 يعتبر اإلخطار أنه ــ

(a) allowing the person appointed under it as 

a proxy discretion as to how to vote on 

any ancillary or procedural resolutions 

put to the meeting, and 

يخول الساااالطة التقديرية للشااااخص المعين  (أ)
بموجبااهي بصااااااافتااه وكياًل بشااااااااأن كيفيااة 
التصاااااااوياات على أيااة قرارات فرعيااة أو 

 إجرائية تُطرح أمام االجتماعي و

(b) appointing that person as a proxy in 

relation to any adjournment of the 

general meeting to which it relates as 

well as the meeting itself. 

يعين ذلاااك الشاااااااخص وكياًل فيماااا يتعلق  (ب)
لذ  صااااااادر  ماع الجمعية العمومية ا باجت

 تأجيل له.وأ  بشأنه 

38. Delivery of proxy notices 38. تسليم اإلخطارات بالوكيل 

38.1 Any notice of a general meeting must specify 

the address or addresses (“proxy notification 

address”) at which the company or its agents 

will receive proxy notices relating to that 

meeting, or any adjournment of it, delivered in 

hard copy or electronic form. 

يجااب أن يحاادد أ  إخطااار باااجتماااع الجمعيااة  38.1
عموم ل عناااااوين )"عنوان ا ل عنوان أو ا ل يااااة ا

اإلخطار بالوكيل"( التي ساااااتتلقى الشاااااركة أو 
وكالؤها عليها اإلخطارات بالوكيل بخصااوص 
لهي ويُسااااااالم في  تأجيل  ماعي أو أ   ذلك االجت

 نسخة ورقية أو في صيبة إلكترونية.

38.2 A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote 

(either on a show of hands or on a poll) at a 

general meeting remains so entitled in respect 

of that meeting or any adjournment of it, even 

though a valid proxy notice has been delivered 

to the company by or on behalf of that person. 

الشخص الذ  يحق له حضور اجتماع الجمعية  38.2
ة أو التحدث أو التصااااويت فيه )سااااواء العمومي

له ذلك الحق  باالقتراع( يظل  برفع األيد  أو 
بخصوص ذلك االجتماع أو أ  تأجيل لهي حتى 
لم إخطار وكيل ساااااااار  المفعول إلى  إذا ساااااااُ
 الشركة بواسطة ذلك الشخص أو نيابة عنه.

38.3 Subject to paragraphs (4) and (5) below, a 

proxy notice must be delivered to the proxy 

notification address identified in the notice of 

the general assembly not less than 48 hours 

( 5( و )4مع مراعاة عدم اإلخالل بالفقرات ) 38.3
سلم إخطار الوكيل إلى عنوان أدناهي ينببي  أن يُ

اإلخطاااار باااالوكيااال المحااادد في الااادعوة إلى 
سااااعة  48الجمعيوة العموميوة في موعد أقصااااه 

قبااال موعاااد اجتمااااع الجمعياااة العمومياااة أو 
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before the time fixed for the general meeting or 

adjourned meeting to which it relates. 

 االجتماع المؤجل الذ  يتعلق به.

38.4 In the case of a poll taken more than 48 hours 

after it is demanded, the notice must be 

delivered to the proxy notification address not 

less than 24 hours before the time fixed for the 

taking of the poll. 

في حااال إجراء االقتراع بعااد طلبااه بماادة تزيااد  38.4
عةي ينببي أن يُسااااااالم اإلخطار  48عن  سااااااااا

بااالوكياال إلى عنوان اإلخطااار بااالوكياال قباال 
حاادد إلجراء االقتراع بماادة ال تقاال الموعااد الم

 ساعة. 24عن 

38.5 In the case of a poll not taken during the 

meeting but taken not more than 48 hours after 

it was demanded, the proxy notice must be 

delivered— 

في حااال عاادم إجراء االقتراع أثناااء االجتماااع  38.5
 48تزيااد عن  ولكن أُجر  بعااد طلبااه بماادة ال

 ساعةي يجب أن يُسلم اإلخطار بالوكيل:

(a) in accordance with paragraph (3), or (أ) ( ي أو 3بموجب الفقرة) 

(b) at the meeting at which the poll was 

demanded to the chairman, secretary or 

any director.  

يه طلب إجراء  (ب) لذ  يوجه ف ماع ا في االجت
االقتراع إلى الرئيس أو أمين الساااار أو أ  

 عضو بالمجلس. 

38.6 An appointment under a proxy notice may be 

revoked by delivering a notice in writing given 

by or on behalf of the person by whom or on 

whose behalf the proxy notice was given to a 

proxy notification address. 

يجوز إلباااء تعيين الوكياال بموجااب اإلخطااار  38.6
بالوكيل عن طريق تساااااااليم إخطار خطي يقدم 
ُقدم  لذ   بة عن الشاااااااخص ا يا طة أو ن بواسااااااا
اإلخطار بالوكيل بواساااااااطته أو نيابة عنه إلى 

 عنوان اإلخطار بالوكيل.

38.7 A notice revoking a proxy appointment only 

takes effect if it is delivered before—  

يساااااار  اإلخطار الذ  يلبي تعيين الوكيل فقط  38.7
 إذا ُسلم قبل : 

(a) the start of the meeting or adjourned 

meeting to which it relates, or 

باادء االجتماااع أو االجتماااع المؤجاال الااذ   (أ)
 ي أويتعلق به

(b) (in the case of a poll not taken on the 

same day as the meeting or adjourned 

meeting) the time appointed for taking 

the poll to which it relates. 

)في حال عدم إجراء االقتراع في نفس يوم  (ب)
االجتمااااع أو االجتمااااع المؤجااال( الوقااات 

 يتعلق به.المعين إلجراء االقتراع الذ  

38.8 If a proxy notice is not signed by the person 

appointing the proxy, it must be accompanied 

by written evidence of the authority of the 

person who executed it to execute it on the 

appointor’s behalf. 

إذا لم يوقع على إخطار الوكيل الشااااخُص الذ   38.8
يجااااب أن يكون اإلخطااااار عين  ف لوكياااالي  ا

مصااااحوبًا بأدلة خطية تثبت أن ذلك الشااااخص 
بة عن  يا ة التوقيع ن لديه صاااااااالحيو عه  لذ  وق ا

 الموكل.

39. Amendments to resolutions 39. تعديل القرارات 

39.1 An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a 

general meeting may be amended by ordinary 

resolution if— 

يجوز تعديل القرار العاد  المزمع اقتراحه في  39.1
اجتمااااع الجمعياااة العمومياااة عن طريق قرار 

 عاد  بشرط :

(a) notice of the proposed amendment is 

given to the company secretary in writing 

by a person entitled to vote at the general 

meeting at which it is to be proposed not 

less than 48 hours before the meeting is 

to take place (or such later time as the 

إرساااااااال إخطار التعديل المقترح إلى أمين  (أ)
سر الشركة خطيًا من شخص له الحق في 
التصاااااااويت في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية 
قد  بل أن ينع مه ق ما المزمع اقتراح القرار أ

سااااااااعة )أو  48االجتماع بمدة ال تقل عن 
يحااادده رئيس في أ  وقااات الحق لاااذلاااك 

 االجتماع(ي و
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chairman of the meeting may 

determine), and 

(b) the proposed amendment does not, in 

the reasonable opinion of the chairman 

of the meeting, materially alter the scope 

of the resolution. 

أال يبير التعاااادياااال المقترحي وفق الرأ   (ب)
المعقول لرئيس االجتمااااعي نطااااق  القرار 

 تبييًرا جوهريًا.

39.2 A special resolution to be proposed at a general 

meeting may be amended by ordinary 

resolution, if— 

يجوز تعاادياال القرار الخاااص المزمع اقتراحااه  39.2
في اجتماع الجمعية العمومية عن طريق قرار 

 عاد  بشرط :

(a) the chairman of the meeting proposes 

the amendment at the general meeting 

at which the resolution is to be proposed, 

and 

أن يقترح رئيُس االجتمااااع التعاااديااال في  (أ)
اجتماااع الجمعيااة العموميااة المزمع اقتراح 

 القرار أمامهي و

(b) the amendment does not go beyond 

what is necessary to correct a 

grammatical or other non-substantive 

error in the resolution. 

جاااوز التعاادياال مااا هو ضااااااارور  أال يت (ب)
لتصاااااااحيح خطااأ نحو  أو أ  خطااأ  ير 

 جوهر  في القرار.

39.3 If the chairman of the meeting, acting in good 

faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a 

resolution is out of order, the chairman’s error 

does not invalidate the vote on that resolution. 

إذا قرر رئيس االجتماع خطئاًي وهو يتصاااارف  39.3
بحسن نيةي أن التعديل على القرار  ير مقبولي 
فإن خطأ الرئيس ال يؤد  إلى إبطال التصويت 

 على ذلك القرار.

RESTRICTIONS ON MEMBERS’ RIGHTS  القيود على حقوق المساهمين 

40. No voting of shares on which money owed 

to company 

عدم تصوووويت األسوووهم المسوووتحق عليها مبالغ  .40
 إلى الشركة

No voting rights attached to a share may be exercised 

at any general meeting, at any adjournment of it, or on 

any poll called at or in relation to it, unless all amounts 

payable to the company in respect of that share have 

been paid. 

ال يجوز ممارسااة أية حقوق تصااويت تتعلق بسااهم ما في 
أ  اجتماع جمعية عمومية أو في أ  تأجيل له أو في أ  
تصاااااويت باالقتراع تتم الدعوة إليه فيه أو فيما يتعلق بهي 
ما لم تكن جميع المبالغ المستحقة إلى الشركة بخصوص 

 ذلك السهم قد ُدفعت.

APPLICATION OF RULES TO CLASS 
MEETINGS 

 تطبيق القواعد على اجتماعات فئة األسهم

41. Class meetings 41. اجتماعات فئة األسهم 

The provisions of the articles relating to general 

meetings apply, with any necessary modifications, to 

meetings of the holders of any class of shares. 

تسااااااار  أحكام النظام األسااااااااساااااااي المتعلقة باجتماعات 
الجمعياة العمومياةي مع أياة تعاديالت ضااااااارورياةي على 

 اجتماعات مالكي األسهم من أية فئة.

PART 4 الفصل الرابع 

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS األسهم والتوزيعات 

 

ISSUE OF SHARES 

 

 إصدار األسهم
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42. Powers to issue different classes of share 42. سلطة إصدار فئات مختلفة من األسهم 

42.1 Without prejudice to the rights attached to any 

existing share, the company may issue shares 

with such rights or restrictions as may be 

determined by ordinary resolution. 

المتعلقة بأ  ساااااااهم مع عدم اإلخالل بالحقوق  42.1
قائمي يجوز للشاااااااركة بموجب قرار عاد  أن 
تصااااادر أساااااهًما تتمتع بتلك الحقوق وتخضاااااع 

 للقيود التي ترد في ذلك القرار.

42.2 The company may issue shares which are to be 

redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed at the 

option of the company or the holder, and the 

directors may determine the terms, conditions 

and manner of redemption of any such shares. 

واجبة يجوز للشاااااااركة أن تصااااااادر أساااااااهًما  42.2
أو تكون قابلة لالساااااترداد حساااااب  االساااااترداد

اختيار الشركة أو اختيار مالك األسهمي ويجوز 
للمجلس تحديد شروط وأحكام وطريقة استرداد 

 م.هذه األسه

43. Payment of commissions on subscription 

for shares 

 دفع العموالت على االكتتاب في األسهم .43

43.1 The company may pay any person a 

commission in consideration for that person—  

يجوز للشااركة أن تدفع أل  شااخص عمولة في  43.1
 مقابل قيام ذلك الشخص بما يلي: 

(a) subscribing, or agreeing to subscribe, for 

shares, or 

االكتتااااب في األساااااااهم أو الموافقاااة على  (أ)
 االكتتاب فيهاي أو

(b) procuring, or agreeing to procure, 

subscriptions for shares.  

اساااااااتجالب أو الموافقااة على اساااااااتجالب  (ب)
 مكتتبين في األسهم. 

43.2 Any such commission may be paid— 43.2 لة من هذا القبيل على النحو يجوز دفع أية عمو
 التالي:

(a) in cash, or in fully paid or partly paid 

shares or other securities, or partly in 

one way and partly in the other, and 

نقًدا أو في شاااااااكل أساااااااهم أو أوراق مالية  (أ)
ا أو  ً أو جزئياااً أخرى مااادفوع قيمتهاااا كلياااا

ً بطريقاااة  والجزء مااادفوع قيمتهاااا جزئياااا
 المتبقي بطريقة أخرىي و

(b) in respect of a conditional or an absolute 

subscription. 

بشااااااأن اكتتاب سااااااواء كان مشااااااروطاً أو  (ب)
 اكتتاب دون شروط.

INTERESTS IN SHARES الحق في األسهم 

44. Company not bound by less than absolute 

interests 

 الشركة غير ملزمة بأقل من الحق الكامل  .44

Except as required by law, no person is to be 

recognised by the company as holding any share upon 

any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or 

the articles, the company is not in any way to be bound 

by or recognise any interest in a share other than the 

holder’s absolute ownership of it and all the rights 

attaching to it. 

باساااااااتثناء ما يتطلبه القانوني لن تعترف الشاااااااركة بأ  
شاااااااخص على أنه يحوز الساااااااهم على سااااااابيل األمانة. 
 وباساااتثناء ما يتطلبه القانوني لن تكون الشاااركة بأ  حال
من األحوال ملزمة بأية مصالحة في الساهم أو أن تعترف 
بأ  حق في السااااهم بخالف الملكية الكاملة لمالك السااااهم 

 وجميع الحقوق المرتبطة به.

SHARE CERTIFICATES شهادات األسهم 
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45. Certificates to be issued except in certain 

cases 

وجوب إصووووودار الشوووووهادات باسوووووتثناء حاالت  .45
 معينة

45.1 The company must issue each member with 

one or more certificates in respect of the shares 

which that member holds. 

يتعين على الشااركة أن تصاادر شااهادة واحدة أو  45.1
أكثر لكل مساهم بخصوص األسهم التي يملكها 

 ذلك المساهم.

45.2 This article does not apply to—  45.2  :ال تنطبق هذه المادة على ما يلي 

(a) uncertificated shares, or (أ) األسهم الصادرة دون شهادةي أو 

(b) shares in respect of which the 

Companies Regulations permit the 

company not to issue a certificate. 

األسهم التي يسمح نظام الشركات للشركة  (ب)
 أال تصدر شهادة بخصوصها.

45.3 All certificates must be issued free of charge. 45.3  .ينببي أن تُصدر جميع شهادات األسهم مجانًا 

45.4 No certificate may be issued in respect of 

shares of more than one class. 

ال يجوز إصدار أية شهادة بخصوص أسهم لها  45.4
 أكثر من فئة واحدة.

45.5 If more than one person holds a share, only one 

certificate may be issued in respect of it. 

إذا ملك أكثر من شاااااااخص ساااااااهًماي فال يجوز  45.5
 إصدار سوى شهادة واحدة فقط بخصوصه.

46. Contents and execution of share certificates 46.  محتويات شهادات األسهم وتوقيعها 

46.1 Every certificate must specify— 46.1  شهادة ما يلي:يجب أن تحدد كل 

(a) in respect of how many shares, of what 

class, it is issued,  

 عدد األسهم وفئتهاي  (أ)

(b) the issue price of those shares, (ب) سعر إصدار تلك األسهمي 

(c) the amount paid up on them, and (ج) المبلغ المدفوع منهاي و 

(d) any distinguishing numbers assigned to 

them.  

 أية أرقام مميزة مخصصة لها.  (د)

46.2 Certificates must— 46.2 :يجب أن تستوفي شهادة األسهم ما يلي 

(a) have affixed to them the company’s 

common seal or an official seal which is 

a facsimile of the company’s common 

seal with the addition on its face of the 

word “Securities” (a “securities seal”), or 

أن تُمهر بااالختم العااام للشاااااااركااة أو الختم  (أ)
الرساامي الذ  يكون نسااخة من الختم العام 
للشاااااركة مع إضاااااافة كلمة "أوراق مالية" 
 على وجهه )"ختم األوراق المالية"(ي أو

(b) be otherwise executed in accordance 

with the Companies Regulations. 

 نظام الشركات.أن توقع بموجب  (ب)

47. Consolidated share certificates 47. شهادات األسهم المجمعة 

47.1 When a member’s holding of shares of a 

particular class increases, the company may 

issue that member with— 

عندما تزداد األسااااهم التي يحملها المساااااهم من  47.1
فئة معينةي فيجوز للشاااااااركة أن تصااااااادر لذلك 

 المساهم ما يلي:
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(a) a single, consolidated certificate in 

respect of all the shares of a particular 

class which that member holds, or 

شهادة واحدة مجمعة بخصوص جميع تلك  (أ)
األساااااااهم من تلك الفئة بعينها التي يملكها 

 ذلك المساهمي أو

(b) a separate certificate in respect of only 

those shares by which that member’s 

holding has increased. 

شهادة منفصلة فقط بخصوص تلك األسهم   (ب)
 التي زادت بها ملكية ذلك المساهم.

47.2 When a member’s holding of shares of a 

particular class is reduced, the company must 

ensure that the member is issued with one or 

more certificates in respect of the number of 

shares held by the member after that reduction. 

But the company need not (in the absence of a 

request from the member) issue any new 

certificate if— 

عند تخفيض ملكية أسهم المساهم من فئة معينة  47.2
يجب على الشااركة أن تضاامن أن من األسااهمي 

المساااااااهم تُصاااااادر له شااااااهادة واحدة أو أكثر 
بخصاااوص عدد األساااهم التي يملكها المسااااهم 
بعد ذلك التخفيض. ومع ذلكي ال تحتاج الشركة 
)في حال عدم توجيه المسااااااهم طلبًا بذلك( إلى 
 إصدار أية شهادة جديدةي في الحاالت التالية:

(a) all the shares which the member no 

longer holds as a result of the reduction, 

and 

إذا كانت جميع األسهم التي لم يعد المساهم  (أ)
يملكهااااا نتيجااااة التخفيض ممثلااااة بنفس 

 الشهادةي و

(b) none of the shares which the member 

retains following the reduction, were, 

immediately before the reduction, 

represented by the same certificate. 

إذا لم تكن أ  من األساااااااهم التي يحتفظ  (ب)
بل  نت ق كا المساااااااااهم بهاا بعاد التخفيضي 
 التخفيض مباشرةي ممثلة بنفس الشهادة.

47.3 A member may request the company, in writing, 

to replace— 

 خطيًا أن:يجوز للمساهم أن يطلب من الشركة  47.3

(a) the member’s separate certificates with a 

consolidated certificate, or 

 للمساااااهم تسااااتبدل بالشااااهادات المنفصاااالة (أ)
 شهادة مجمعةي أو

(b) the member’s consolidated certificate 

with two or more separate certificates 

representing such proportion of the 

shares as the member may specify. 

تستبدل بالشهادة المجمعة للمساهم شهادتين  (ب)
منفصاالتين أو أكثر تمثل نساابة األسااهم التي 

 يحددها المساهم. 

47.4 When the company complies with such a 

request it may charge such reasonable fee as 

the directors may decide for doing so. 

الشااااركة لذلك الطلبي فيجوز عندما تسااااتجيب  47.4
لها أن تفرض رساااااوم معقولة حسااااابما يحددها 

 المجلس نظير ذلك.

47.5 A consolidated certificate must not be issued 

unless any certificates which it is to replace 

have first been returned to the company for 

cancellation. 

جمعة ما لم تُعاد يجب أال تُصااااادر الشاااااهادة الم 47.5
أواًل إلى الشاااااركة أية شاااااهادات تحل الشاااااهادة 

 المجمعة محلها لكي تلبيها الشركة.

48. Replacement share certificates 48. شهادات األسهم البديلة 

48.1 If a certificate issued in respect of a member’s 

shares is—  

شهادة الصادرة بخصوص  48.1 في حال إذا كانت ال
 أسهم المساهم ــ 

(a) damaged or defaced, or (أ) قد تعرضت للضرر أو المحوي أو 

(b) said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, (ب)  رقت أو تعرضااات ُزعم أنها قد فُقدت أو ساااُ
 للتلفي 
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that member is entitled to be issued with a 

replacement certificate in respect of the same 

shares.  

فيحق لذلك المساهم أن تُصدر له شهادة بديلة بخصوص 
 األسهم ذاتها. 

48.2 A member exercising the right to be issued with 

such a replacement certificate— 

يمااارس حقااه في طلااب تلااك  للمساااااااااهم الااذ  48.2
 الشهادة البديلة ــ

(a) may at the same time exercise the right 

to be issued with a single certificate or 

separate certificates, 

أن يماااارس في ذات الوقااات الحق في أن  (أ)
تُصااااااادر له شاااااااهادة واحدة أو شاااااااهادات 

 منفصلةي

(b) must return the certificate which is to be 

replaced to the company if it is damaged 

or defaced, and 

يتعين عليااه أن يعيااد الشاااااااهااادة الواجااب  (ب)
استبدالها إلى الشركة إذا تعرضت الشهادة 

 للتلف أو المحوي و

(c) must comply with such conditions as to 

evidence, indemnity and the payment of 

a reasonable fee as the directors decide. 

لك الشاااااااروط التي  (ج) يه أن يلتزم بت يجب عل
يحددها مجلس اإلدارة بشااااأن إثبات ساااابب 
طلب شااااهادة بديلة والتعويض ودفع رساااام 

 معقول.

SHARES NOT HELD IN CERTIFICATED 
FORM 

 األسهم غير المملوكة في شكل شهادة

49. Uncertificated shares 49. األسهم الصادرة دون شهادة 

49.1 In this article, “the relevant rules” means— 49.1  في هذه المادةي يقصاااد بمصاااطلح "القواعد ذات
 الصلة":

(a) any applicable provision of the 

Companies Regulations about the 

holding, evidencing of title to, or transfer 

of shares other than in certificated form, 

and 

نظام الشااركات تساار  بشااأن أ  نص في  (أ)
ملكية األسهم وإثبات ملكيتها ونقل ملكيتهاي 
 بخالف األسهم الصادرة بموجب شهادةي و

(b) any applicable legislation, rules or other 

arrangements made under or by virtue of 

such provision. 

أ  قاااانون أو قااااعااادة أو ترتيباااات أخرى  (ب)
  لذلك النص.سارية بموجب أو إعماالً 

49.2 The provisions of this article have effect subject 

to the relevant rules. 

تساااار  أحكام هذه المادة بشاااارط عدم اإلخالل  49.2
 بالقواعد ذات الصلة.

49.3 Any provision of the articles which is 

inconsistent with the relevant rules must be 

disregarded, to the extent that it is inconsistent, 

whenever the relevant rules apply. 

لن يُعتد بأ  حكم من أحكام النظام األسااااااسااااي  49.3
إلى الحد   يتعارض مع القواعد ذات الصااااااالةي

ذلك الحكم مع القواعد ذات فيه تعارض الذ  ي
الصاالةي يُحتكم إلى القواعد ذات الصاالة وتكون 

 لها األولوية.

49.4 Any share or class of shares of the company 

may be issued or held on such terms, or in such 

a way, that— 

يجوز إصدار أ  سهم أو فئة من أسهم الشركة  49.4
أو تملكها بناًء على الشاااااااروط وبالطريقة التي 

 تسمح:

(a) title to it or them is not, or must not be, 

evidenced by a certificate, or 

بأال تُثبت الملكية فيها أوال يجب أن تُثبت  (أ)
 عن طريق شهادةي أو

(b) it or they may or must be transferred 

wholly or partly without a certificate.  

 أن تُنقل ملكيتها كليًا أو جزئيًا دون شهادة.  (ب)
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49.5 The directors have power to take such steps as 

they think fit in relation to— 

يكون لمجلس اإلدارة الصاااااااالحية التخاذ تلك  49.5
اإلجراءات التي يراها مناسااااااابة فيما يتعلق بما 

 يلي:

(a) the evidencing of and transfer of title to 

uncertificated shares (including in 

connection with the issue of such 

shares), 

دون إثبات ونقل ملكية األساااااهم الصاااااادرة  (أ)
 شهادة )بما في ذلك إصدار تلك األسهم(ي

(b) any records relating to the holding of 

uncertificated shares, 

أية سااااجالت تتعلق بتملك أسااااهم صااااادرة  (ب)
 دون شهادةي

(c) the conversion of certificated shares into 

uncertificated shares, or 

تحويل األسهم الصادرة بموجب شهادة إلى  (ج)
 أسهم صادرة دون شهادةي أو

(d) the conversion of uncertificated shares 

into certificated shares. 

تحويل األساااهم الصاااادرة دون شاااهادة إلى  (د)
 أسهم صادرة بموجب شهادة.

49.6 The company may by notice to the holder of a 

share require that share—  

يجوز للشااركةي بموجب إخطار يوجه إلى مالك  49.6
 السهم أن تطلب ما يلي: 

(a) if it is uncertificated, to be converted into 

certificated form, and 

أن يحول الساااااااهمي إذا كان صاااااااادًرا دون  (أ)
 شهادةي إلى سهم صادر في شكل شهادةي

(b) if it is certificated, to be converted into 

uncertificated form, to enable it to be 

dealt with in accordance with the articles. 

أن يحول الساااهمي إذا كان صاااادًرا بموجب  (ب)
شااااهادةي إلى سااااهم صااااادر دون شااااهادةي 
مل معاه بموجب النظاام  لتمكينهاا من التعاا

 األساسي.

49.7 If— 49.7 :في حال إذا 

(a) the articles give the directors power to 

take action, or require other persons to 

take action, in order to sell, transfer or 

otherwise dispose of shares, and 

كان النظام األساااسااي يعطي مجلس اإلدارة  (أ)
صااااااالحية اتخاذ اإلجراءات أو يتطلب من 
األشاااااااخاااص اآلخرين اتخاااذ إجراءي لبيع 
األساااااااهم أو نقاال ملكيتهااا أو خالف ذلااك 

 رف فيهاي والتص

(b) uncertificated shares are subject to that 

power, but the power is expressed in 

terms which assume the use of a 

certificate or other written instrument, 

كانت األسهم الصادرة دون شهادة تخضع  (ب)
لتلك الصااالحيةي لكن الصااالحية ُعبر عنها 

شااهادة أو وثيقة  بشااروط تفترض اسااتخدام
 خطية أخرىي

the directors may take such action as is 

necessary or expedient to achieve the same 

results when exercising that power in relation to 

uncertificated shares. 

فيجوز لمجلس اإلدارة اتخاااااذ ذلااااك اإلجراء 
ذاتها عند الضاااارور  أو الالزم لتحقيق النتائك 

ممارسااااة تلك الصااااالحية فيما يتعلق باألسااااهم 
 الصادرة دون شهادة.

49.8 In particular, the directors may take such action 

as they consider appropriate to achieve the 

sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment 

or surrender of an uncertificated share or 

otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of it. 

على وجه الخصااااااوصي يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة  49.8
أن يتخذ ذلك اإلجراء حسبما يراه مناسباً إلتمام 
بيع السهم الصادر دون شهادة أو نقل ملكيته أو 
التصرف فيه أو مصادرته أو إعادة تخصيصه 
أو التناااازل عناااهي أو خالف ذلاااك تنفياااذ رهن 

 بخصوصه. االمتياز

49.9 Unless the directors otherwise determine, 

shares which a member holds in uncertificated 

form must be treated as separate holdings from 

ماا لم يحاادد مجلس اإلدارة خالف ذلاكي ينببي  49.9
أن تُعامل األسااهم التي يملكها المساااهمون دون 
شااااهادة على أنها مساااااهمات منفصاااالة عن أية 
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any shares which that member holds in 

certificated form. 

 أسهم يملكها المساهم بموجب شهادة .

49.10 A class of shares must not be treated as two 

classes simply because some shares of that 

class are held in certificated form and others 

are held in uncertificated form. 

يجب أال تعامل فئة أساااااااهم على أنها فئتان فقط  49.10
لمجرد أن بعض األساااااهم من تلك الفئة مملوكة 
بموجب شاااااااهادة والبعض اآلخر مملوكة دون 

 شهادة.

PARTLY PAID SHARES األسهم المدفوع قيمتها جزئيًا 

50. Company’s lien over partly paid shares 50.  امتياز الشووووركة على األسووووهم المدفوع قيمتها
 جزئيًا

50.1 The company has a lien (“the company’s 

lien”) over every share which is partly paid for 

any part of that share's issue price which has 

not been paid to the company, and which is 

payable immediately or at some time in the 

future, whether or not a call notice has been 

sent in respect of it. 

يكون للشااااركة حق امتياز )"امتياز الشااااركة"(  50.1
ًيا نظير أ   على كل ساااااااهم مدفوع قيمته جزئ
جزء من سعر إصدار ذلك السهم الذ  لم يُدفع 

سواًء كان  شركةي  مستحق على الفور أو إلى ال
في وقت الحق في المساااااااتقبلي وساااااااواء أكان 
إخطااار دفع المبااالغ المساااااااتحقااة قااد أرساااااااال 

 بخصوصه من عدمه.

50.2 The company’s lien over a share— 50.2 :يسر  على امتياز الشركة على السهم ما يلي 

(a) takes priority over any third party’s 

interest in that share, and 

تياز الشااركة على السااهم األولوية يكون الم (أ)
 على أية حق للبير على ذلك السهمي و

(b) extends to any dividend or other money 

payable by the company in respect of 

that share and (if the lien is enforced and 

the share is sold by the company) the 

proceeds of sale of that share. 

يمتد امتياز الشااااااركة على السااااااهم إلى أية  (ب)
أرباح على السهم أو أية مبالغ أخرى يجب 
على الشااركة دفعها بخصااوص ذلك السااهم 
وأيًضا حصيلة بيع ذلك السهم )في حال إذا 
 نفذت الشركة حق االمتياز وباعت السهم(.

50.3 The directors may at any time decide that a 

share which is or would otherwise be subject to 

the company’s lien shall not be subject to it, 

either wholly or in part. 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة في أ  وقااات أن يقرر  50.3
عدم سااريان امتياز الشااركة على أ  سااهم كان 
يجب أن يخضاااع المتياز الشاااركةي ساااواًء أكان 

 عدم السريان كليًا أو جزئيًا.

51. Enforcement of the company’s lien 51. تنفيذ امتياز الشركة 

51.1 Subject to the provisions of this article, the 

company may sell a share as determined by the 

directors in the following situations: 

مع مراعاااة عاادم اإلخالل بااأحكااام هااذه المااادةي  51.1
يجوز للشااااااركة أن تبيع السااااااهم بالطريقة التي 

 يحددها مجلس اإلدارة عندما:

(a) a lien enforcement notice has been given 

in respect of a share, and 

ترسااااااال الشاااااااركة إخطار بتنفيذ االمتياز  (أ)
 بخصوص السهمي و

(b) the person to whom the notice was given 

has failed to comply with it. 

لم يلتزم الشاااااااخص الذ  قُدم إليه اإلخطار  (ب)
 بما ورد فيه.

51.2 A lien enforcement notice— 51.2  يجب في إخطار تنفيذ االمتياز 

(a) may only be given in respect of a share 

which is subject to the company’s lien, in 

respect of which a sum is payable and 

the due date for payment of that sum has 

passed, 

بخصاااااوص الساااااهم الذ  أن يرسااااال فقط  (أ)
يخضااع المتياز الشااركةي والمسااتحق عليه 
دفع مبلغ وانقضاااااى تاريخ اساااااتحقاق ذلك 

 المبلغي
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(b) must specify the share concerned, (ب) أن يحدد السهم المعنيي 

(c) must require payment of the sum 

payable within 14 days of the notice, 

ل أن يطلب فيه دفع المبلغ المساااااااتحق خال (ج)
 يوًما من تاريخ اإلخطاري 14

(d) must be addressed either to the holder of 

the share or to a person entitled to it by 

reason of the holder’s death, bankruptcy 

or otherwise, and 

أن يُوجااه إمااا إلى مااالااك الساااااااهم أو إلى  (د)
سهم بسبب وفاة مالك  الشخص المستحق لل

 سه أو أل  سببي والسهم أو إفال

(e) must state the company’s intention to 

sell the share if the notice is not complied 

with.  

أن يحدد نية الشااااركة في بيع السااااهم إذا لم  (ه)
 يتم االلتزام بما ورد في اإلخطار. 

51.3 Where shares are sold under this article— 51.3  المادةيفي حال بيع األسهم بموجب هذه 

(a) the directors may authorise any person 

to execute an instrument of transfer of 

the shares to the purchaser or a person 

nominated by the purchaser, and 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة تفويض أ  شااااخص  (أ)
نقاال ملكيااة األساااااااهم إلى وثيقااة في توقيع 

يه  لذ  يسااااااام المشاااااااتر  أو الشاااااااخص ا
 المشتر ي و

(b) the transferee is not bound to see to the 

application of the consideration, and the 

transferee’s title is not affected by any 

irregularity in or invalidity of the process 

leading to the sale. 

ة  (ب) لن يكون المنقول إليه ملزًما بمتابعة كيفيو
اسااااااتخدام المقابل الماد ي ولن تتأثر ملكية 
المنقول إليااه بااأ  مخااالفااة أو بطالن في 

 اإلجراءات التي أدت إلى البيع. 

51.4 The net proceeds of any such sale (after 

payment of the costs of sale and any other 

costs of enforcing the lien) must be applied— 

ينببي أن يُسااتخدم صااافي حصاايلة أ  بيع )بعد  51.4
دفع تكاااليف البيع وأيااة تكاااليف أخرى لتنفيااذ 

 االمتياز( على الوجه التالي:

(a) first, in payment of so much of the sum 

for which the lien exists as was payable 

at the date of the lien enforcement 

notice, 

في الوفاء بأكبر قدر ممكن من المبلغ  -أوالً  (أ)
الذ  نشأن بسببه االمتياز والمستحق أيًضا 

 في تاريخ إخطار تنفيذ االمتيازي

(b) second, to the person entitled to the 

shares at the date of the sale, but only 

after the certificate for the shares sold 

has been surrendered to the company 

for cancellation or a suitable indemnity 

has been given for any lost certificates, 

and subject to a lien equivalent to the 

company’s lien over the shares before 

the sale for any money payable in 

respect of the shares after the date of the 

lien enforcement notice. 

ًيا (ب) لك  -ثان ما ما تبقى إلى الشاااااااخص  يدفع 
السهم في تاريخ البيعي ولكن فقط بعد تسليم 
الشهادة الخاصة بالسهم المبيع إلى الشركة 
إللبائها أو تقديم إقرار مناساااااااب بتعويض 
الشااركة عن أية شااهادات مفقودةي وبشاارط 

على  عدم اإلخالل تتمتع الشاااااااركة بامتياز
األسااهم قبل البيع على أية مبالغ تدفع مقابل 
 األسهم بعد تاريخ إخطار تنفيذ االمتياز.

51.5 A statutory declaration by a director or the 

company secretary that the declarant is a 

director or the company secretary and that a 

share has been sold to satisfy the company’s 

lien on a specified date— 

إن اإلقرار القانوني من قبل عضاااو المجلس أو  51.5
من قبل أمين ساااار الشااااركة بأن الُمقر عضااااو 
بالمجلس أو أمين سااار الشاااركة وأن الساااهم قد 
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(a) is conclusive evidence of the facts stated 

in it as against all persons claiming to be 

entitled to the share, and 

يكون دلياًل قاطًعا على الحقائق الواردة فيه  (أ)
ل  جميع األشاااااااخااااص الاااذين يزعمون  قَبااا 

 أحقيتهم في السهمي و

(b) subject to compliance with any other 

formalities of transfer required by the 

articles or by law, constitutes a good title 

to the share. 

يمثل ملكية صااحيحة للسااهم بشاارط االلتزام  (ب)
بأية إجراءات رسااااااامية لنقل الملكية التي 

 يتطلبها النظام األساسي أو القانون.

52. Call notices 52.  إخطارات المطالبة بدفع المبالغ المستحقة 

52.1 Subject to the terms on which shares are 

allotted, the  directors may send a notice 

(a “call notice”) to a member requiring the 

member to pay the company a specified sum of 

money (a “call”) which is payable in respect of 

shares which that member holds at the date 

when the directors decide to send the call 

notice. 

مع عدم اإلخالل بالشاااااااروط التي تُخصاااااااص  52.1
األساااااااهم بنااااًء عليهااااي يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة 
إرساااااال إخطار )"إخطار المطالبة بدفع المبالغ 
المستحقة"( إلى المساهم يطلب فيه من المساهم 
أن يدفع إلى الشاااااركة المبلغ المالي المساااااتحق 
بخصاااوص األساااهم )"المبلغ المساااتحق"( التي 

م في تاريخ صااااادور قرار يملكها ذلك المسااااااه
مجلس اإلدارة بااإرسااااااااال إخطااار دفع المبااالغ 

 المستحقة.

52.2 A call notice— 52.2  عنااد إصاااااااادار إخطااار المطااالبااة باادفع المبااالغ
 المستحقة ــ

(a) may not require a member to pay a call 

which exceeds the total sum unpaid on 

that member’s shares, 

ال يجوز أن يطلب من المسااااااااهم دفع مبلغ  (أ)
عن يتجاااوز إجمااالي المبلغ  ير الماادفوع 

 أسهم ذلك المساهمي

(b) must state when and how any call to 

which it relates it is to be paid, and 

يجااب أن يحاادد موعااد وطريقااة دفع المبلغ  (ب)
 المستحق المذكور فيهي و

(c) may permit or require the call to be paid 

by instalments. 

يجوز أن يسااااااامح أو يطلااااب دفع المبلغ  (ج)
 المستحق بالتقسيط.

52.3 A member must comply with the requirements 

of a call notice, but no member is obliged to pay 

any call before 14 days have passed since the 

notice was sent. 

بات يتعين على المساااااااااهم أن  (د) يلتزم بمتطل
بة بدفع المبالغ المساااااااتحقة  إخطار المطال
على األسهمي ولكن ال يجوز إلزام المساهم 

يوًما  14بدفع أ  مبالغ مطلوبة قبل مرور 
 من تاريخ إرسال اإلخطار.

52.4 Before the company has received any call due 

under a call notice the directors may—  

ركة أية مبالغ مستحقة بموجب قبل أن تتسلم الش 52.3
إخطار المطالبة بدفع المبالغ المسااااتحقةي يجوز 

 لمجلس اإلدارة ــ 

(a) revoke it wholly or in part, or (أ)  إلباء اإلخطاري كليًا أو جزئيًاي أو 

(b) specify a later time for payment than is 

specified in the notice, 

التااااريخ تحااادياااد موعاااد الحق للااادفع بعاااد  (ب)
 المحدد في اإلخطاري

by a further notice in writing to the member in 

respect of whose shares the call is made. 

وذلك بموجب إخطار خطي آخر إلى المساااااهم 
 الذ  صدر اإلخطار بخصوص أسهمه.
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53. Liability to pay calls 53.  المسؤولية عن دفع المبالغ المستحقة بموجب
 المطالبةإخطار 

53.1 Liability to pay a call is not extinguished or 

transferred by transferring the shares in respect 

of which it is required to be paid. 

ال تساااقط المساااؤولية عن دفع المبلغ المساااتحق  53.1
قل عن طريق نقل ملكية  على األساااااااهم وال تُن
ة األساااااااهم المطلوب دفع المباااالغ المساااااااتحقااا

 بخصوصه.

53.2 Joint holders of a share are jointly and severally 

liable to pay all calls in respect of that share.  

53.3 Subject to the terms on which shares are 

allotted, the directors may, when issuing 

shares, provide that call notices sent to the 

holders of those shares may require them— 

يكون مالكو السااااهم ملكيوة مشااااتركة مسااااؤولين  53.2
على ساااااابيل التضااااااامن عن دفع جميع المبالغ 

 المستحقة بخصوص ذلك السهم. 

مع مراعااااة عااادم اإلخالل باااالشاااااااروط التي  53.3
تُخصااااااص األسااااااهم بناًء عليهاي يجوز لمجلس 

أن يشااااترط أن  اإلدارةي عند إصاااادار األسااااهمي
ع المبالغ المساااتحقة على األساااهمي اإلخطار بدف

 والمرسل إلى مالكي تلك األسهمي يطلب منهم:

(a) to pay calls which are not the same, or (أ) أن يدفعوا مبالغ مختلفةي أو 

(b) to pay calls at different times. (ب)  أن يااادفعوا المباااالغ المطلوباااة في أوقاااات
 مختلفة.

54. When call notice need not be issued 54.  حاالت عدم الحاجة إلى إصدار إخطار المطالبة
 بدفع المبالغ المستحقة 

54.1 A call notice need not be issued in respect of 

sums which are specified in the terms on which 

a share is issued, as being payable to the 

company in respect of that share — 

إخطار بدفع المبالغ المساااتحقة ال يلزم إصااادار  54.1
بخصااوص المبالغ المحددة في شااروط إصاادار 
السهم على أنها مستحقة إلى الشركة بخصوص 

 ذلك السهم ـــ

(a) on allotment, (أ) عند التخصيصي 

(b) on the occurrence of a particular event, 

or 

 فور وقوع حدث معيني أو (ب)

(c) on a date fixed by or in accordance with 

the terms of issue. 

 في تاريخ محدد بموجب شروط اإلصدار. (ج)

54.2 But if the due date for payment of such a sum 

has passed and it has not been paid, the holder 

of the share concerned is treated in all respects 

as having failed to comply with a call notice in 

respect of that sum, and is liable to the same 

consequences as regards the payment of 

interest and forfeiture. 

ر م ذلكي إذا انقضااااى تاريخ اسااااتحقاق سااااداد  54.2
ذلك المبلغ ولم يُساااااااددي فيعامل مالك الساااااااهم 
المعني في جميع النواحي على أناااه لم يلتزم 
بإخطار الدفع بخصاااااااوص ذلك المبلغ ويكون 

ئدة م فا ها مثل دفع ال قب ذات ساااااااؤواًل عن العوا
 والمصادرة.

55. Failure to comply with call notice: automatic 

consequences 

عدم االلتزام بإخطار دفع المبالغ المسوووووووتحقة   .55
 العواقب التلقائية

55.1 If a person is liable to pay a call and fails to do 

so by the call payment date—  

إذا كاااان شاااااااخص مساااااااؤواًل عن دفع المبلغ  55.1
المسااااتحق على السااااهم ولم يدفعه بحلول موعد 

 الدفع المحددي يسر  ما يلي: 

(a) the directors may issue a notice of 

intended forfeiture to that person, and 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة إصااااادار إخطار إلى  (أ)
 ذلك الشخص بالعزم على المصادرةي و 
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(b) until the call is paid, that person must pay 

the company interest on the call from the 

call payment date at the relevant interest 

rate. 

يتعين على ذلاك الشاااااااخصي إلى أن يُادفع  (ب)
المبلغ المسااتحق على األسااهمي أن يدفع إلى 

المبلغ المساااااااتحق من عن الشاااااااركة فائدةً 
فائدة تاريخ دفع المبلغ الم ساااااااتحق تحت ال

 على أساس بسعر الفائدة المتعارف عليه.

55.2 For the purposes of this article— 55.2 أل راض هذه المادة ـــ 

(a) the “call payment date” is the time when 

the call notice states that a call is 

payable, unless the directors give a 

notice specifying a later date, in which 

case the “call payment date” is that later 

date, 

يقصاااااااااد بمصاااااااطلح "تااااريخ دفع المبلغ  (أ)
المساااااااتحق" موعد اساااااااتحقاق دفع المبلغ 
المساااااااتحق المبين في إخطااار دفع المبلغ 
المساااااااتحقي ما لم يرسااااااال مجلس اإلدارة 
ًخا الحًقاي  تاري حدد  لك ي إخطاًرا بخالف ذ

لةي يكون " حا لك ال تاريخ دفع المبلغ وفي ت
 المستحق" هو ذلك التاريخ الالحق.

(b) the “relevant interest rate” is— (ب)  يقصاااد بمصاااطلح "ساااعر الفائدة المتعارف
 عليه":

(i) the rate fixed by the terms on 

which the share in respect of 

which the call is due was allotted, 

(i)  شروط التي سعر المحدد بموجب ال ال
ُخصااص بناًء عليها السااهم المسااتحق 

 دفع مبلغ بخصوصهي 

(ii) such other rate as was fixed in the 

call notice which required 

payment of the call, or has 

otherwise been determined by the 

directors, or 

(ii)  دد في ذلااك الساااااااعر اآلخر الااذ  حااُ
مطالبة بدفع المبلغ المستحق إخطار ال

والذ  طلب فيه دفع المبلغ المستحقي 
أو أ  ساااااااعر آخر يحاااادده مجلس 

 اإلدارةي أو

(iii) if no rate is fixed in either of these 

ways, 5 per cent per annum. 

(iii)  حدد الساااااااعر بأ  من هاتين إذا لم يُ
% في 5الطريقتيني يكون الساااااااعر 

 السنة.

55.3  The directors may waive any obligation to pay 

interest on a call wholly or in part. 

لمجلس اإلدارة التناااازل عن أ  التزام بااادفع  55.3
فائدة على المبلغ المسااتحق على السااهمي كليًا أو 

 جزئيًا.

56. Notice of intended forfeiture 56. اإلخطار بالمصادرة المزمع تطبيقها 

A notice of intended forfeiture— 56.1 :إن اإلخطار بالمصادرة المزمع تطبيقها 

(a) may be sent in respect of any share in 

respect of which a call has not been paid 

as required by a call notice, 

يجوز أن يُرساااال بخصااااوص أ  سااااهم لم  (أ)
يُساادد المبلغ المسااتحق عليه حساابما يتطلب 

 لمستحق.إخطار دفع المبلغ ا

(b) must be sent to the holder of that share 

or to a person entitled to it by reason of 

the holder’s death, bankruptcy or 

otherwise, 

يجب أن يُرسل إما إلى مالك ذلك السهم أو  (ب)
إلى الشاااااخص المساااااتحق له بسااااابب وفاة 

 المالك أو إفالسه أل  سبب  ير ذلكي

(c) must require payment of the call and any 

accrued interest by a date which is not 

less than 14 days after the date of the 

notice, 

يجب أن يطلب سااداد المبلغ المسااتحق على  (ج)
الساااااهم وساااااداد أية فائدة مساااااتحقة بحلول 
التاريخ الذ  يقع بعد تاريخ اإلخطار بمدة 

 يوًماي 14ال تقل عن 
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(d) must state how the payment is to be 

made, and 

يجب أن يحدد كيفية سداد المبلغ المستحقي  (د)
 و

(e) must state that if the notice is not 

complied with, the shares in respect of 

which the call is payable will be liable to 

be forfeited. 

زام يجااااب أن يحاااادد أنااااه إذا لم يتم االلت (ه)
باإلخطاري ساااااتكون األساااااهم التي صااااادر 

 اإلخطار بشأنها عرضةً للمصادرة.

57. Directors’ power to forfeit shares 57. صالحية مجلس اإلدارة في مصادرة األسهم 

If a notice of intended forfeiture is not complied with 

before the date by which payment of the call is 

required in the notice of intended forfeiture, the 

directors may decide that any share in respect of 

which it was given is forfeited, and the forfeiture is to 

include all dividends or other moneys payable in 

respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the 

forfeiture. 

إذا لم يتم االلتزام بإخطار المصادرة المزمعة قبل التاريخ 
الذ  يكون المبلغ المستحق متوجب السداد بحلوله حسب 
إخطار المصااااااااادرة المزمعةي يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة أن 

وتشاااامل  يقرر مصااااادرة أ  سااااهم قدم اإلخطار بشااااأنهي
ارباااح األساااااااهم أو المبااالغ األخرى  المصااااااااادرة جميع

ة بخصااااوص األسااااهم الُمصاااااد رة ولم تُدفع قبل المسااااتحق
 تاريخ المصادرة.

58. Effect of forfeiture 58. أثر المصادرة 

58.1 The forfeiture of a share extinguishes 58.1 :تؤد  المصادرة إلى إسقاط ما يلي 

(a) all interests in that share, and all claims 

and demands against the company in 

respect of it, and 

جميع الحقوق في ذلاااك الساااااااهمي وجميع  (أ)
المطااالبااات والمطااالااب المرفوعااة ضااااااااد 

 و الشركة بخصوصهي

(b) all other rights and liabilities incidental to 

the share as between the person whose 

share it was prior to the forfeiture and the 

company. 

جميع الحقوق وااللتزامااات المصااااااااااحبااة  (ب)
للسااااهم فيما بين الشااااخص الذ  كان يملك 

 السهم قبل المصادرة وبين الشركة.

58.2 Any share which is forfeited in accordance with 

the articles— 

 أ  سهم يُصادر بموجب النظام األساسي ــ 58.2

(a) is deemed to have been forfeited when 

the directors decide that it is forfeited,  

يُعد قد صااااودر عندما يقرر مجلس اإلدارة  (أ)
 مصادرتهي 

(b) is deemed to be the property of the 

company, and 

 يُعد ملًكا للشركةي و (ب)

(c) may be sold, re-allotted or otherwise 

disposed of as the directors think fit.  

عاد تخصااااااايصااااااااه أو  (ج) باع أو ي يجوز أن ي
التصاااااارف فيه بأ  شااااااكل آخر حساااااابما 

 يتراءى لمجلس اإلدارة. 

58.3 If a person’s shares have been forfeited— 58.3 :إذا تمت مصادرة أسهم شخصي يسر  ما يلي 

(a) the company must send that person 

notice that forfeiture has occurred and 

record it in the register of members, 

يجب على الشاااركة أن ترسااال إخطاًرا إلى  (أ)
ذلك الشااااااخص بأن المصااااااادرة قد وقعت 

  وتقيدها في سجل المساهميني

(b) that person ceases to be a member in 

respect of those shares, 

مساااااهماً لن يصاااابح ذلك الشااااخص بعدها  (ب)
 بخصوص تلك األسهمي
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(c) that person must surrender the 

certificate for the shares forfeited to the 

company for cancellation, 

ينببي لذلك الشااخص تسااليم شااهادة األسااهم  (ج)
 التي تم مصادرتها إلى الشركة إللبائهاي 

(d) that person remains liable to the 

company for all sums payable by that 

person under the articles at the date of 

forfeiture in respect of those shares, 

including any interest (whether accrued 

before or after the date of forfeiture), and 

يظل ذلك الشاااخص مساااؤواًل أمام الشاااركة  (د)
عن جميع المبالغ المسااااااتحقة عليه بموجب 

نظام األسااااااساااااي في تاريخ المصاااااادرة ال
بخصاااااوص تلك األساااااهمي بما في ذلك أية 
فائدة )سااااااواًء أكانت مسااااااتحقة قبل تاريخ 

 المصادرة أو بعده( ي و

(e) the directors may waive payment of such 

sums wholly or in part or enforce 

payment without any allowance for the 

value of the shares at the time of 

forfeiture or for any consideration 

received on their disposal. 

يجوز مجلس اإلدارة التنازل عن المطالبة  (ه)
يذ  ًياي أو تنف ًيا أو جزئ لك المبالغي كل بدفع ت
بل قيمة  لدفع دون أ  أجر إضااااااااافي مقا ا
األساااااهم في وقت المصاااااادرة أو نظير أ  

 فيها. مقابل ماد  يُستلم عند التصرف

58.4 At any time before the company disposes of a 

forfeited share, the directors may decide to 

cancel the forfeiture on payment of all calls and 

interest due in respect of it and on such other 

terms as they think fit. 

 في أ  وقت قبل تصااارف الشاااركة في األساااهم 58.4
المصاااااادرةي يجوز مجلس اإلدارة اتخاذ القرار 
باااإلبااااء المصاااااااااادرة فور دفع جميع المباااالغ 
المطلوبة والفائدة المسااتحقة بخصااوصااها وبناًء 

تلااااك الشاااااااروط األخرى التي تتراءى  على
 للمجلس.

59. Procedure following forfeiture 59. اإلجراء التالي للمصادرة 

59.1 If a forfeited share is to be disposed of by being 

transferred, the company may receive the 

consideration for the transfer and the directors 

may authorise any person to execute the 

instrument of transfer. 

إذا توجب التصااارف في الساااهم الُمصااااد ر عن  59.1
طريق نقل ملكيتهي يجوز للشاااركة أن تتقاضاااى 
المقاااباال الماااد  المحاادد نظير نقاال الملكيااةي 
ويجوز لمجلس اإلدارة تفويض أ  شاااااااخص 

 نقل الملكية.وثيقة توقيع 

59.2 A statutory declaration by a director or the 

company secretary that the declarant is a 

director or the company secretary and that a 

share has been forfeited on a specified date— 

إن اإلقرار القانوني من قبل عضاااو المجلس أو  59.2
من قبل أمين ساااار الشااااركة بأن الُمقر عضااااو 
بالمجلس أو أمين سااار الشاااركة وأن الساااهم قد 

 صودر في تاريخ محدد ــ

(a) is conclusive evidence of the facts stated 

in it as against all persons claiming to be 

entitled to the share, and 

يكون دلياًل قاطًعا على الحقائق الواردة فيه  (أ)
ل  جميع األشاااااااخااااص الاااذين يزعمون  قَبااا 

 أحقيتهم في السهمي و

(b) subject to compliance with any other 

formalities of transfer required by the 

articles or by law, constitutes a good title 

to the share. 

يمثل ملكية صااحيحة للسااهم بشاارط االلتزام  (ب)
بأية إجراءات رساااامية لنقل الملكية التي قد 

 يتطلبها النظام األساسي أو القانون.

59.3 A person to whom a forfeited share is 

transferred is not bound to see to the 

application of the consideration (if any) nor is 

that person’s title to the share affected by any 

irregularity in or invalidity of the process leading 

to the forfeiture or transfer of the share. 

هم ال يكون الشاااخص الذ  نُقلت إليه ملكية السااا 59.3
الُمصاااد ر ملزًما بمتابعة كيفيوة اسااتخدام المقابل 
الماد  )إن وجد( وال تتأثر ملكية ذلك الشخص 
بأية مخالفة أو بطالن في اإلجراءات التي أدت 

 إلى مصادرة السهم أو نقل ملكيته.

59.4 If the company sells a forfeited share, the 

person who held it prior to its forfeiture is 

إذا باعت الشاااااااركة ساااااااهًما ُمصااااااااد ًراي يحق  59.4
كان يملكه قبل مصااااااادرته أن  للشااااااخص الذ 
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entitled to receive from the company the 

proceeds of such sale, net of any commission, 

and excluding any amount which— 

يحصااال من الشاااركة على حصااايلة ذلك البيعي 
 وصافي أية عمولةي ويستثنى من ذلك أ  مبلغ:

(a) was, or would have become, payable, 

and 

 كان أو من الممكن أن يصبحي مستحقًاي و (أ)

(b) had not, when that share was forfeited, 

been paid by that person in respect of 

that share, but no interest is payable to 

such a person in respect of such 

proceeds and the company is not 

required to account for any money 

earned on them. 

لم يُدفعي عند مصادرة ذلك السهمي من ذلك  (ب)
الشااخص بخصااوص ذلك السااهمي ولكن لن 

ذلك الشاااااخص  يُسااااااتحق دفع أية فائدة إلى
بخصاااوص تلك الحصااايلةي ولن يُطلب من 
الشاااركة تقديم حسااااب عن أية مبلغ تحققت 

 لها من األسهم عليها.

60. Surrender of shares 60. التخلي عن األسهم 

60.1 A member may surrender any share— 60.1 أن يتخلى عن أ  ساااااااهم في  يجوز للمسااااااااهم
 الحاالت التالية:

(a) in respect of which the directors may 

issue a notice of intended forfeiture, 

في حااال إذا كااان الساااااااهم يجوز لمجلس  (أ)
اإلدارة إصدار إخطار بالمصادرة المزمعة 

 بخصوصهي 

(b) which the directors may forfeit, or (ب)  إذا كااااان الساااااااهم يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة
 مصادرتهي أو

(c) which has been forfeited. (ج) د تمت مصادرته.إذا كان السهم ق 

60.2 The directors may accept the surrender of any 

such share. 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة قبول التخلي عن ذلاااك  60.2
 السهم.

60.3 The effect of surrender on a share is the same 

as the effect of forfeiture on that share. 

يكون أثر التخلي عن الساااااااهم هو نفس أثر  60.3
 السهم. مصادرة ذلك

60.4 A share which has been surrendered may be 

dealt with in the same way as a share which has 

been forfeited. 

يجوز التعامل مع السهم الذ  قد تم التخلي عنه  60.4
بنفس الطريقة التي يتم بها التعامل مع الساااااااهم 

 الذ  قد تمت مصادرته.

TRANSFER AND TRANSMISSION OF 
SHARES 

 نقل ملكية األسهم وانتقالها

61. Transfers of certificated shares 61.  عمليات نقل ملكية األسووووهم الصووووادرة بموجب
 شهادة

61.1 Certificated shares may be transferred by 

means of an instrument of transfer in any usual 

form or any other form approved by the 

directors, which is executed by or on behalf 

of— 

يجوز نقل ملكية األساااااااهم الصاااااااادرة بموجب  61.1
نقل ملكية بأية صااايبة وثيقة شاااهادة عن طريق 

معتااادة أو بااأيااة صااااااايبااة أخرى يوافق مجلس 
 اإلدارة عليهاي يُحرر بواسطة أو نيابة عن:

(a) the transferor, and (أ) ناقل ملكية األسهمي و 

(b) if any of the shares is partly paid) the 

transferee. 

المنقول إليااااه الملكيااااة )إذا كااااان أ  من  (ب)
 األسهم مدفوع قيمته جزئيًا(.

The above information was communicated by
electronic means and authenticated by the
Registrar under section 965 of the Companies
(Amendment No. 1) Regulations 2020.
Issue Date : 13 December 2022
Verify Document code COMPANIES-81735979
To verify: visit www.registration.adgm.com



 

 41/55  
 

61.2 No fee may be charged for registering any 

instrument of transfer or other document 

relating to or affecting the title to any share. 

ال يجوز فرض أ  رسااااااام نظير تساااااااجيل أ   61.2
وثيقة نقل ملكية أو مساااااتند آخر يتعلق أو يمس  

 بملكية أ  سهم.

61.3 The company may retain any instrument of 

transfer which is registered. 

يجوز للشااااااركة أن تحتفظ بأ  وثيقة نقل ملكية  61.3
 يتم تسجيلها.

61.4 The transferor remains the holder of a 

certificated share until the transferee’s name is 

entered in the register of members as holder of 

it. 

سهم  61.4 صادر دون يظل ناقل الملكية هو مالك ال ال
شااااهادة حتى يُقيد اساااام المنقول إليه في سااااجل 

 المساهمين على أنه مالك لذلك السهم.

61.5 The directors may refuse to register the transfer 

of a certificated share if—  

مجلس اإلدارة رفض تساااجيل نقل ملكية ليجوز  61.5
الساااااهم الصاااااادر بموجب شاااااهادة في الحاالت 

 التالية: 

(a) the share is not fully paid, (أ) إذا لم يكن السهم مدفوع قيمته كاملةًي 

(b) the transfer is not lodged at the 

company’s registered office or such 

other place as the directors have 

appointed, 

إذا لم يُودع نقل الملكية في المقر الرئيساااي  (ب)
 المسااجل للشااركة أو أ  مكان آخر الذ  قد

 حدده مجلس اإلدارة ي

(c) the transfer is not accompanied by the 

certificate for the shares to which it 

relates, or such other evidence as the 

directors may reasonably require to 

show the transferor’s right to make the 

transfer, or evidence of the right of 

someone other than the transferor to 

make the transfer on the transferor’s 

behalf, 

إذا كان نقل الملكية  ير مصااحوب بشااهادة  (ج)
يل آخر أ  لألساااااااهم التي تتعلق بهي أو  دل

شكل معقول إلظهار  يطلبه مجلس اإلدارة ب
حق ناقل الملكية في إجراء نقل الملكيةي أو 

يل على حق شاااااااخص آخر  ير  قل دل نا ال
 إلجراء النقل نيابةً عن الناقلي

(d) the transfer is in respect of more than 

one class of share, or 

إذا كان نقل الملكية بخصاااااااوص أكثر من  (د)
 فئة واحدة من األسهمي أو

(e) the transfer is in favour of more than four 

transferees. 

أربعة إذا كان نقل الملكية لصااالح أكثر من  (ه)
 أشخاص منقول إليهم.

61.6 If the directors refuse to register the transfer of 

a share, the instrument of transfer must be 

returned to the transferee with the notice of 

refusal unless they suspect that the proposed 

transfer may be fraudulent. 

ية إذا رفض مجلس ا 61.6 قل ملك إلدارة تساااااااجيل ن
نقل الملكية إلى تعاد وثيقة الساااااااهمي يتعين أن 

المنقول إليه مع إخطار بالرفض ما لم يشاااااااك 
مجلس اإلدارة بااأن النقاال المقترح من الممكن 

 أن ينطو  على احتيال.

62. Transfer of uncertificated shares 62. نقل ملكية األسهم الصادرة دون شهادة 

62.1 A transfer of an uncertificated share must not 

be registered if it is in favour of more than four 

transferees. 

يجب أال يُسااجل نقل ملكية السااهم الصااادر دون  62.1
شاااااااهااادة إذا كاااناات لصااااااااالح أكثر من أربعاة 

 أشخاص منقول إليهم.

63. Transmission of shares 63. انتقال األسهم 

63.1 If title to a share passes to a transmittee, the 

company may only recognise the transmittee 

as having any title to that share. 

إذا انتقلت ملكية السااهم إلى المنقول إليهي يجوز  63.1
للشاااااركة أن تعترف بالمنقول إليه فقط على أنه 

 مالك لذلك السهم.
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63.2 Nothing in these articles releases the estate of 

a deceased member from any liability in respect 

of a share solely or jointly held by that member. 

ال يوجد نص في هذا النظام األسااااااساااااي يعفي  63.2
تركة المساهم المتوفى من أ  التزام بخصوص 
الساااهم الذ  كان يملكه ذلك المسااااهم منفرًدا أو 

 باالشتراك مع آخرين.

64. Transmittees’ rights 64.  حقوق المنقول إليهم 

64.1 A transmittee who produces such evidence of 

entitlement to shares as the  directors 

may properly require— 

يل  64.1 لدل قدم ذلك ا لذ  ي ية ا يه الملك إن المنقول إل
على األحقية في األسااهم بناًء على طلب مجلس 

 اإلدارة أصوليًا ــ

(a) may, choose either to become the holder 

of those shares or to have them 

transferred to another person, and 

يجوز لهي أن يختار إما أن يصااااااابح مالًكا  (أ)
وإما أن ينقلها إلى شااااااخص  لتلك األسااااااهم

 آخري و

(b) pending any transfer of the shares to 

another person, has the same rights as 

the holder had. 

يكون لهي وانتظاًرا لنقل ملكية األسااااهم إلى  (ب)
شاااااااخص آخري نفس الحقوق التي كاااناات 

 لمالك األسهم.

64.2 But transmittees do not have the right to attend 

or vote at a general meeting in respect of 

shares to which they are entitled, by reason of 

the holder’s death or bankruptcy or otherwise, 

unless they become the holders of those 

shares. 

لحق في  64.2 هم ا ي ل قول إ من ل ل يس  ل ر م ذلااااكي 
الحضاااااااور في اجتماااع الجمعيااة العموميااة أو 
التصاااااااوياات فيااه بخصاااااااوص األساااااااهم التي 
يسااتحقونهاي بساابب وفاة مالك السااهم أو إفالسااه 

ن لتلك أو لسبب  ير ذلكي ما لم يصبحوا مالكي
 األسهم.

65. Exercise of transmittees’ rights 65. ممارسة حقوق المنقول إليهم 

65.1 Transmittees who wish to become the holders 

of shares to which they  have become 

entitled must notify the company in writing of 

that wish. 

ينببي للمنقول إليهم الااااذين ير بوا في أن  65.1
يصبحوا مالكين لألسهم التي أصبحوا مستحقين 

 لها أن يخطروا الشركة خطيًا بتلك الر بة.

65.2 If the share is a certificated share and a 

transmittee wishes to have it transferred to 

another person, the transmittee must execute 

an instrument of transfer in respect of it. 

إذا كان الساااهم ساااهًما صاااادًرا بموجب شاااهادة  65.2
سهم في نقله إلى شخص  ور ب المنقول إليه ال

وثيقة آخري فيتعين على المنقول إليه أن يحرر 
 نقل الملكية بخصوص السهم.

65.3 If the share is an uncertificated share and the 

transmittee wishes to have it transferred to 

another person, the transmittee must— 

إذا كان السهم سهًما صادًرا دون شهادة ور ب  65.3
المنقول إليه السااااهم في نقله إلى شااااخص آخري 

 يلتزم المنقول إليه بما يلي:

(a) procure that all appropriate instructions 

are given to effect the transfer, or 

المناسبة أن يضمن أن تُصدر جميع التعليمات  (أ)
 لتنفيذ نقل الملكيةي أو

(b) procure that the uncertificated share is 

changed into certificated form and then 

execute an instrument of transfer in 

respect of it. 

أن يضاامن أن السااهم الصااادر دون شااهادة يتم  (ب)
تبييره إلى سااااااهم صااااااادر بموجب شااااااهادةي 

قل الملكية بخصاااااااوص نوثيقة بعدها وتحرر 
 السهم.

65.4 Any transfer made or executed under this 

article is to be treated as if it were made or 

executed by the person from whom the 

transmittee has derived rights in respect of the 

share, and as if the event which gave rise to the 

transmission had not occurred. 

يتعين أن يُعامل أ  نقل يُبرم أو يُحرر بموجب  65.4
هااذه المااادة كمااا لو كااان قااد أبرمااه أو حرره 
الشاااااااخص الذ  قد تحصااااااال منه المنقول إليه 
الحقوق بخصوص السهمي وكما لو كان الحدث 

 الذ  تسبب في النقل لم يقع.
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66. Transmittees bound by prior notices 66.  المنقول إليهم باإلخطارات المسبقةالتزام 

If a notice is given to a member in respect of shares 

and a transmittee is entitled to those shares, the 

transmittee is bound by the notice if it was given to the 

member before the transmittee’s name has been 

entered in the register of members. 

إذا قُدم إخطار إلى مسااااهم بخصاااوص األساااهم واساااتحق 
المنقول إليه تلك األسااهمي يلتزم المنقول إليه باإلخطار إذا 
كان اإلخطار قد قُدم للمسااااااهم قبل أن يُقيد اسااااام المنقول 

 إليه في سجل المساهمين.

CONSOLIDATION OF SHARES تجميع األسهم 

67. Procedure for disposing of fractions of 

shares 

 اإلجراء المتخذ للتصرف في أجزاء األسهم .67

67.1 This article applies where— 67.1 :تسر  هذه المادة في الحاالت التالية 

(a) there has been a consolidation or 

division of shares, and 

في حال إذا كان هناك تجميع لألساااااااهم أو  (أ)
 تقسيم لهاي و

(b) as a result, members are entitled to 

fractions of shares.  

نتيجة ذلكي  في حال إذا كان المسااااااهموني (ب)
 يستحقون أجزاء من األسهم. 

67.2 The directors may— 67.2 :يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة ما يلي 

(a) sell the shares representing the fractions 

to any person including the company for 

the best price reasonably obtainable, 

بيع األساااااااهم التي تمثاااال أجزاء إلى أ   (أ)
شاااخص ومنهم الشاااركة بأفضااال األساااعار 
 التي يمكن الحصول عليها بشكل معقولي 

(b) in the case of a certificated share, 

authorise any person to execute an 

instrument of transfer of the shares to the 

purchaser or a person nominated by the 

purchaser, and 

تفويض أ  شاااااااخصي في حااال الساااااااهم  (ب)
الصادر بموجب شهادةي لتحرير وثيقة نقل 
ملكية األساااهم إلى المشاااتر  أو الشاااخص 

 الذ  يسميه المشتر ي و

(c) distribute the net proceeds of sale in due 

proportion among the holders of the 

shares. 

توزيع صاااااااافي حصااااااايلة البيع بالنسااااااابة  (ج)
 الصحيحة بين مالكي األسهم.

67.3 Where any holder’s entitlement to a portion of 

the proceeds of sale amounts to less than a 

minimum figure determined by the directors, 

that member’s portion may be distributed to an 

organisation which is a charity registered by 

virtue of the laws of the Abu Dhabi. 

في حال إذا بلبت أحقية مالك السااااااهم في جزء  67.3
حد األدنى للرقم  قل من ال لة البيع أ من حصاااااااي
الااااذ  حاااادده مجلس اإلدارةي فيجوز توزيع 
نصاااايب ذلك المساااااهم على مؤسااااسااااة خيرية 

 أبوظبي.إمارة لقوانين أل راض مسجلة وفقاً 

67.4 The person to whom the shares are transferred 

is not obliged to ensure that any purchase 

money is received by the person entitled to the 

relevant fractions. 

ال يكون الشااخص الذ  تُنقل إليه ملكية األسااهم  67.4
ملزًما بأن يضاااااامن تسااااااليم مبلغ الشااااااراء إلى 

 ستحق عن األجزاء المعنية.الشخص الم

67.5 The transferee’s title to the shares is not 

affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the 

process leading to their sale. 

ال تتاااأثر ملكياااة المنقول إلياااه األساااااااهم باااأيااة  67.5
إجراءات  ير صاااااحيحة أو  ير قانونية تؤد  

 إلى بيعها.

DISTRIBUTIONS التوزيعات 
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68. Procedure for declaring dividends 68.  اإلجراء المتبع إلعالن أرباح األسهم 

68.1 The company may by ordinary resolution 

declare dividends, and the directors may 

decide to pay interim dividends. 

يجوز للشاااااااركة بموجب قرار عاد  أن تعلن  68.1
األساااهمي ويجوز أن يقرر مجلس اإلدارة أرباح 

 دفع أرباح مرحلية.

68.2 A dividend must not be declared unless the 

directors have made a recommendation as to 

its amount. Such a dividend must not exceed 

the amount recommended by the directors. 

ساااااهم ما لم ينببي عدم إعالن أية أرباح عن األ 68.2
يقدم مجلس اإلدارة التوصااااااية بشااااااأن مبلبها. 
وينببي أال تتجااوز أربااح األساااااااهم الماذكورة 

 المبلغ  الذ  يوصي به مجلس اإلدارة.

68.3 No dividend may be declared or paid unless it 

is in accordance with members’ respective 

rights. 

ية أرباح أو دفعها  68.3 ما لم يكن ال يجوز إعالن أ
 ذلك متفقاً مع حقوق المساهمين.

68.4 Unless the members’ resolution to declare or 

directors’ decision to pay a dividend, or the 

terms on which shares are issued, specify 

otherwise, it must be paid by reference to each 

member’s holding of shares on the date of the 

resolution or decision to declare or pay it. 

ما لم يحدد قرار المساااااهمين إعالن األرباح أو  68.4
ي أو الشااااروط التي  قرار المجلس بدفع األرباح

تُصاااادر األسااااهم بناًء عليهاي خالف ذلكي يجب 
أن تُدفع األرباح وفقاً لنساااب أساااهم كل مسااااهم 

رباح أو في تاريخ القرار الصاااااااادر بإعالن األ
 دفعها.

68.5 If the company’s share capital is divided into 

different classes, no interim dividend may be 

paid on shares carrying deferred or non-

preferred rights if, at the time of payment, any 

preferential dividend is in arrear. 

الشركة إلى فئات أسهم  إذا قُسم رأس مال أسهم 68.5
فةي فال يجوز دفع األرباح على األساااااااهم  مختل
ً مؤجلااة أو  ير مميزة إذا  التي تحماال حقوقااا

 كانت أرباح األسهم الممتازة تدفع مؤخراً.

68.6 The directors may pay at intervals any dividend 

payable at a fixed rate if it appears to them that 

the profits available for distribution justify the 

payment. 

ية  68.6 يدفع على فترات أ يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة أن 
لة للتوزيع بمعدل ثابت إذا ظهر لهم  أرباح قاب

 أن األرباح المتاحة للتوزيع تبرر الدفع.

68.7 If the directors act in good faith, they do not 

incur any liability to the holders of shares 

conferring preferred rights for any loss they 

may suffer by the lawful payment of an interim 

dividend on shares with deferred or non-

preferred rights. 

إذا تصاااااارف مجلس اإلدارة بحساااااان نيةي فلن  68.7
يتحمااال مجلس اإلدارة أياااة مساااااااؤولياااة أماااام 

لتي تمنح الحقوق المسااااااهمين مالكي األساااااهم ا
الممتازة عن أية خسارة يمكن أن يتعرضوا لها 
بسااابب الدفع المشاااروع لألرباح المرحلية على 
 األسهم ذات الحقوق المؤجلة أو  ير الممتازة.

69. Calculation of dividends 69. حساب األرباح 

69.1 All dividends must be— 69.1 :جميع األرباح يسر  عليها ما يلي 

(a) declared and paid according to the 

amounts paid up on the shares on which 

the dividend is paid, and 

يجب أن تُعلن وتُدفع وفًقا للمبالغ المدفوعة  (أ)
 على األسهم التي ُدفعت أرباح عنهاي و

(b) apportioned and paid proportionately to 

the amounts paid up on the shares 

during any portion or portions of the 

period in respect of which the dividend is 

paid. 

يجب أن تُخصص وتُدفع تناسبيًا مع المبالغ  (ب)
المدفوعة على األساااااااهم أثناء أ  جزء أو 
أجزاء من الفترة التي ُدفعت بخصاااوصاااها 
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69.2 If any share is issued on terms providing that it 

ranks for dividend as from a particular date, that 

share ranks for dividend accordingly. 

سهم بناًء على شروط تنص  (ج) إذا أُصدر أ  
على أن السهم مؤهل للحصول على أرباح 
تاريخ معيني فيتعين أن يكون  اعتبااًرا من 
ذلك الساااهم مؤهاًل للحصاااول على األرباح 

 بناًء على ذلك.

69.3 For the purposes of calculating dividends, no 

account is to be taken of any amount which has 

been paid up on a share in advance of the due 

date for payment of that amount. 

أل راض حسااااب األرباحي ال يُحتساااب أ   (د)
مبلغ تم دفعه على السااهم مساابقًا قبل تاريخ 

 استحقاق ذلك المبلغ.

70. Payment of dividends and other 

distributions 

 دفع األرباح والتوزيعات األخرى .70

70.1 Where a dividend or other sum which is a 

distribution is payable in respect of a share, it 

must be paid by one or more of the following 

means— 

في حال إذا كانت األرباح أو المبالغ األخرىي  70.1
تمثل توزيعاتي مسااتحقة بخصااوص سااهم التي 

ماي فيجب أن تُدفع عن طريق وسااايلة واحدة أو 
 أكثر مما يلي:

(a) transfer to a bank account specified by 

the distribution recipient either in writing 

or as the directors may otherwise decide, 

التحويل إلى حساااااااب بنكي يحدده مسااااااتلم  (أ)
إما خطيًا أو حساااااابما يقرر مجلس التوزيع 

 اإلدارة على خالف ذلكي

(b) sending a cheque made payable to the 

distribution recipient by post to the 

distribution recipient at the distribution 

recipient’s registered address (if the 

distribution recipient is a holder of the 

share), or (in any other case) to an 

address specified by the distribution 

recipient either in writing or as the 

directors may otherwise decide, 

إرسااال شاايك صااادر باساام مسااتلم التوزيع  (ب)
عن طريق البريد على العنوان المساااااااجل 
لمساااااتلم التوزيع )إذا كان مساااااتلم التوزيع 

م( أو )في )أية حالة أخرى( إلى مالكاً لساااه
العنوان الااذ  يحاادده مساااااااتلم التوزيع إمااا 
حدد مجلس اإلدارة  ما ي ما حساااااااب خطًيا وإ

 خالف ذلكي

(c) sending a cheque made payable to such 

person by post to such person at such 

address as the distribution recipient has 

specified either in writing or as the 

directors may otherwise decide, or 

إرسااال شاايك صااادر باساام ذلك الشااخصي  (ج)
الذ  قد حدده مسااااااتلم التوزيعي عن طريق 
البريد إلى ذلك العنوان الذ  حدده مسااااااتلم 
ا أو حسااااااابمااا يحاادد مجلس  التوزيع خطيااً

 اإلدارة خالف ذلكي أو

(d) any other means of payment as the 

directors agree with the distribution 

recipient either in writing or by such other 

means as the directors decide. 

بأية وسااايلة دفع أخرى يتفق مجلس اإلدارة  (د)
عليها مع مساااااااتلم التوزيع إما خطًيا وإما 
بتلك الوساااايلة األخرى التي يحددها مجلس 

 اإلدارة.

70.2 In the articles, “the distribution recipient” 

means, in respect of a share in respect of which 

a dividend or other sum is payable— 

في النظام األساااساايي يقصااد بمصااطلح "مسااتلم  70.2
التوزيع"ي بخصاااوص الساااهم المساااتحق بشاااأنه 

 األرباح أو المبالغ األخرىي ما يلي:

(a) the holder of the share, or (أ) مي أومالك السه 

(b) if the share has two or more joint holders, 

whichever of them is named first in the 

register of members, or 

إذا كان السااااهم يملكه شااااخصااااان أو أكثري  (ب)
 أيهما يُسمى أواًل في سجل المساهميني أو

(c) if the holder is no longer entitled to the 

share by reason of death or bankruptcy, 

المنقول إليهي وذلك إذا لم يعد مالك الساااااهم  (ج)
مسااااتحقًا للسااااهم بساااابب الوفاة أو بساااابب 
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or otherwise by operation of law, the 

transmittee. 

 اإلفالسي أو أل  سبب آخر نفاذاً للقانون.

71. Deductions from distributions in respect of 

sums owed to the company 

االستقطاعات من التوزيعات بخصوص المبالغ  .71
 المستحقة إلى الشركة

71.1 If— 71.1 :في حال إذا 

(a) a share is subject to the company’s lien, 

and 

 المتياز الشركةي ويخضع السهم كان  (أ)

(b) the directors are entitled to issue a lien 

enforcement notice in respect of it, 

كان لمجلس اإلدارة األحقية في إصااااااادار  (ب)
  إخطار تنفيذ االمتياز بشأنهي

they may, instead of issuing a lien enforcement 

notice, deduct from any dividend or other sum 

payable in respect of the share any sum of 

money which is payable to the company in 

respect of that share to the extent that the 

company is entitled to require payment under a 

lien enforcement notice. 

لمجلس اإلدارة بداًل من إصااااااادار إخطار تنفيذ 
االمتيازي أن يساااااتقطع من أية أرباح أو من أية 

صوص السهم أية مبالغ مبالغ أخرى تُستحق بخ
مالية تُستحق إلى الشركة بخصوص ذلك السهم 
بقدر أحقية الشاااااااركة في طلب الدفع بموجب 

 إخطار تنفيذ الرهن.

71.2 Money so deducted must be used to pay any of 

the sums payable in respect of that share.  

يجب أن تُسااااتخدم المبالغ المسااااتقطعة لدفع أ   71.2
 غ المستحقة بخصوص ذلك السهم. من المبال

71.3 The company must notify the distribution 

recipient in writing of— 

يتعين على الشركة إخطار مستلم التوزيع خطيًا  71.3
 بما يلي:

(a) the fact and amount of any such 

deduction, 

 حقيقة ومبلغ أ  استقطاع من هذا القبيلي (أ)

(b) any non-payment of a dividend or other 

sum payable in respect of a share 

resulting from any such deduction, and 

أ  عدم ساااااداد لألرباح أو المبالغ األخرى  (ب)
المستحقة بخصوص السهم الناتجة عن أ  

 استقطاع من هذا القبيلي و

(c) how the money deducted has been 

applied. 

المبالغ المالية الكيفية التي اساااااااتخدمت بها  (ج)
 المستقطعة.

72. No interest on distributions 72. عدم فرض فائدة على التوزيعات 

72.1 The company may not pay interest on any 

dividend or other sum payable in respect of a 

share unless otherwise provided by— 

ال يجوز للشااااركة أن تدفع فائدة على أية أرباح  72.1
األسااهم أو أية مبالغ أخرى تُسااتحق بخصااوص 

 السهم ما لم يُنص على خالف ذلك:

(a) the terms on which the share was issued, 

or 

في الشااروط التي صاادر السااهم بناًء عليهاي  (أ)
 أو

(b) the provisions of another agreement 

between the holder of that share and the 

company. 

اآلخر المبرم بين مالك ذلك أحكام االتفاق  (ب)
 السهم وبين الشركة.

73. Unclaimed distributions 73. التوزيعات غير المطالب بها 

73.1 All dividends or other sums which are—  73.1  جميع أرباح األساااااااهم أو المبالغ األخرى التي
 تكون: 
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(a) payable in respect of shares, and (أ) مستحقة الدفع بخصوص األسهمي و 

(b) unclaimed after having been declared or 

become payable, 

نت أو  (ب) عد أن أعل حد ب ها أ لب ب طا التي لم ي
 أصبحت مستحقةي

may be invested or otherwise made use of by 

the directors for the benefit of the company until 

claimed. 

طريق يجوز اسااااتثمارها أو اسااااتباللها بشااااكل آخر عن 
 مجلس اإلدارة لمصلحة الشركة حتى تتم المطالبة بها.

73.2 The payment of any such dividend or other sum 

into a separate account does not make the 

company a trustee in respect of it. 

يؤد  دفع أيااة أرباااح أو أيااة مبااالغ أخرى في  73.2
حساااب منفصاال إلى جعل الشااركة مؤتمنة على 

 تلك المبالغ.

73.3 If— 73.3 :في حال إذا 

(a) twelve years have passed from the date 

on which a dividend or other sum 

became due for payment, and 

ا من تاااريخ  (أ) مرت ماادة اثني عشااااااار عااامااً
استحقاق األرباح أو المبالغ األخرى للدفعي 

 و

(b) the distribution recipient has not claimed 

it, 

 يطالب بها مستلم التوزيعي لم (ب)

the distribution recipient is no longer entitled to 

that dividend or other sum and it ceases to 

remain owing by the company. 

ا لألربااح  لن يكون مساااااااتلم التوزيع مساااااااتحقااً
المااذكورة أو تلااك المبااالغ األخرى ولن تظاال 

 مستحقة على الشركة.

74. Non-cash distributions 74. التوزيعات غير النقدية 

74.1 Subject to the terms of issue of the share in 

question, the company may, by ordinary 

resolution on the recommendation of the 

directors, decide to pay all or part of a dividend 

or other distribution payable in respect of a 

share by transferring non-cash assets of 

equivalent value (including, without limitation, 

shares or other securities in any company). 

مع مراعاة عدم اإلخالل بشروط إصدار السهم  74.1
المعنيي يجوز للشاااااااركةي بموجب قرار عاد  

تقرر دفع  بناًء على توصااية مجلس اإلدارةي أن
لك  جميع أو أ  جزء من أرباح األساااااااهم أو ت
التوزيعات األخرى المستحقة بخصوص السهم 
عن طريق تحويل األصاااااااول  ير النقدية ذات 
القيمة المعادلة )بما في ذلكي على ساابيل المثال 
وليس الحصاااااااري األساااااااهم أو األوراق المالية 

 األخرى في أية شركة(.

74.2 If the shares in respect of which such a non-

cash distribution is paid are uncertificated, any 

shares in the company which are issued as a 

non-cash distribution in respect of them must 

be uncertificated. 

إذا كانت األسااااهم التي تُدفع بخصااااوصااااها تلك  74.2
التوزيعات  ير النقدية أسااااااهًما صااااااادرة دون 
شاااهادةي فيجب أن تكون أية أساااهم في الشاااركة 
تصااااااااادر باااعتبااارهااا توزيعااات  ير نقااديااة 

 بخصوصها أسهًما صادرة دون شهادة.

74.3 For the purposes of paying a non-cash 

distribution, the directors may make whatever 

arrangements they think fit, including, where 

any difficulty arises regarding the distribution— 

أل راض دفع التوزيع  ير النقااااد ي يجوز  74.3
ا كاااناات  لمجلس اإلدارة إجراء أيااة ترتيبااات أيااً
ية  حال إذا ظهرت أ لهي في  ما يتراءى  حساااااااب

 صعوبة بخصوص التوزيعي بما في ذلك: 

(a) fixing the value of any assets, (أ) تحديد قيمة أية أصولي 

(b) paying cash to any distribution recipient 

on the basis of that value in order to 

adjust the rights of recipients, and 

دفع مبالغ نقدية إلى أ  مساااااتلم للتوزيعات  (ب)
على أساااس تلك القيمة لتقييم وتثمين حقوق 

 المستلميني و

(c) vesting any assets in trustees. (ج) .نقل أية أصول إلى المؤتمنين 
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75. Waiver of distributions 75. التنازل عن التوزيعات 

Distribution recipients may waive their entitlement to 

a dividend or other distribution payable in respect of a 

share by giving the company notice in writing to that 

effect, but if— 

ستلمي التوزيعات التنازل  عن أحقيتهم في أرباح يجوز لم
األساااااهم أو التوزيعات األخرى المساااااتحقة بخصاااااوص 
الساااااااهمي وذلك بتقديم إخطار خطي إلى الشاااااااركة بذلكي 

 ولكن في حال ــ

(a) the share has more than one holder, or (أ) إذا كان للسهم مالك واحد أو أكثري أو 

(b) more than one person is entitled to the 

share, whether by reason of the death or 

bankruptcy of one or more joint holders, 

or otherwise,  

إذا كان أكثر من شاااخص يساااتحق الساااهمي  (ب)
سااااااواًء بساااااابب وفاة أو إفالس مالك واحد 
للسااهم أو أكثر من مالك للسااهم المشااتركين 

 أو  ير ذلكي 

the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be 

given, and signed, by all the holders or persons 

otherwise entitled to the share. 

لن يكون اإلخطار ساااااريًا ما لم يتم إرساااااله وتوقيعه من 
 جميع مالكي السهم أو األشخاص المستحقين للسهم.

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS رسملة األرباح 

76. Authority to capitalise and appropriation of 

capitalised sums 

 السلطة لرسملة وتخصيص مبالغ الرسملة .76

76.1 The directors may, if they are so authorised by 

an ordinary resolution— 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارةي إذا كان مخوالً بموجب  76.1
 قرار عاد  أن ينفذ ما يلي:

(a) decide to capitalise any profits of the 

company (whether or not they are 

available for distribution) which are not 

required for paying a preferential 

dividend, or any sum standing to the 

credit of the company’s capital 

redemption reserve, and 

أن يقرر رسااملة أية أرباح للشااركة )سااواًء  (أ)
للتوزيع من عدمه( إذا لم تكن أكانت متاحة 

مطلوبة لدفع أرباح األسااهم الممتازة أو أ  
مبلغ قائم يجب قيده على حساااااب احتياطي 

 استرداد رأس المال في الشركةي و

(b) appropriate any sum which they so 

decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) 

to the persons who would have been 

entitled to it if it were distributed by way 

of dividend (the “persons entitled”) and in 

the same proportions. 

أن يخصاااااااص أية مبالغ يقرر رساااااااملتها  (ب)
)"مبلغ الرساااااملة"( إلى األشاااااخاص الذين 
كان يمكن أن يساااااااتحقوها إذا وزعت على 
ساابيل األرباح )"األشااخاص المسااتحقون"( 

 وبنفس النسب.

76.2 Capitalised sums must be applied— 76.2  يجب اساااااااتعمال مبالغ الرساااااااملة على األوجه
 التالية:

(a) on behalf of the persons entitled, and (أ) نيابة عن األشخاص المستحقين لهاي و 

(b) in the same proportions as a dividend 

would have been distributed to them. 

توزيع األرباح بنفس النسبة التي كان يمكن  (ب)
 بها عليهم.

76.3 Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying 

up new shares of an issue price equal to the 

capitalised sum which are then allotted credited 

as fully paid to the persons entitled or as they 

may direct. 

ة لسداد المبالغ يجوز أن تُستخدم أية مبالغ رسمل 76.3
المستحقة على أية أسهم لها سعر إصدار مساو 
لمبلغ الرسملة وعندئذ  تخصص األسهم وتسجل 
على أنها مدفوعة القيمة بالكامل إلى األشخاص 

 المستحقين له أو حسب توجيههم.
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76.4 A capitalised sum which was appropriated from 

profits available for distribution may be 

applied— 

يجوز أن يُسااتخدم مبلغ الرسااملة الذ  ُخصااص  76.4
من األربااااح المتااااحاااة للتوزيعي في النواحي 

 التالية:

(a) in or towards paying up any amounts 

unpaid on existing shares held by the 

persons entitled, or 

للوفاء بقيمة بأية مبلغ مستحق على األسهم  (أ)
الشخص المستحق لتلك القائمة التي يملكها 

 المبالغي أو

(b) in paying up new debentures of the 

company which are then allotted credited 

as fully paid to the persons entitled or as 

they may direct. 

للوفاء بقيمة السندات الجديدة للشركة والتي  (ب)
تُخصاااااااص فيما بعد وتساااااااجل باعتبارها 

كاااملااةً إلى األشاااااااخاااص ماادفوعااة القيمااة 
 المستحقين لها أو حسب توجيههم.

76.5 The directors may— 76.5 :يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة ما يلي 

(a) apply capitalised sums in accordance 

with paragraphs (3) and (4) partly in one 

way and partly in another, 

اسااااتخدام مبالغ الرسااااملة بموجب الفقرات  (أ)
جزئي بطريقة والجزء ( بشاااااكل 4( و )3)

 المتبقي بطريقة أخرىي

(b) make such arrangements as they think fit 

to deal with shares or debentures 

becoming distributable in fractions under 

this article (including the issuing of 

fractional certificates or the making of 

cash payments), and 

إجراء تلك الترتيبات التي تتراءى للمجلس  (ب)
للتعامل مع األسهم أو السندات التي تصبح 
قابلة للتوزيع في كسور بموجب هذه المادة 
)بما في ذلك إصدار شهادات أجزاء األسهم 

 و أو سداد دفعات نقدية(ي

(c) authorise any person to enter into an 

agreement with the company on behalf 

of all the persons entitled which is 

binding on them in respect of the 

allotment of shares and debentures to 

them under this article. 

تفويض أ  شاااااااخص إلبرام اتفااااقياااة مع  (ج)
الشاااااااركااة نيااابااة عن جميع األشاااااااخاااص 
المساااااتحقين تكون ملزمة لهم بخصاااااوص 

وجب تخصاايص األسااهم والسااندات إليهم بم
 هذه المادة.

PART 5 الفصل الخامس 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS أحكام متنوعة 

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

 

 المراسالت

 

77. Means of communication to be used 77. وسائل االتصال الواجب استخدامها 

77.1 Anything sent or supplied by or to the company 

under the articles may be sent or supplied in 

any way in which the Companies Regulations 

provides for documents or information which 

are authorised or required by any provision of 

the Companies Regulations to be sent or 

supplied by or to the company. 

يجوز أن يُرساااال أو يساااالم أ  شاااايء ترسااااله  77.1
كة أو تسااااااالمه بموجب هذا النظام بأية الشااااااار

طريقة ينص عليها نظام الشاااااركات بشاااااأن أية 
مساااااااتندات أو معلومات مصااااااارح أو مطلوب 
ظام  ها أو تساااااااليمها بموجب أحكام ن إرسااااااااال

 الشركات من الشركة أو إليها.

77.2 Any notice or document to be sent or supplied 

to a director in connection with the taking of 

decisions by directors may also be sent or 

supplied by the means by which that director 

يجوز أن يُرساال أو يساالم أ  إخطار أو مسااتند  77.2
واجب إرسااااله أو تساااليمه إلى عضاااو المجلس 
بخصاااااااوص اتخاااذ القرارات من قباال مجلس 
اإلدارةي وذلك عن طريق الوسااااااائل التي طلب 
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has asked to be sent or supplied with such 

notices or documents for the time being. 

عضو المجلس اإلرسال أو التسليم عن طريقها 
مع تلك اإلخطارات أو المستندات المطلوبة في 

 ذلك الوقت.

77.3 A director may agree with the company that 

notices or documents sent to that director in a 

particular way are to be deemed to have been 

received within a specified time of their being 

sent, and for the specified time to be less than 

48 hours. 

ع الشركة على يجوز لعضو المجلس أن يتفق م 77.3
أن اإلخطارات أو المساااااااتندات المرسااااااالة إلى 
عضو مجلس اإلدارة المعني بطريقة معينة تُعد 
قااد اساااااااتُلماات خالل فترة زمنيااة محااددة من 
إرساااااااالهاي وهي في الوقت الحالي تحديًدا أقل 

 ساعة. 48من 

78. Failure to notify contact details 78. عدم اإلخطار ببيانات االتصال 

78.1 If— 78.1 إذا: في حال 

(a) the company sends two consecutive 

documents to a member over a period of 

at least 12 months, and 

أرسااااالت الشاااااركة مساااااتندين متتاليين إلى  (أ)
شااااهًرا على  12المساااااهم على مدار فترة 

 األقلي 

(b) each of those documents is returned 

undelivered, or the company receives 

notification that it has not been delivered, 

وأعيد كل مساااتند من هذه المساااتندات دون  (ب)
تسااليمي أو تلقت الشااركة إخطاًرا بأنه لم يتم 

 تسليمهي

that member ceases to be entitled to receive 

notices from the company. 

فلن يصااابح بعدها ذلك المسااااهم مساااتحقًا لتلقي إخطارات 
 الشركة.من 

78.2 A member who has ceased to be entitled to 

receive notices from the company becomes 

entitled to receive such notices again by 

sending the company— 

يصااااابح المسااااااهم الذ  لم يعد مساااااتحقًا لتلقي  78.2
إخطارات من الشاااااااركة مساااااااتحًقا لتلقي تلك 

إرساااااااال ما يلي اإلخطارات مجدًدا عن طريق 
 إلى الشركة:

(a) a new address to be recorded in the 

register of members, or 

العنوان الجديد الواجب تساااجيله في ساااجل  (أ)
 أو المساهميني

(b) if the member has agreed that the 

company should use a means of 

communication other than sending 

things to such an address, the 

information that the company needs to 

use that means of communication 

effectively. 

شركة الستخدام  (ب) المعلومات التي تحتاجها ال
وسااائل االتصاااالت بفعاليةي وذلك إذا وافق 
المساهم على أن الشركة ينببي أن تستخدم 
وسااائل اتصااال بخالف إرسااال أشااياء إلى 

 ذلك العنوان.

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS الترتيبات اإلدارية 

79. Company seals 79. أختام الشركة 

79.1 Any common seal may only be used by the 

authority of the directors. 

ال يجوز أن يُسااااتخدم أ  ختم عام للشااااركة إال  79.1
 بعد موافقة مجلس اإلدارة.

79.2 The directors may decide by what means and 

in what form any common seal or securities 

seal is to be used. 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة أن يقرر طريقة وشااااااكل  79.2
 استخدام الختم العام أو ختم األوراق المالية.

79.3 Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if 

the company has a common seal and it is 

affixed to a document, the document must also 

be signed by at least one authorised person in 

ما لم يقرر مجلس اإلدارة خالف ذلكي إذا كان  79.3
للشاااااركة ختم عام وُمهرت به وثيقةي فيجب أن 
يوقع على الوثيقة شاااااااخص واحد مفوض على 

يصاااادق على صاااحة األقل في حضاااور شااااهد 
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the presence of a witness who attests the 

signature. 

 التوقيع.

79.4 For the purposes of this article, an authorised 

person is—  

أل راض هااذه المااادةي يقصاااااااااد بااالشاااااااخص  79.4
 المفوض: 

(a) any director of the company, (أ) أ  عضو بمجلس إدارة بالشركةي 

(b) the company secretary, or (ب) أمين سر الشركةي أو 

(c) any person authorised by the directors 

for the purpose of signing documents to 

which the common seal is applied. 

أ  شاااااااخص مفوض من مجلس اإلدارة  (ج)
لبرض التوقيع على المساااتندات التي يمهر 

 بها الختم العام.

79.5 If the company has an official seal for use 

abroad, it may only be affixed to a document if 

its use on that document, or documents of a 

class to which it belongs, has been authorised 

by a decision of the directors. 

كان للشاااااااركة ختم رسااااااامي مخصاااااااص  79.5 إذا 
لالساااتخدام خارج البالدي فال يجوز أن يُمهر به 
المستند إال إذا كان استخدامه على ذلك المستندي 

المساااتندات من الفئة المحددةي مصااارًحا أو تلك 
 به بموجب قرار من مجلس اإلدارة.

79.6 If the company has a securities seal, it may only 

be affixed to securities by the company 

secretary or a person authorised to apply it to 

securities by the company secretary. 

ختم أوراق ماليةي فيجب أن  إذا كان للشاااااااركة 79.6
تُمهر به األوراق المالية من أمين ساار الشااركة 
شركة  أو الشخص المصرح له من أمين سر ال

 باستخدامه على األوراق المالية.

79.7 For the purposes of the articles, references to 

the securities seal being affixed to any 

document include the reproduction of the image 

of that seal on or in a document by any 

mechanical or electronic means which has 

been approved by the directors in relation to 

that document or documents of a class to which 

it belongs. 

أل راض النظام األساااساايي تشاامل اإلشااارات  79.7
األوراق الماااالياااة التي يُمهر باااه أ   إلى ختم

مسااااااتندي إعادة إنتاج صااااااورة لذلك الختم على 
مساااتند بوسااايلة ميكانيكية أو إلكترونية قد وافق 
عليها مجلس اإلدارة فيما يتعلق بذلك المسااااااتند 

 أو تلك المستندات من فئة محددة.

80. Destruction of documents 80. اتالف المستندات 

80.1 The company is entitled to destroy— 80.1 :يحق للشركة أن تتخلص مما يلي 

(a) all instruments of transfer of shares 

which have been registered, and all 

other documents on the basis of which 

any entries are made in the register of 

members, from six years after the date of 

registration, 

جميع مساااتندات نقل ملكية األساااهم التي قد  (أ)
جلتي وجميع المسااااتندات األخرى التي  سااااُ
وضااعت على أساااسااها أية قيود في سااجل 
المساااهميني إذا انقضاات ساات ساانوات بعد 

 تاريخ التسجيلي

(b) all dividend mandates, variations or 

cancellations of dividend mandates, and 

notifications of change of address, from 

two years after they have been recorded, 

جميع مساااااااتناااادات تفويض األرباااااح أو  (ب)
التبييرات أو اإللباءات الخاصة بمستندات 

يير واإلخطااااارات بتب تفويض األرباااااح
 العنواني إذا انقضى عامين بعد تسجيلهاي

(c) all share certificates which have been 

cancelled from one year after the date of 

the cancellation, 

جميع شاااااااهادات األساااااااهم التي أُلبيت إذا  (ج)
The above information was communicated by انقضى عام بعد تاريخ إلبائهاي

electronic means and authenticated by the
Registrar under section 965 of the Companies
(Amendment No. 1) Regulations 2020.
Issue Date : 13 December 2022
Verify Document code COMPANIES-81735979
To verify: visit www.registration.adgm.com



 

 52/55  
 

(d) all paid dividend warrants and cheques 

from one year after the date of actual 

payment, and 

يكااااات األرباااااح  (د) جميع أوامر دفع وشااااااا
المدفوعة إذا انقضااااى عام واحد بعد تاريخ 

 دفعها فعليًاي و

(e) all proxy notices from one year after the 

end of the meeting to which the proxy 

notice relates. 

ل إذا انقضى عام وكيتجميع اإلخطارات بال (ه)
به  لذ  يتعلق  ماع ا هاء االجت عد انت حد ب وا

 اإلخطار بالوكيل.

80.2 If the company destroys a document in good 

faith, in accordance with the articles, and 

without notice of any claim to which that 

document may be relevant, it is conclusively 

presumed in favour of the company that— 

إذا تخلصااات الشاااركة من مساااتند بحسااان نيةي  80.2
بموجب النظام األسااااسااايي ودون تلقيها إخطار 
بأية مطالبة يمكن أن يكون المساااتند متعلقًا بهاي 
 فمن المفترض قطعًا لصالح الشركة ما يلي:

(a) entries in the register purporting to have 

been made on the basis of an instrument 

of transfer or other document so 

destroyed were duly and properly made, 

أن القيود الواردة في الساااااااجلي والتي تفيد  (أ)
بأنه قد ُحرر وأبرم على أسااااااس وثيقة نقل 
الملكية أو مساااااتند آخر تم إتالفه والتخلص 
منااه قااد أجرياات وفق األصاااااااول المرعياة 

 وصحيحةي

(b) any instrument of transfer so destroyed 

was a valid and effective instrument duly 

and properly registered, 

والتخلص  اأن أ  وثيقة نقل ملكية تم إتالفه (ب)
ت وثيقة ساااااااارية منها على هذا النحو كان

 وصحيحاًيأصوالً  اوتم تسجيله ونافذة

(c) any share certificate so destroyed was a 

valid and effective certificate duly and 

properly cancelled, and 

أن أية شاااااهادة أساااااهم تم إتالفها والتخلص  (ج)
منها على هذا النحو كانت شااااهادة سااااارية 

 ي وإلبائها أوصالً وصحيحاً ونافذة وتم 

(d) any other document so destroyed was a 

valid and effective document in 

accordance with its recorded particulars 

in the books or records of the company. 

أن أ  مساااتند آخر تم إتالفه والتخلص منه  (د)
على هذا النحو كان مسااااتنًدا ساااااريًا ونافذًا 
بموجب بياناته المسااجلة في دفاتر الشااركة 

 أو سجالتها.

80.3 This article does not impose on the company 

any liability which it would not otherwise have if 

it destroys any document before the time at 

which this article permits it to do so. 

ال تفرض هذه المادة على الشركة أية مسؤولية  80.3
لم تكن لتحملهااا بااأدائهااا خالف ذلااك إذا أتلفاات 

من أ  مستند قبل الوقت الذ  تسمح  وتخلصت
 فيه هذه المادة لها بأن تفعل ذلك.

80.4 In this article, references to the destruction of 

any document include a reference to its being 

disposed of in any manner. 

في هذه المادةي تشامل اإلشاارات إلى اتالف أ   80.4
 منه بأية طريقة. مستند اإلشارة إلى التخلص

81. No right to inspect accounts and other 

records 

عوووودم الحق في االطالع على الحسووووووووووابوووات  .81
 والسجالت األخرى

Except as provided by law or authorised by the 

directors or an ordinary resolution of the company, no 

person is entitled to inspect any of the company’s 

accounting or other records or documents merely by 

virtue of being a member. 

باستثناء ما ينص القانون عليه أو يسمح به مجلس اإلدارة 
عاد  للشاااااااركةي لن يحق أل   يه في قرار  أو ينص عل
شااخص معاينة أ  من السااجالت والمسااتندات المحاساابية 

األخرى للشاااركة لمجرد كونه أو الساااجالت والمساااتندات 
 مساهماً.

82. Provision for employees on cessation of 

business 

 مخصص الموظفين عند وقف الشركة نشاطها .82

The directors may decide to make provision for the 

benefit of persons employed or formerly employed by 

the company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة أن يقرر وضع مخصص لمصلحة 
األشااااااخاص الذين تعينهم الشااااااركة أو ساااااابق أن عينتهم 
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director or former director or shadow director) in 

connection with the cessation or transfer to any person 

of the whole or part of the undertaking of the company 

or that subsidiary. 

الشاااركة أو أ  من الشاااركات التابعة لها )بخالف عضاااو 
المجلس أو عضااااو المجلس السااااابق أو عضااااو المجلس 
الصااور ( فيما يتعلق بوقف نشاااط الشااركة أو الشااركات 

أو الشاااركات التابعة التابعة لها أو نقل مشاااروع الشاااركة 
 لهاي كليًا أو جزئيًاي إلى أ  شخص.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE تعويض مجلس اإلدارة والتأمين عليهم 

83. Indemnity 83. التعويض 

83.1 Subject to paragraph (2), a relevant director of 

the company or an  associated company 

may be indemnified out of the company’s 

assets  against— 

(ي يجوز 2مع مراعاااة عاادم اإلخالل بااالفقرة ) 83.1
تعويض عضاااااو المجلس المعني بالشاااااركة أو 
شاااركة تابعة من قيمة أصاااول الشاااركة عن أ  

 مما يلي:

(a) any liability incurred by that director in 

connection with any negligence, default, 

breach of duty or breach of trust in 

relation to the company or an associated 

company, 

أيااة مساااااااؤوليااة أو التزام يتكبااده عضاااااااو  (أ)
المجلس فيما يتعلق بأ  إهمال أو تقصاااااير 
أو مخاااالفاااة للواجاااب أو خيااااناااة لألمااااناااة 
 بخصوص الشركة أو شركة ذات صلةي

(b) any liability incurred by that director in 

connection with the activities of the 

company or an associated company in 

its capacity as a trustee of an 

occupational pension scheme (as 

defined in section 222(6) of the 

Companies Regulations), 

يتكبااده عضاااااااو أيااة مساااااااؤوليااة أو التزام  (ب)
المجلس فيما يتعلق بأنشااااااطة الشااااااركة أو 
شااااااركة ذات صاااااالة بصاااااافته مؤتمناً على 
برنامك معاشااااات مهنية )المبين تعريفه في 

 ( من نظام الشركات(ي6) 222البند 

(c) any other liability incurred by that director 

as an officer of the company or an 

associated company. 

ليااة أو التزام يتكبااده عضاااااااو أ  مساااااااؤو (ج)
المجلس بصفته مسؤواًل بالشركة أو شركة 

 ذات صلة.

83.2 This article does not authorise any indemnity 

which would be prohibited or rendered void by 

any provision of the Companies Regulations or 

by any other provision of law. 

ادة بااأ  تعويض قااد يكون ال تسااااااامح هااذه الماا 83.2
محظوًرا أو يصاااابح ملبيًا بموجب أ  حكم من 
أحكام نظام الشاااركات أو بموجب أ  حكم آخر 

 من أحكام القانون.

83.3 In this article— 83.3 :في هذه المادة 

(a) companies are associated if one is a 

subsidiary of the other or both are 

subsidiaries of the same body corporate, 

and 

تكون الشااااركات شااااركات ذات صاااالة إذا  (أ)
كانت واحدة منها شااااركة تابعة لألخرى أو 
كانت كالهما شركات تابعة لنفس الشخص 

 االعتبار ي

(b) a “relevant director” means any director 

or former director of the company or an 

associated company. 

يقصاااااد بمصاااااطلح "عضاااااو المجلس" أ   (ب)
عضاااااو بمجلس اإلدارة أو عضاااااو ساااااابق 
بمجلس اإلدارة في الشااااركة أو في شااااركة 

 ذات صلة.

84. Insurance 84. التأمين 

84.1 The directors may decide to purchase and 

maintain insurance, at the expense of the 

company, for the benefit of any relevant director 

in respect of any relevant loss. 

يجوز لمجلس اإلدارة أن يقرر شاااااااراء التأمين  84.1
واالحتفاظ به على نفقة الشااااركة لمصاااالحة أ  
عضاااو بمجلس اإلدارة بخصاااوص أية خساااارة 

 معيونة.
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84.2 In this article— 84.2 :في هذه المادة 

(a) a “relevant director” means any director 

or former director of the company or an 

associated company, 

يقصاااااد بمصاااااطلح "عضاااااو المجلس" أ   (ج)
عضاااااو بمجلس اإلدارة أو عضاااااو ساااااابق 
بمجلس اإلدارة في الشااااركة أو في شااااركة 

 ذات صلة.

(b) a “relevant loss” means any loss or 

liability which has been or may be 

incurred by a relevant director in 

connection with that director’s duties or 

powers in relation to the company, any 

associated company or any pension fund 

or employees’ share scheme of the 

company or associated company, and 

يقصااااد بمصااااطلح "الخسااااارة المعنية" أية  (د)
خساااارة أو التزام قد تكبده عضاااو المجلس 
أو من الممكن أن يتكبااااده فيمااااا يتعلق 
بالتزامات أو صااااالحيات عضااااو المجلس 
بخصااااوص الشااااركةي أو أية شااااركة ذات 
صااالة أو أ  صاااندوق معاشاااات أو برنامك 

ركة أو شااااركة ذات أسااااهم الموظفين بالشاااا
 و صلةي

companies are associated if one is a subsidiary 
of the other or both are subsidiaries of the same 
body corporate. 

شركات شركات ذات صلة إذا كانت  تكون ال
واحدة منها تابعة لألخرى أو كانت كالهما 

 الشخص االعتبار . تابعتان لنفس
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Annex 3 – Lead Receiving Bank Branches 

Branch 
name 

Branch 
Location-

Area 
Customer Timing IPO Subscription 

Timing 
Branch 
Address 

Business 
Park, Abu 

Dhabi 
Abu Dhabi 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) Khalifa Park Al 

Qurm, PO BOX: 
6316 

8:00am to 12:30pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 12:00pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Sat) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Sat) 

FAB One 
Tower, Abu 

Dhabi 
Abu Dhabi 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) Intersection of 

Shaikh Khalifa 
street and 

Baniyas street, 
PO BOX:2993 

8:00am to 12:30pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 12:00pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Sat) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Sat) 

Al Batin Abu Dhabi 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

Street No. 9, 
Next to Bateen 
Bus Terminal 
and Al Bateen 

Mall, PO 
BOX:7644 

8:00am to 12:30pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 12:00pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Sat) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Sat) 

Al Ain New Al Ain - Abu
Dhabi 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

Al Ain New, PO 
BOX: 17822 

8:00am to 12:30pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 12:00pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Sat) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Sat) 

Deira Branch
(ABS)  Dubai

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Mon - Thu) Abu Baker Al

Siddique Rd, 
Deira 

8:00am to 12:30pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 12:00pm 
(Fri) 

8:00am to 2:00pm 
(Sat) 

8:00am to 1:00pm 
(Sat) 



Annex 4 – Company’s Organization Chart 


